

National Operational Guidance for the Implementation of Supervised Consumption Services





Citation

Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse (CRISM). National Operational Guidance for the Implementation of Supervised Consumption Services. Edmonton, Alberta: Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse; July 17, 2023. Version 1.

Version 1, July 17, 2023

This publication is also available in French: <u>https://crism.ca</u> and <u>https://whyscs.ca</u>

Contact Details



https://whyscs.ca contact@whyscs.ca

Land Acknowledgement

We respectfully acknowledge the sovereignty, lands, histories, languages, knowledge systems, and cultures of First Nations, Métis, and Inuit nations. In particular, the work to complete this guidance document was hosted on Treaty 6 territory, a traditional gathering place for diverse Indigenous Peoples including the Cree, Blackfoot, Métis, Nakota Sioux, Iroquois, Dene, Ojibway/Saulteaux/Anishinaabe, Inuit, and many others.

About the Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse

Funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), the Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse (CRISM) is a national research consortium focused on substance use disorders, comprising five large interdisciplinary regional teams (nodes) representing British Columbia, the Prairie Provinces, Ontario, Quebec, and Atlantic. Each CRISM node is an expert network of research scientists, service providers, policy makers, community leaders, and people with lived/living experience of substance use. CRISM's mission is to translate the best scientific evidence into clinical practice and policy change. More information about CRISM can be found at: https://crism.ca.

Authors and Contributors

Committee Chair

Elaine Hyshka, Associate Professor and Canada Research Chair in Health Systems Innovation, School of Public Health, University of Alberta

Committee Members

- Brandi Abele, Canadian Association of People who Use Drugs (CAPUD) Board Member
- Dr. Thomas Brothers, Resident Physician, Department of Medicine, Dalhousie University
- Dr. Marilou Gagnon, Associate Professor, School of Nursing, University of Victoria; President, Harm Reduction Nurses Association
- Dr. Mary Clare Kennedy, Research Scientist, British Columbia Centre on Substance Use; Assistant Professor, University of British Columbia Okanagan campus
- Patrick McDougall, Director of Knowledge Translation and Evaluation, Dr. Peter AIDS Foundation
- Dr. Ryan McNeil, Assistant Professor, Internal Medicine, Director of Harm Reduction Research, Yale School of Medicine
- Claire O'Gorman, Harm Reduction Registered Nurse
- Dr. Bernie Pauly, Associate Professor, School of Nursing, University of Victoria

- Corey Ranger, Clinical Nurse Lead, AVI/SOLID SAFER Initiative
- Erica Schoen, Harm Reduction Registered Nurse
- Dr. Carol Strike, Professor, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of Toronto
- Dr. Thomas Kerr, Professor, Department of Medicine, University of British Columbia; Associate Director, BC Centre on Substance Use

*NOTE: Committee members participated in guidance development activities in their individual capacity and not as institutional representatives.

Technical Writing, Research, and Project Coordination

Lexis R Galarneau, School of Public Health, University of Alberta Nicole D Gehring, School of Public Health, University of Alberta Cassandra Husband, School of Public Health, University of Alberta Holly Mathias, School of Public Health, University of Alberta Kelsey Speed, School of Public Health, University of Alberta Savannah Weber, School of Public Health, University of Alberta

External Reviewers

- Nick Boyce, Director, Ontario Harm Reduction Network (OHRN)
- Tali Cahill, Nursing Team Lead, Sandy Hill Community Health Centre
- Alex Collins, Investigator, Department of Epidemiology, Brown University School of Public Health
- Shaun Hopkins, Manager, The Works, Toronto Public Health
- Kathleen Larose, Executive Director, Alberta Alliance Who Educate and Advocate Responsibly (AAWEAR)
- Carol Morissette, Consulting Physician, Sexually Transmitted and Blood Bourne Infection Prevention and Harm Reduction Service, Integrated University Health and Social Services Centres, Regional Public Health Department
- Wendy Muckle, Chief Executive Officer, Ottawa Inner City Health
- Operational Policy Division, Office of Controlled Substances, Health Canada
- Julia Redferm, Regulatory Affairs Specialist, Office of Controlled Substances, Health Canada
- Alexis Roth, Associate Professor, Dornsife School of Public Health, Department of Community Health & Prevention, Drexel University
- Jesse Whelen, Team Lead Supervised Consumption Site, Blood Ties

*NOTE: Committee members participated in guidance development activities in their individual capacity and not as institutional representatives.

Detailed Summary - Disclosure of Interests (DOI) for CRISM National Operational Guidance for the Implementation of Supervised Consumption Services

In accordance with the Guidelines International Network's Principles for Disclosure of Interests and Management of Conflicts¹, authorship committee members and external reviewers were asked to disclose all sources and amounts of direct and indirect (i.e., research support) remuneration from industry, for-profit enterprises, and other entities that could potentially introduce real or perceived risk of bias. In addition, authorship committee members and external reviewers were asked to report indirect sources of bias, such as academic advancement, clinical revenue, and professional or public standing that could potentially influence interpretation of research evidence and formulation of recommendations.

Of the 24 authorship committee members and external reviewers, 17 (71%) acknowledged potential direct conflicts of interest. There were no authorship committee members or external reviewers with commercial interests. On review, potential conflicts of interest were not deemed to be of sufficient weight or relevance to warrant exclusion from the guidance committee.

Most (18, 75%) authorship committee members and external reviewers disclosed potential indirect sources of bias (e.g., advisory board and committee membership, involvement with SCS programs and regulations, substance use organizations or programs, research interests). Of these, 9 acknowledged that they have publicly stated support for SCS. In order to mitigate the risk of bias while maximizing the contributions of members in their respective areas of expertise, authorship committee members and external reviewers were reminded to consider any influential factors or sources of bias during the review process. Authors and reviewers contributed to review of sections related to their areas of expertise as well as the overarching guideline content to ensure that a broad range of clinical and academic specializations was adequately represented.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge and are indebted to the British Columbia Centre on Substance Use (BCCSU)'s *Supervised consumption services: Operational Guidance* publication (2017), which was developed and reviewed by experts from that province. Specifically, we gratefully acknowledge the contributions of Helen Kang, Rosalind Baltzer Turje, Chris Buchner, Maxine Davis, Cheyenne Johnson, Dr. Marcus Lem, Kenneth Tupper for their work on the BCCSU guidance document. Our document builds directly upon the BCCSU's previous work, with the aim of providing updated

¹ Schünemann HJ, Al-Ansary LA, Forland F, et al. Guidelines international network: principles for disclosure of interests and management of conflicts in guidelines. Ann Intern Med. 2015;163(7):548-553.

guidance on implementing and operating supervised consumption sites that is national in scope and aligns with current federal policy; however, the authors of the BCCSU guidance document do not necessarily endorse all of the guidance provided in the current document. We also gratefully acknowledge the assistance of Dr. Denise Adams (CRISM Prairies Node Manager), Ethan Candler, Soo Chan Carusone, Andre Ceranto, Sean LeBlanc, Anna Markov, Daniel O'Brien, and Dr. Katherine Rudzinski in the writing and preparation of this document.

Disclaimer for Health Care Providers

The recommendations in this guidance document represent the view of the National Operational Guidance Document Review Committee, arrived at after careful consideration of the available scientific evidence and external expert peer review. The application of the guidance contained in this document does not override the responsibility of health care professionals to make decisions appropriate to the needs, preferences, and values of an individual patient, in consultation with that patient (and their guardian[s] or family members, when appropriate), and, when appropriate, external experts (e.g., specialty consultation). When exercising clinical judgment in supervising drug consumption, health care professionals are expected to take this guidance document fully into account while upholding their duties to adhere to the fundamental principles and values of their relevant codes of ethics. Nothing in this guidance document should be interpreted in a way that would be inconsistent with compliance with those duties.

Legal Disclaimer

While the individuals and groups involved in the production of this document have made every effort to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this guidance document, please note that the information is provided "as is" and that CIHR and CRISM make no representation or warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied, as to the accuracy of the information or the fitness of the information for any particular use. To the fullest extent possible under applicable law, CIHR and CRISM disclaim and will not be bound by any express, implied, or statutory representation or warranty (including, without limitation, representations or warranties of title or non-infringement). This document is intended to provide guidance to plan, implement, and evaluate supervised consumption services. This guidance document is not intended as a substitute for the advice or professional judgment of a health professional, nor is it intended to be the only approach to the management of a clinical problem. We cannot respond to patients or patient advocates requesting advice on issues related to medical conditions. If you need medical advice, please contact a local health care professional.

Table of Contents

Abbreviations	9
Definitions	10
Key Points of this Document	12
1.0 About this Document	15
1.1 Purpose and Scope	15
1.2 Development Process	17
1.3 Intended Audience	17
1.4 Background 1.4.a A brief historical overview 1.4.b State of knowledge	17 18 19
2.0 Guiding Principles	22
2.1 Centering the Perspectives of People Who Use Drugs	22
2.2 Practicing a Harm Reduction Philosophy of Care 2.2.a Harm reduction 2.2.b Relational practice, cultural safety, and trauma-informed care	24 25 26
3.0 Planning of SCS Service Models	30
3.1 Section 56.1 SCS Exemption Information 3.1.a Application process	30 30
 3.2 Service Models 3.2.a Physical SCS environment 3.2.b Stand-alone model 3.2.c Integrated model 3.2.d Mobile SCS outreach model 	31 34 34 36 39
 3.3 Other Considerations for Service Provision 3.3.a Considerations for key populations 3.3.b Considerations for non-injection drug use 3.3.c Assisted consumption 3.3.d Splitting and sharing drugs 3.3.e Drug checking 3.3.f Integrating substance use treatment and safer supply programs within SCS 3.3.g People who inject into high-risk areas on the body 	40 41 51 53 55 56 60
3.4 Security and the Safety of SCS Participants and Workers 3.4.a Safer washrooms	61 62
4.0 Description of Local Conditions	65
4.1 Determining Need 4.1.a Community consultation and engagement best practices 4.2 Defining Overall SCS Goals	65 66 68
U	50

5.0 Policies and Procedures	
5.1 General Policy Documents to Consider 5.1.a Notifying Health Canada of changes to procedures and policies	70 71
5.2 Code of Conduct/Rights and Responsibilities	71
5.3 Eligibility and User Agreement	73
5.4 Pre and Post-Consumption Procedures	73
5.5 Conflict Management	74
5.6 Refusal of Service	74
5.7 Drug Poisonings	75
6.0 Personnel	77
6.1 Staffing Models	77
6.2 Staff Training, Retention, and Safety	79
7.0 Funding Sources	80
8.0 Reporting and Evaluating	81
8.1 Collecting Data to Fulfill Health Canada and Funder Reporting Requirements 8.1.a Government issued identification and personal health numbers	81 84
8.2 Data to Collect to Facilitate the Provision of SCS Services	85
8.3 Data Collection Platforms and Systems	86
8.4 Program Evaluation	87
9.0 Other Supervised Consumption Service Types	90
9.1 Urgent Public Health Need Sites 9.1.a Determining whether to apply for SCS or UPHNS exemption	90 90
9.2 Overdose Prevention Sites	91
10.0 Further Reading and Resources	93
11.0 References	94

Abbreviations

ARCHES: AIDS Outreach Community Harm Reduction Education Support BCCSU: British Columbia Centre on Substance Use **CAC:** Community Advisory/Liaison Committee **CAPUD:** Canadian Association of People who Use Drugs **CDSA:** Controlled Drug and Substances Act **CIHR:** Canadian Institutes of Health Research **CRISM:** Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse **EMS:** Emergency Medical Services HCV: Hepatitis C Virus HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus iOAT: Injectable Opioid Agonist Treatment 2SLGBTQIA+: 2-Spirit, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer or questioning, Intersex, Asexual, plus **MOPS:** Molson Overdose Prevention Site **NORS:** National Overdose Response Service **OAT:** Opioid Agonist Treatment **OPS:** Overdose Prevention Site **PHNs:** Personal Health Numbers RAH: Royal Alexandra Hospital **RPIC:** Responsible Person in Charge **RV:** Recreational Vehicle **SCS:** Supervised Consumption Site **SRCHC:** South Riverdale Community Health Centre **UPHNS:** Urgent Public Health Needs Site

Definitions

This document is designed to provide national, evidence-informed, national operational guidance to plan, develop, implement, and evaluate federally exempted supervised consumption sites in Canada. Although this guidance document does not specifically address the operation of other supervised consumption models, information herein may be relevant for planning such services. See below for our definition of each service type and other terms used throughout the document.

Service types (see Figure 1. SCS, UPHNS, and OPS service types according to their exemption status)		
Overdose prevention site (OPS)	Authorized by provincial governments or operating without official authorization (i.e., operating illegally). NB: Outside of the current document, this term is sometimes used informally to refer to Urgent Public Health Need Sites	
Supervised consumption service(s)	Refers to a range of supervised consumption models (including urgent public health need sites, overdose prevention sites, virtual models, and services available in other countries outside of Canada's authorization system). This term is used as a comprehensive, umbrella term to capture the full range of consumption service models available globally.	
Supervised consumption site (SCS)	Supervised consumption services specifically exempted under section 56.1 of the Canadian <i>Controlled Drug and Substances Act</i> by Health Canada.	
Urgent public health need site (UPHNS)	Services exempted under subsection 56(1) of the Canadian <i>Controlled Drug and Substances Act</i> via site- specific exemptions from Health Canada, or provincial/territorial Ministers of Health (or their delegates) under provincial/territorial class exemptions.	

Other terms	
Consumption	Any route of drug use currently authorized within supervised consumption services (i.e., injection, inhalation, oral, intranasal), unless otherwise specified.
Drug/substance	"[A] controlled substance or precursor that is obtained in a manner not authorized under [the <i>Controlled Drug</i> <i>and Substances Act</i>]" (1) (p.54).
Drug poisoning(s)	Acute toxicity resulting from the consumption of a drug or combination of drugs, either unintentionally or intentionally (sometimes referred to as overdose).
Participant(s)	People attending supervised consumption services to consume drugs and/or use services (e.g., clients, service users).
People who use drugs	People who use currently illegal drugs (e.g., criminally prohibited substances or the misuse of prescription medications).

Key Points of this Document

- Supervised consumption services are evidence-based and provide a safer environment where people can consume drugs with sterile equipment, access supportive services, and be monitored by trained staff who provide education on harm reduction and emergency medical care for drug poisonings.
- The purpose of this guidance document is to support organizations in Canada proposing new (or operating existing) supervised consumption sites by providing practical guidance for supervised consumption site planning, development, implementation, and quality improvement.
- Supervised consumption sites are federally authorized under section 56.1 of the Canadian *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, which protects staff and participants against criminal charges due to activities with illegal drugs. This document is designed to help prospective operators meet the current federal regulatory requirements for implementing and operating a supervised consumption site in Canada. Guidance provided herein does not indicate an endorsement of current federal regulatory requirements.
- Supervised consumption sites are one of several types of supervised consumption services, an umbrella term that also includes urgent public health need sites (exempted under subsection 56(1) of the Canadian *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, via a provincial/territorial class exemption or a site-specific federal exemption) and overdose prevention sites (authorized by provincial governments or operating without official authorization), both of which are outside the scope of this document.
- Supervised consumption site operators are required to secure their own funding (typically from provincial/territorial governments, or from municipal or private sources).

- As of July 2023, there are 38 supervised consumption sites operating in Canada and several urgent public health need sites and overdose prevention sites, although the exact number of these types of supervised consumption services are unknown.
- High quality supervised consumption site service provision requires that people who use drugs directly inform planning, implementation, operation, and evaluation activities.
- A harm reduction philosophy of care, including relational practice, cultural safety, and trauma-informed care, should be at the forefront of all service design and delivery where attempts are made to reduce health, social, and economic harms associated with drug use.
- Perspective operators are required to gather and submit several pieces of information to Health Canada when applying for a supervised consumption site, including outlining the applicant information, a description of proposed site, a description of local conditions, policies and procedures, personnel, community consultation report, and a financial plan.
- In addition to requirements outlined by Health Canada, there may be additional provincial/territorial requirements that need to be addressed but are beyond the scope of this document.
- There are multiple models for supervised consumption sites including: fixed stand-alone models (distinct facility that is dedicated to providing supervised consumption site); integrated models (part of a larger facility such as a hospital or a health care centre); and mobile outreach models (modified vans that travel to high traffic areas for people who use drugs).
- Design and delivery of supervised consumption site services should consider populations experiencing specific social and structural inequities, including people who identify as women, 2SLGBTQIA+ (2-Spirit, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer or questioning,

Intersex, Asexual, plus), youth and young adults, and people who are First Nations, Inuit, or Métis.

- Incorporating non-injection drug use, assisted consumption, splitting and sharing as well as integrating drug checking services, drug use treatment, and safer supply programs will maximize uptake and impact of supervised consumption site
- Local conditions (i.e., the context of drug use and services for people who use drugs) should be assessed and incorporated into the design of supervised consumption sites, which can be done by collaborating with local groups of people who use drugs and conducting community consultations, the latter being required by Health Canada.
- A variety of policies and procedures are required or recommended to protect the safety of supervised consumption site staff and participants, including outlining codes of conduct/rights and responsibilities for participants and staff, eligibility and user agreements, pre- and post-consumption procedures, conflict management, refusal of service protocols, and drug poisoning response protocols.
- Hiring people with lived/living experience of substance use within supervised consumption sites can increase accessibility and service quality.
- Reporting aggregate demographic and supervised consumption site program statistics is required by Health Canada and may also be required by provincial/territorial governments or funders. It is important to collect the least possible amount of personal information from supervised consumption site participants to avoid deterring those who feel more comfortable using these services anonymously.
- While not mandated by Health Canada, evaluation activities can be conducted internally to ensure operational goals are being met, that the service is participant-centered, and that opportunities for service improvement are identified.

1.0 About this Document

1.1 Purpose and Scope

Relatively few resources provide detailed guidance to support the planning and implementation of supervised consumption services in Canada. Existing publicly available documents are specific to unique legislative, regulatory, and policy contexts of individual provinces, health regions, or organizations, and are not entirely generalizable to other settings. As a result, community-based organizations, frontline health and harm reduction workers, and public health officials have had to dedicate considerable time and attention to *ad hoc* consultations and informal information sharing networks that connect prospective supervised consumption service operators with existing ones. While this type of cross-provincial/territorial collaboration has been a hallmark of Canada's harm reduction community and an important factor in advancing these practices nationally, it takes time away from operating services and developing additional community-based programs or services. A lack of formal operational guidance also undermines the sustained operation and ongoing optimization of existing supervised consumption services, and hinders development and implementation of new supervised consumption services in parts of Canada (e.g., smaller urban centers, rural settings, some provinces/territories) where service providers and health officials face additional challenges for planning and implementing harm reduction interventions (e.g., may have fewer resources, may not be connected with operators elsewhere, may have extensive constraints of regulations imposed on the services). Therefore, national, evidence-informed operational guidance on the implementation of supervised consumption services is urgently needed to support ongoing scale up, sustainability, and optimization of these interventions in Canada. This document includes resources designed to assist prospective operators by providing practical guidance for supervised consumption service planning, development, implementation, and quality improvement activities. In the longer term, this resource may support further expansion of supervised consumption services across Canada, encourage standardization across new supervised consumption service models while still accommodating flexibility according to community needs, facilitate research and evaluation in this area, and increase opportunities to establish supervised consumption service best practices.

For the purposes of this document, supervised consumption sites (SCS) are considered services that provide space for people to consume illegal substances and be monitored by trained staff who provide education on harm reduction and emergency medical care for drug poisonings and are federally-exempted under section 56.1 of the Canadian *Controlled Drug and Substances Act* (CDSA). Illegal substance refers to "a controlled substance or precursor that is obtained in a manner not authorized under [the CDSA]" (1) (p.54). 'Consumption' refers to any route of illegal drug

consumption currently authorized within SCS (i.e., injection, inhalation, oral, intranasal), unless otherwise specified. Although this guidance document does not specifically address the operation of urgent public health need sites (UPHNS) and overdose prevention sites (OPS), some of the information herein may be relevant for planning such services (see **9.0 Other supervised consumption service types** for more information on UPHNS and OPS).

We developed this guidance document to provide an overview of the rationale for, and evidence supporting, SCS as well as guidance on implementation, operation, and evaluation of SCS. The document is organized to reflect the current process in Canada for securing a federal section 56.1 exemption under the CDSA to operate a SCS. Each of the following sections address topics and information designed to be helpful in preparing the requisite sections of Health Canada's SCS application form. Specifically, this document includes information to assist prospective SCS operators in:

- 1. Articulating the rationale and evidence for implementing SCS;
- 2. Centering the needs and voices of people who use drugs;
- 3. Planning SCS service models;
- 4. Assessing and describing local conditions;
- 5. Developing SCS policies and procedures;
- 6. Planning human resource requirements;
- 7. Developing a financial plan; and
- 8. Conducting evaluation and reporting activities.

It is important to note that this document is limited to addressing Health Canada's requirements. There may be additional provincial/territorial requirements that prospective SCS operators are required to address that are beyond the scope of this document. Furthermore, this document and any guidance provided herein should not be construed as an endorsement of any or all of Health Canada's legislative and policy requirements for SCS. This document is designed to help operators meet the current federal regulatory framework and does not necessarily indicate support for the requirements by the authors or any of the external reviewers.

This document is designed to provide general guidance for implementing and operating SCS; see *Supporting people who use substances in shelter settings during the COVID-19 pandemic* for guidance tailored to emergency shelter operators (2), and *Harm reduction worker safety during the COVID-19 global pandemic* for guidance tailored to harm reduction workers (3).

1.2 Development Process

The Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse (CRISM) convened a SCS operational guidance document committee from across the five CRISM nodes (British Columbia, Prairies, Ontario, Quebec, and Atlantic) to develop a national operational guidance document on SCS. This committee includes people who have directly participated in efforts to establish SCS in Canada, and represents academic, healthcare, policy, and lived/living experience perspectives.

We acknowledge and are greatly indebted to the British Columbia Centre on Substance Use (BCCSU)'s *Supervised consumption services: Operational Guidance* publication (4), which was developed and reviewed by experts from that province. In creating the present national document, we built directly upon the BCCSU's previous work, with the aim of providing updated guidance on implementing and operating SCS that is national in scope and accounts for recent federal policy changes. Specifically, our authorship committee reviewed the BCCSU document and identified areas for revision based on new research, and changes to the federal SCS legislative and policy requirements and exemption application process. The draft document was then circulated to the committee for comments and feedback before undergoing review from other key stakeholders internal and external to CRISM. This document is current as of its publication date and will be periodically updated to reflect changing practice and any future shifts in federal policy and regulations.

1.3 Intended Audience

This document is intended to be a tool for those working to implement SCS, which may include policymakers, clinical and operational leads in health authorities, healthcare and social service organizations and providers, advocates, community non-profits, drug user organizations, and others who want guidance on how to plan, implement, or evaluate SCS in Canada. New or existing SCS operators may also find this document helpful for planning program changes and conducting quality improvement activities or evaluation activities.

1.4 Background

SCS provide a safer environment in which people can consume drugs with sterile equipment, access supportive services, and be monitored by trained staff without the risk of arrest for activities with illegal drugs. SCS are part of a range of services for addressing drug-related harms associated with the increasingly toxic illegal drug supply, including needle/syringe distribution programs, and complementary drug treatment programs, such as withdrawal management, pharmacotherapy, and psychosocial counselling (5). Many SCS also incorporate connections to other health and social services, as requested by participants. There are different ways to assess need, plan, design and

implement SCS, and many issues to consider with respect to the target population, existing network of services for people who use drugs, and resources available, including funding, space, and staff. SCS range considerably in size, structure, and staffing.

As shown in Figure 1, SCS are authorized by a section 56.1 exemption, UPHNS are authorized under a subsection 56(1) class exemption or a site-specific exemption, and OPS are authorized through provinces or have no legal authorization. This document focuses only on SCS federally-exempted under section 56.1 of the Canadian CDSA. While outside the scope of this document, additional information on UPHNS and OPS can be found in **9.0 Other supervised consumption service types**.



Figure 1. SCS, UPHNS, and OPS service types according to their authorization status.

1.4.a A brief historical overview

According to 2020 data compiled by Harm Reduction International, there are currently over 130 supervised consumption services operating in 12 countries around the world (6). The first legally exempted supervised consumption service was established in 1986 in Berne, Switzerland. High rates of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) transmission, increases in drug-related deaths, growing public drug scenes, and the rise of harm reduction principles as viable alternatives to abstinence-based strategies resulted in the establishment of early supervised consumption services (7).

In Canada, growing interest in supervised consumption services and delays in government action on HIV and drug poisonings in Vancouver led to the opening of non-exempted supervised consumption service. Two OPS, "The Back Alley" which opened in 1995 and "327 Carrall Street" which opened in April 2003, were operated by people who use drugs and local activists before being closed by police enforcement. A third OPS, known as "The Hair Salon," was quietly built in 2003 and operated by the Portland Hotel Society while waiting for government approval, and would later become Insite (8). The Dr. Peter Centre in Vancouver's West End began offering supervised consumption services at their facility in 2002 but did not receive a formal federal SCS exemption until 2016. In September 2003, Insite opened as the first federally exempted SCS in Canada as a three-year pilot project before receiving ongoing operational support.

The federal government did not approve any additional SCS until 2016, after passing Bill-C 37 in an attempt to streamline and simplify the SCS application process. Between February and October 2017, new SCS received federal exemptions in Quebec, Ontario, Alberta, and British Columbia. Thus far, SCS in Canada have largely been implemented in urban settings, though feasibility and acceptability studies on implementing supervised consumption services in additional communities indicate high levels of willingness to use these services among people who use drugs in both urban (10–12) and rural (13) settings.

As of July 2023, there are 38 exempted SCS operating in Canada. For a current list of exempted SCS maintained by Health Canada please see:

• Health Canada - Supervised Consumption Sites: Status of Applications (9)

1.4.b State of knowledge

Available epidemiological data on supervised consumption service participants suggest that these facilities attract structurally vulnerable members of substance-using populations (i.e., people experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity, people who use drugs in public (14–16)). Structurally vulnerable people are more likely to experience drug poisonings, inject drugs daily, and be exposed to high-risk drug use environments, suggesting that these facilities have been successful in attracting and providing services for individuals who are marginalized and frequently excluded from existing health and ancillary services (5). Research shows that many supervised consumption service participants report experiencing challenges finding a vein, history of injection-related infections, and lack of knowledge of safer consumption practices (17,18). Supervised consumption services typically address these issues by offering education on safer consumption practices, access to sterile supplies, and a safer environment for drug consumption (19).

Numerous studies have demonstrated positive impacts of SCS on the morbidity and mortality of people who use drugs. This finding is supported by a recent systematic review of research

examining public health outcomes of supervised consumption services, which found consistent international evidence to suggest that supervised consumption services are effective in reducing risk of drug poisoning-related harms (20). For example, research from Australia indicated a 68% decrease in calls for ambulances in the vicinity of the supervised consumption service during its operational hours (18), while in Germany, the opening of multiple supervised consumption services in major cities was found to decrease drug-related deaths (21). In Vancouver, researchers observed a 35% decline in drug poisoning deaths in the area around Insite after the service opened compared to only a 9% reduction in other areas of the city (22). Additionally, there have been no drug poisoning-related deaths ever reported within supervised consumption services (20). Regular supervised consumption service use has also been associated with receipt of safer consumption education (5,23) and has been associated with other positive changes in drug use practices among people who use drugs, including a reduction in syringe reuse, public injecting, and improper disposal of syringes and other injection-related litter (17,20,24,24,25). The evaluation of Insite in Vancouver determined that frequent SCS users were 70% less likely to share used syringes (26), thus reducing transmission of HIV (27,28) and other viral and bacterial infections. The impact of supervised consumption services on infectious disease transmission risk is further supported by modelling studies, which suggest supervised consumption services reduce HIV and hepatitis C virus (HCV) transmission rates (27,29,30).

Frequent supervised consumption service use and contact with supervised consumption service staff specializing in substance use has also been associated with an increase in referrals to substance use treatment centres, initiation of withdrawal management programs (31), and initiation of methadone treatment and other addiction treatment services (15,31–34). In Vancouver, among SCS participants, regular SCS use has been associated with an approximate 70% increased likelihood of enrolling in withdrawal programs (35) and a 30% increased likelihood of initiating any form of addiction treatment, as well as subsequent declines in frequency of injection drug use after initiating treatment (32). Qualitative research conducted at the Dr. Peter Centre found that the integrated supervised consumption program influenced participants' access to care "by building more trusting relationships with staff and facilitating engagement in a broader array of support services, including safer injection education and care for injection-related infections" (36) (p.640). Another study found that Dr. Peter Centre participants were 58% less likely to leave hospital against medical advice, suggesting that the integration of supervised consumption services within the Dr. Peter Centre may have helped individuals stay in the hospital located across the street from the Dr. Peter Centre (37).

Evidence has not shown that supervised consumption services encourage more people to start using drugs or prolong the length of time someone uses drugs (5). Supervised consumption services often serve people who use their drugs in public locations (14,16). Despite concerns about other negative neighbourhood impacts of supervised consumption services, seven studies have found that supervised consumption services are associated with sustained reductions in public drug use and/or publicly discarded consumption supplies (24,25,38–42). During the first year after opening Insite in Vancouver, crime rates remained stable (35) and showed a significant, stable decrease almost two years after opening in the neighbourhood where the SCS is located (43). The opening of Insite was not associated with an increase in initiation of injection drug use (44). Evidence from a non-exempted supervised consumption service in an urban city in the United States supports this finding, which demonstrates the role of supervised consumption services in promoting safer drug use practices and reducing public substance use (45). Evidence shows that people who use drugs are often not willing to travel long distances (e.g., more than 10 blocks, more than 1 kilometer) to access a SCS (46,47). Therefore, it is recommended by stakeholder groups in Canada such as public residents and businesses, municipal officials, and people who use drugs that supervised consumption services are implemented in neighbourhoods accessible to existing populations of people who use drugs to optimize their impacts on public health and public safety (47,48).

SCS have also been found to be highly cost-effective. Several studies have evaluated the costsavings of existing SCS in British Columbia (27,28,30,49,50). Although the degree by which these sites save money are varied (i.e., between \$200,000 and \$6,000,000 annually), the studies agree that overall, supervised consumption services are cost-saving (20). However, these studies have considered only a limited number of potential outcomes (e.g., savings associated with HIV infections prevented), and future cost-effectiveness studies could consider a broader set of outcomes. Additional analyses have examined the potential cost-savings of SCS if implemented in other Canadian cities, including Saskatoon, Montreal, Toronto, and Ottawa (49,51–55).

2.0 Guiding Principles

2.1 Centering the Perspectives of People Who Use Drugs

High quality SCS service provision can only be achieved when the perspectives of people who use drugs directly inform planning, implementation and evaluation activities. Emerging work suggests that some people who use drugs may prefer to use drugs at locations other than a supervised consumption services for many reasons (e.g., they prefer to consume via a route that is not permitted in the site, they prefer to use drugs in private locations like their own or a friend's home, they feel supervised consumption services are too crowded, they are unaware of supervised consumption service operating hours) (56). Some of these reasons, such as SCS policies and practices, could be addressed with greater involvement of people who use drugs in the planning, implementation and evaluation of SCS (56). People who use drugs are best positioned to identify characteristics of SCS models that will be most likely to attract and retain their peers, and have the networks and expertise required to connect with hard-to-reach members of the population (57,58). In line with the ethos of 'nothing about us without us,' many have argued that there is an ethical imperative to include people who use drugs—especially those who have been historically criminalized, stigmatized, structurally disadvantaged, and excluded from mainstream healthcare services— in policy and service design and implementation. Many supervised consumption services in Canada and internationally have been designed with, led by, and/or employ people with lived/living experience of substance use (59,60). It is also important to include people who use drugs in the design and ongoing evaluation of SCS to ensure the service can adapt to and meet the evolving needs of participants. Equitable inclusion in evaluation could include ongoing participant feedback through an advisory board of staff with lived/living experience of substance use and SCS participants, suggestion boxes, informal surveys, staff communication, and periodic meetings depending on the interest of participants. Review and include the information collected from these evaluation processes in SCS operations and policies as appropriate.

A concern among people who use drugs who work in harm reduction services is their lack of equal treatment and compensation compared to other employees who don't have lived/living experience (61). *Peerology*, a guide on engaging people who use drugs published by the Canadian AIDS Society in 2015, details 11 recommendations to improve the quality of inclusion of people who use drugs in policy, research, and healthcare decisions (62). An abridged version of their recommendations is outlined below:

1) Give us the means: "If you want us to participate in your discussions and decisions on services and other concerns, you have to allow us to do so." Support people who use drugs

with the necessary material, resources, guidelines, and preparation to participate fully in meetings and project teams.

- 2) Include us in an equitable way: "There is nothing more frustrating than having the impression that we are there as tokens and that our opinion is not sought, not listened to and not taken seriously." Explain goals, make space for all voices to be heard, listen well, and consider what is said and do not be dismissive towards participating people who use drugs.
- 3) Keep it simple: "If you want people who use drugs to participate in committees and other settings, it is important to not complicate matters more than they already are." Keep meetings short, informal and to the point. Take breaks during meetings and set predetermined end times.
- 4) Adapt to our life conditions: "We often live in precarious conditions (for example, poverty, unstable housing, health issues, etc.), so if you want to include us, you must change your common way of doing things. Consider using the phone instead of using e-mail to communicate with us since it is not always easy for us to access the internet." Tailor your approach to accommodate the needs of people who use drugs as collaborators.
- 5) Inviting two of us is better: "For many reasons, it may happen that we cannot attend a meeting we had committed to going to. That is why you should avoid giving all the information and all the responsibilities to only one person. Having two of us attend meetings together will make us feel more at ease with other participants." Inviting more than one person who uses drugs to participate in a project or a meeting helps keep the work manageable, provides an alternate if someone is unable to attend, and can help people feel more comfortable participating.
- 6) Emphasize good deeds: "It is always good to know that what we did was appreciated and that it is worth continuing to be involved." Highlight accomplishments, achievements, and successes of including people who use drugs in planning processes.
- 7) Take action: "It is nice to get together, to share information and ideas, to find solutions to our problems, but if those meetings are not followed up by actions, we lose interest and that discourages us from getting involved." Ensure that meetings are followed by concrete actions designed to implement the suggestions discussed during the meetings.
- 8) Thoroughly train allies to understand and support our inclusion: "We want people who work with us to be aware of our problems and continue to support our mandates." Ensure all members of the team have the appropriate knowledge and training to engage people who use drugs equitably and comprehensively.
- 9) Recognize our expertise: "We are experts of our reality and lived experience, and that is why we are asked to participate in committees and meetings and why we want to be invited." Enable people who use drugs to take on leadership opportunities, or engage them in decision-making, as they are the experts who know the realities better than anyone else.
- 10) Compensate us for our time: "We are the experts, but we often are the only ones around a table who are not paid." Compensate people who use drugs for their participation in the

engagement to demonstrate the value they provide. When inviting people who use drugs to an engagement, it is important to discuss expectations regarding their duties (time requirements and role expectations), the timing of their compensation, and their preferred payment method (e.g., cash) prior to their commitment (63). Research fair and equitable compensation according to your local context and provide that to each person who uses drugs who you engage. In addition, cover any other costs related to participating in the engagement (e.g., transportation, accommodation, meals, etc.) by the organization rather than expecting reimbursement of personal payments for these costs, and avoid credit card imprints at hotels.

11) Support organizations of people who use drugs to support inclusion: "To support the inclusion of people who use drugs, it must be acknowledged that there are organizations of people who use drugs across Canada that have a mandate of inclusion." Recognize the different drug user groups that exist, along with their capacity to organize and lead new initiatives. When seeking to involve people who use drugs in an engagement, extend invitations to the leadership of these groups to allow them to nominate a representative for the collaboration.

For more information on centering the perspectives of people who use drugs, please see the following resources:

• <u>Canadian Drug Policy Coalition & Canadian Association of People who Use Drugs - Hear Us</u>, See Us, Respect Us: Respecting the Expertise of People who Use Drugs (64)

2.2 Practicing a Harm Reduction Philosophy of Care

Supervised consumption services were originally developed by people who use drugs as a strategy for creating safer environments and supporting one another. As these services grew in number, spread, and evolved they have focused on attracting structurally vulnerable people who use drugs (65) —subpopulations of people who use drugs who are at increased risk of harm due to social, physical, political and economic aspects of their environment who are more likely to engage in public drug use (66,67). As a result, supervised consumption services often serve participants who may be unstably housed or homeless, living in poverty, and have past experiences of trauma, racism, discrimination, and violence (68,69). Further, many SCS participants are likely to have had previous negative experiences with health services and systems and evidence shows that people who use drugs are often stigmatized, judged, and shamed by healthcare professionals when seeking care (70–72). Close attention to philosophy of care within SCS is thus critically important for ensuring optimal experiences for people who use drugs and recognizing and mitigating the negative impacts of structural vulnerability amongst participants.

In addition, it is important to reflect on the fact that many SCS participants or staff may be living with grief and loss from the current and ongoing drug poisoning emergency. When interacting with SCS participants or staff, being sensitive to and/or directly acknowledging this grief and loss is beneficial. Furthermore, services should have debriefing protocols in place in the event of a drug poisoning or other emotionally difficult event within the SCS or community. These protocols could include regular team-based debriefing meetings, one-on-one debriefing as needed, or providing information on available mental health supports (e.g., provincial/territorial and/or national mental health supports) including support specific to certain populations (e.g., Indigenous people, youth).

2.2.a Harm reduction

SCS are part of an evidence-based harm reduction approach to substance use that attempts to reduce health, social and economic harms associated with substance use while also acknowledging that such harms are largely the product of prohibition, criminalization, and other adverse socio-political contexts (e.g., colonization, racialization, poverty) (73). It moves beyond an individual risk reduction perspective to focus on creating safer physical and social environments for people who use drugs through implementing programs tailored to local needs, and advocating for broader policy changes that reduce the risk of negative health and social outcomes.

While there is no universally accepted definition of harm reduction, many harm reduction approaches and practices are underpinned by common principles and goals (74):

Principles

- Respecting human rights: treating people who use drugs with dignity, respect, and compassion;
- Commitment to evidence: ensuring harm reduction programs and services are informed by a strong body of evidence;
- Commitment to social justice: equitably including people who use drugs in the design, implementation, and evaluation of programs that serve them, and ensuring discrimination based on race, gender, socioeconomic status, etc. does not exclude people who use drugs from health and social services; and
- Avoiding stigma: accepting people who use drugs as they are without judgement and stigmatizing language.

<u>Goals</u>

- Keeping people alive and encouraging positive change: the most urgent priority is keeping people who use drugs alive and then reinforcing positive changes, no matter how small;
- Reducing harms from drug laws and policies: challenging laws, policies, and law enforcement practices that contribute to drug-related harm; and

• Offering alternative approaches to abstinence-only treatment: ensuring abstinence from drug use is not imposed nor regarded as the only option.

One example of a harm reduction definition in the Canadian context is provided below:

Harm reduction is a comprehensive, just, and science-based approach to substance use. The principles can also apply to activities such as sex work. It represents policies, strategies, and services, which aim to assist people who use legal and illegal psychoactive drugs to live safer and healthier lives. All substances have both positive and negative effects, and substance use may affect one's health and legal vulnerability. Most people who use drugs do not experience problems, but in some circumstances, substance use can become problematic. Harm reduction recognizes that people use drugs for many reasons. Reduction of substance use and/or abstinence is not required in order to receive respect, compassion or services. Harm reduction enhances the ability of people who use drugs to have increased control over their lives and their health, and allows them to take protective and proactive measures for themselves, their families and their communities (adapted from Streetworks Edmonton (75)).

For more information on the fundamentals of harm reduction, please see the following resources:

• <u>CATIE - Harm Reduction Fundamentals: A toolkit for service providers</u> (76)

2.2.b Relational practice, cultural safety, and trauma-informed care

Other key concepts for guiding staff working in SCS settings include relational practice, cultural safety, and trauma-informed care. Relational practice is the respectful, compassionate, and ethical partnership between a health care provider and their patient (77), and it encompasses many important aspects of care including harm reduction, patient- and relationship-centered care, cultural safety, and trauma-informed practice.

Cultural safety was originally developed to provide more respectful care to New Zealand's Indigenous Peoples (e.g., Māori) to address racial inequities (78,79). Within the Canadian context, cultural safety has been particularly relevant for understanding the impact of historical and ongoing colonization and systemic oppression influencing Indigenous Peoples' (e.g., First Nations, Métis, Inuit) access to health and social care and overall health status (78,80). This model of care acknowledges the importance of how structural violence and histories of trauma, including the legacy of colonization, impact the lives of people who use drugs and other marginalized populations (195). Cultural safety is intended to address inequities for people who experience discrimination or marginalization in healthcare settings (82,83), as well as ensure that spaces are physically, socially, emotionally, culturally, and spiritually safe (70,84). Cultural safety is ultimately defined by the people who experience it, not those who provide it; however, for people who use drugs, culturallysafe care often:

- Facilitates their engagement and participation in shaping the care they and their peers receive;
- Recognizes that their health, experiences, priorities, and health care are influenced by histories and policies that criminalize drug use;
- Considers how their past histories of trauma and violence, layers of stigma, and disadvantage affect their ability to engage with providers and care plans;
- Emphasizes trust as a priority outcome; and
- Requires a culture of safety and respect where they are valued and seen as deserving of care (85,86).

Adopting principles of cultural safety within SCS will aid staff in developing relationships with people who use the site. Examples of cultural safety practices that can be provided in SCS are presented below (73,85):

- Being aware and sensitive to cultural practices and customs of SCS participants;
- Critically examining how one's own power, privilege, beliefs, values, biases, and assumptions can impact therapeutic relationships;
- Reflecting on the structures, discourses, and assumptions that frame delivery of SCS services. This includes acknowledging that individuals are part of the legacy of trauma and violence experienced by marginalized groups as a result of actions (potentially even those well intended) of service providers, health care professionals, and others;
- Understanding the history of drug policy and of those who use the SCS (e.g., experiences using the healthcare system, histories of trauma and violence);
- Acknowledging that the power in patient-provider relationships is skewed in favour of the service provider and facilitate an environment where the SCS participant has the power to say when they feel that an encounter is safe or unsafe;
- Adopting a social justice and/or anti-oppression lens to address structural factors that create and exacerbate harms associated with drug use;
- Actively informing SCS staff members of these efforts, and be open to being held accountable for actions or inactions, even if they are well intended; and
- Acknowledging that SCS participants who are Indigenous require special consideration. This includes working directly with Elders, knowledge keepers, and traditional supports within the community and SCS to build relationships and trust as well as to recognize how Indigenous Peoples define and understand cultural safety themselves (see 3.3.a Considerations for key populations).

Moreover, it is essential to ensure appropriate and adequate cultural safety training and periodic re-training for all SCS staff to promote adoption of these practices. At a minimum, training should meet the following three learning outcomes:

- Reflect on their own, often unconsciously held, attitudes and beliefs about others;
- Examine the ways in which history, social relations, and politics continue to shape people's responses, needs, access, and health; and
- Demonstrate flexibility in how they relate with others, especially those that differ from themselves (71,87).

It is critical that culturally safe care is provided in tandem with trauma-informed practice. Traumainformed practice specifically recognizes the need to respond to an individual's intersecting experiences of trauma, mental health, and substance use (88,89). Principles of trauma-informed practice that can be implemented within SCS include (89):

- Awareness of trauma: building awareness among SCS staff of the high prevalence of trauma experiences, the impact of trauma on development, adaptation of survival and coping mechanisms, and the interconnected relationship between trauma, substance use, mental health, and physical health;
- Safety and trustworthiness: establishing safety and trustworthiness through physical, emotional, and cultural safety such as through welcoming intake procedures, adapting the physical SCS space to be less threatening, clear information about the intentions and processes of the SCS, and attending to staff burnout and self-care;
- Focus on choice, collaboration, and connection: creating safer environments that facilitates self-determination, dignity, and personal care for SCS participants through open communication, equalizing power imbalances, providing choices, and working collaboratively;
- Strengths based and skill building: helping SCS participants to identify their strengths and develop resilience and coping skills by emphasizing skills to acknowledge calmness, centering, and triggers; and
- SCS participants who are Indigenous require special consideration, as this population has been disproportionately impacted by historical and intergenerational trauma and colonization (see **3.3.a Considerations for key populations**).

By encompassing the principles above, disclosure of trauma is not necessary. The SCS should be an environment where SCS participants do not experience initial trauma, further trauma, or re-traumatization. SCS participants are trusted to know their own needs and encouraged to make their own decisions about those needs.

In cases where trauma is disclosed, trauma-specific services that directly address trauma available either onsite or through referrals need to be available. Trauma recovery options can include specialized counselling such as trauma-focused cognitive behavioural therapy, stress inoculation, exposure therapy, psychotherapy, eye movement desensitization and reprocessing, and healing and empowerment (89).

For more information on cultural safety and trauma-informed practice, please see the following resources:

- <u>Canadian Public Health Association Do you Ensure Programs and Services are Culturally</u> <u>Relevant and Culturally Safe?</u> (90)
- EQUIP Health Care Research to Equip Health Care of Equity (91)
- National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health Cultural Safety Collection (92)
- Northern Health Indigenous Health Cultural Safety (83)

3.0 Planning of SCS Service Models

3.1 Section 56.1 SCS Exemption Information

To legally operate a SCS in Canada, operators must be granted an exemption from Health Canada to protect staff and SCS participants against criminal charges due to activities with illegal substances within the site. Obtaining a SCS exemption requires prospective operators to complete an application that presents information pertaining to five broad criteria. SCS approved under this process are typically granted a one-year exemption that is renewable. Subsequent exemptions (i.e., renewals) may be granted for up to five years, depending on the availability of funding, the operators' record of compliance, and whether Health Canada has any concerns about the service's operations.

The present document is not intended to be a step-by-step guide to the exemption process or the Health Canada legislative and policy requirements. Rather, the topics covered here may help prospective SCS operators engage in higher-level discussions about the rationale, goals, and design of a SCS, which will ultimately aid people in drafting an exemption application. To assist prospective operators in gaining a general understanding of the level of information and resources required to assemble a successful application, a high-level explanation of the current Health Canada exemption process is described below. For further information, please refer to Health Canada's detailed guidance for section 56.1 SCS exemption applicants available on their website (93).

3.1.a Application process

In determining SCS exemption applications, the following five broad criteria outlined in legislation must be considered prior to granting an exemption under the CDSA (94) (p.2):

- 1) "The impact of the site on crime rates;
- 2) The local conditions indicating a need for the site;
- 3) The administrative structure in place to support the site;
- 4) The resources available to support the maintenance of the site; and
- 5) Expressions of community support or opposition."

Health Canada's SCS exemption application process collects information pertaining to these five criteria. Applicants are required to address these criteria in their submissions and meet any other

additional requirements set out by Health Canada. As of this writing, the SCS application form (July 2021 edition) is organized into multiple sections, including (94):

- 1) Applicant information (contact information; if applicable, organization and current services provided);
- 2) Proposed site description (proposed services and hours of operation; site floor plan);
- 3) Local conditions (description of target population; drug-related poisonings and deaths; health and safety impacts; other factors such as crime rates);
- 4) Policies, procedures, and security (roles and responsibilities of staff and training; sharps and biohazardous material disposal; rules regarding assisted consumption and drug splitting/sharing; addressing unidentified substances, as well as loss or theft of unidentified substances; security; record management);
- 5) Personnel (Responsible Person in Charge [RPIC]; with a recent criminal record check (i.e., issued within 1 year of SCS application submission) in addition to all education, volunteer, and work experience for the last 10 years (including a criminal record check for any experience outside of Canada, if applicable));
- Consultation report and letter of opinion (consultation report and related documents; measures to address concerns; see 4.1.a Community consultation and engagement best practice for more information);
- 7) Financial plan (statements or audits; confirmed and/or committed funding; budget proposal);
- 8) Renewal (if applicable); and
- 9) Applicant statement (certifying completeness and accuracy of information).

Health Canada requires a site visit prior to a SCS opening to the public to ensure that the site is set up with a configuration, and policies, and procedures that would enable the proposed service to operate in compliance with a SCS exemption, if granted. Site visits will vary significantly based on the type of SCS described in the exemption application (e.g., inhalation, mobile, single room, whole floor, etc.). Please note that detailed information on these areas are requirements for a federal exemption. If you have questions or want a copy of the SCS application form, contact the Exemptions Section of the Office of Controlled Substances at Health Canada (<u>exemption@hcsc.gc.ca</u>) for more information.

3.2 Service Models

SCS are often accessed by structurally vulnerable populations of people who use drugs (e.g., those experiencing poverty, homelessness, colonization, unemployment, racialization, sexism, criminalization, and other inequities). These factors are often the underlying cause of poor health in people who use drugs and exacerbate risks and harms associated with drug use (95,96). SCS provide a valuable opportunity to address these factors by providing a crucial point of connection with health and social services (34,97).

There are many ways to design and implement a SCS. The type, range, and scope of services offered depends on the SCS participant population's characteristics and needs, existing local services, and resources available to establish a facility.

The basic physical components of an SCS often include:

- A reception area that is distinct from the area where illegal drugs are consumed, where
 potential users of the SCS can learn about the service and its operation, and wait for access
 to the consumption area;
- 2) A dedicated drug consumption area reflecting the route(s) of consumption offered in the SCS that is equipped with sterile consumption equipment and a receptacle for the disposal of used equipment. This area is often closed off from the rest of the facility, if space and resources allow; and
- 3) A common area for drug poisoning response, after care, or monitoring where SCS participants rest, interact with health and social workers and employees with lived experience, and receive referral, education, and counselling resources as appropriate.

A SCS may also provide access to a range of additional services, either on-site or via referrals to other service providers, including those outlined below (note that this list has been adapted from a document developed by the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (98)).

- Distribution of drug consumption supplies, such as syringes, needles, tourniquets, wipes, cookers, pipes, screens for use at, and outside of, the site;
- Health education, including harm reduction strategies for drug-use and safer consumption techniques;
- Take-home naloxone and drug poisoning prevention training;
- Drug checking services
- Drug use-related medical care (e.g., wound care, vein care, abscess management);
- Peer support programs;
- Drug treatment programs (e.g., withdrawal management, opioid agonist treatment, counselling);
- Residential services (e.g., overnight or day shelters);
- Primary and preventative healthcare (e.g., chronic illness management, immunization, sexually transmitted infection screening, screening and treatment for other communicable diseases such as HIV and HCV, wound care);
- Social work support (e.g., assistance securing income, housing, or addressing other needs);
- Mental health care;
- Women's health services;
- Off-site outreach;

- Employment opportunities, programs, and/or counselling;
- Legal support;
- Identification services;
- Recreational activities;
- Education counselling;
- Meals, snacks, coffee/tea;
- Phone/Internet access;
- Showers and/or laundry;
- Lockers;
- Postal addresses;
- Low-barrier or supportive housing; and/or
- Recovery housing.

The type, scale, and scope of services offered depends on the needs of the SCS participant population, existing services available in the area, and overall budget and capacity of the facility. While establishing referral pathways, partnerships may be the most efficient way to integrate health and social services in SCS with limited capacity. Including these supports directly in SCS may address existing difficulties maintaining continuity of care between SCS and community resources for people who use drugs and are structurally vulnerable (34). Assisting SCS participants with basic necessities (e.g., food, clothing, laundry/shower services) (99) also requires specific attention.

Consideration of the needs of the SCS participant population and the capacity of the facility are important when determining the SCS hours of operation. To reduce potential harms, such as using substances in unsafe locations or in public during the closed hours of a SCS (100), longer hours of operation are ideal. Any changes to SCS hours of operation (e.g., limited staffing, temporary closures, limited services, changes in regular hours) need to be clearly communicated to participants so that alternatives can be offered, as well as to maintain trusting relationships between SCS staff and participants. Examples of clear communication of this information to existing and prospective SCS participants (e.g., those from out of town, first time participants) include social media; partner organizations; posters, flyers, and postcards; and a 24-hour program contact number or voicemail that can be easily updated with this information. SCS may wish to delegate communication tasks to a designated staff member to ensure consistency and reliability of communication regarding changes to the service. If a SCS is closed for longer than 24 hours, exemption holders are required to notify Health Canada within 48 hours.

In general, there are three different SCS models that currently operate in Canada: stand-alone models, integrated models, and mobile outreach models. These models are used to classify differences in *design* aspects, such as location, physical layout, and availability of co-located services. There are variations between each type of model in terms of the size of the facility, weekly number of participant visits to the SCS, number of staff, hours of operation, and the number and

types of ancillary services offered. There may also be differences between programs of the same model type, such as different participant populations served by mobile outreach SCS. Although Health Canada allows for flexibility in designing SCS to fit local context on a case-by-case basis, descriptions of the standard models currently in operation are provided below. Please see case examples referred to under each model below for additional details.

3.2.a Physical SCS environment

The external and internal physical environments of a SCS, irrespective of the model, can influence the willingness of people who use drugs to access the service, as well as their experience, satisfaction, privacy, and safety. For example, many SCS stakeholders prefer a nondescript facility to preserve anonymity of participants entering and exiting the facility (47). Likewise, if an integrated SCS is co-located with other healthcare services, some people who use drugs may feel uncomfortable accessing the service if there is a risk that they could be seen by someone they know (e.g., a healthcare provider, neighbour, friend) who is not aware they use drugs (101). Other aspects of the physical SCS environment that could be considered include:

- Presence and location of security cameras (102);
- Locations of entrances and exits (101);
- SCS layout features, including adequate space for drug poisoning response (e.g., CPR, multiple drug poisonings) and post-consumption areas (e.g., hang out spaces, those recovering from drug poisoning);
- SCS participant flow, including accessibility for participants with disabilities (e.g., wheelchairs, walkers);
- Visibility of SCS participants from the outside (e.g., placement of windows, access procedures); and
- Additional considerations as appropriate (e.g., service animal/pet considerations).

Ongoing consultations with people who use drugs and local stakeholders regarding the physical SCS environment are an important way to ensure that the space meets the needs of SCS participants and other community members. The availability of funding and resources to clean and maintain the exterior of the SCS may align with some community 'clean and safe' programs and support positive community relations. SCS are not a one size fits all approach, and each site needs to be tailored to meet the specific needs of the community it serves.

3.2.b Stand-alone model

Also called a "specialized model," the stand-alone SCS model is a distinct facility whose primary goal is to provide supervised consumption services. A stand-alone SCS is typically located in a high traffic

area for people who use drugs and in close proximity to local drug scenes and other services serving people who use drugs. This type of facility may be connected to other additional services, such as showers, refreshments, meals, primary care services, counselling, temporary housing (i.e., shelter) and referrals to external services. However, the majority of the facility's staff time and resources are dedicated to the operations of the SCS. This type of facility may be closely connected to other local service organizations for people who use drugs via established referral pathways.

Because stand-alone SCS primarily serve people who use drugs, the facility's services can be specifically catered to their needs. Also, it has been suggested that a stand-alone SCS may better reach participants who actively avoid, are marginalized from, or do not seek out other health care services (103). Accordingly, this form of SCS is best utilized in settings with large and more concentrated populations of people who use drugs, including settings with established drug scenes.

Example of a stand-alone SCS – Insite

Insite is located on East Hastings Street in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside neighbourhood. A large proportion of people who use drugs in Vancouver live in the Downtown Eastside (104). People who use drugs in this area face homelessness, poverty, unemployment, mental health concerns, and violence. Insite opened in 2003 as a pilot project and was the first federally exempted SCS in Canada. People who use drugs in Insite are more likely to be homeless or precariously housed, to inject drugs in public, to inject drugs daily, and to have recently had a non-fatal drug poisoning; Insite has thus been successful in engaging high-risk people who inject drugs in harm reduction services through SCS (14).

Insite's staff consists of nurses, counsellors, mental health workers, and employees with lived/living experience of substance use. There are 13 consumption booths in Insite. Currently, Insite is authorized to permit injection, intranasal, and oral drug consumption (9).

While Insite is a stand-alone facility, it is also part of the PHS Community Services Society, a network of services (e.g., Community Managed Alcohol Program, Community Transitional Care Team, Douglas Street Community Supportive Recovery Program, PHS Food Program, Indigenous Health Services) in the immediate geographic area (105). In particular, Insite exists in the same building as Onsite, which has a withdrawal management facility consisting of 12 rooms with private bathrooms, and a transitional housing program with 18 units. Insite is also part of a referral network that consists of two community health centres, a hospital, rehabilitation centre, assertive community treatment, opioid agonist treatment (OAT), and support services for women.

During a 14-month period from March 10, 2004 to April 30, 2005, over 4,700 individuals registered at Insite and over 2,000 referrals were made, with over one third of referrals for substance use counselling (106). Based on the most recent Insite user statistics from Vancouver Coastal Health,

5,111 unique individuals visited Insite over 170,000 times in 2019, with an average number of 312 daily visits to the injection room (107). During this same year, 1,314 drug poisonings were treated at the facility, none of which were fatal (107).

Insite is an example of a more medicalized model of SCS provision (e.g., employing health care professionals, not necessarily accounting for the social or pleasurable aspects of drug use). A recent study showed that medicalization of Insite may deter some people from accessing the service, and many people who use drugs are receptive to less medicalized, peer-run SCS (108).

3.2.c Integrated model

Globally, integrated facilities are the most common type of supervised consumption service (98). In the integrated model, SCS are part of larger facilities that typically serve people who use drugs and/or those who are homeless or unstably housed. Under this model, the SCS functions as one of several different interlinked services that address the needs of the target SCS participant population. Integrated facilities can offer an array of different services, including health and medical care, social services, and harm reduction services. Some integrated facilities aim to serve as a "onestop-shop" for participants, while others provide more limited services to participants. Examples of facilities with an integrated SCS include hospitals, residential buildings, primary care clinics, and drop-in services (109–111). Regardless of the extent of available services, it is important to clearly demarcate spaces where drug use can take place within the facility and where it cannot, so that program participants who are not using the SCS (i.e., those who may be trying to reduce or avoid illegal drug use) can easily avoid these areas (112). It is also important to align facility and SCS policies by establishing clear plans and procedures between the SCS and the facility in which it is integrated. This may include protocols outlining what to do in cases where drug use may be found outside of the SCS (e.g., procedures for connecting the person to SCS staff, walking them to the SCS to see the space, and/or providing supplies, naloxone, etc.) as well as response protocols in the event of a drug poisoning event outside the SCS space.

Taking a harm reduction approach and providing SCS within acute care settings has the potential to reduce the identified risks and harms related to drug use among people who use drugs who require acute care (70,101). Canadian research suggests that a significant portion of people who inject drugs continue to inject while hospitalized (113). Most hospitals operate under written or unwritten abstinence-based policies and do not allow non-medical drug use or related equipment on their premises. This has resulted in people who use drugs engaging in high-risk substance use on or off hospital grounds (such as using drugs alone in a locked bathroom), avoiding accessing hospitals, and leaving hospital against medical advice (68). Integrating a SCS within a network of services offered within the same facility allows participants to access a spectrum of care without having to travel
outside of the facility premises, thereby helping to prevent loss to care, decrease barriers in access to care, and ensure continuity of care.

SCS models integrated into hospitals can be implemented in acute care or sub-acute care facilities, and can be open to patients only, or both patients and community members. People who use drugs have shown willingness to access supervised consumption services in a hospital (37). At the time of writing, only one acute care hospital in Canada, Royal Alexandra Hospital (RAH) in Edmonton, has implemented a SCS as defined in this document. However, Casey House (a specialized sub-acute care hospital for people living with, or at risk of, HIV) in Toronto operates an inpatient SCS, and St. Paul's Hospital in Vancouver operates an OPS.

Additionally, SCS may be a potentially important strategy for reducing drug poisoning fatalities in residential buildings where a significant proportion of tenants use drugs. Epidemiological data from some Canadian provinces indicate that most people who die of drug poisoning do so in a private residence (114,115). Relevant housing environments may include overnight shelters, transitional housing, or permanent supportive housing facilities. Ensuring these service models are tailored to the needs of all residents, including women and other subpopulations specifically vulnerable to substance-related harm (69), is particularly important.

Integrated SCS may more easily provide wrap-around care for SCS participants who face complex health and social challenges. However, potential trade-offs for this model may include challenges ensuring privacy and anonymity of SCS participants (especially if the host facility serves the general public or a broader population than people who use drugs), physical space constraints, and limitations on operating hours (112).

Example of a SCS integrated into a hospital – Royal Alexandra Hospital

The RAH SCS is a patient-only facility located inside the hospital that is open 22 hours a day, 7 days a week (109). The RAH is located in a socioeconomically disadvantaged health services catchment and the facility sees the largest number of presentations for mental health and substance use disorders in the province. The SCS was opened in April 2018 to improve patient and staff safety and reduce the risk of drug poisonings occurring on hospital grounds (116).

The SCS is staffed by nurses, and contains a waiting area, two consumption rooms (with two booths each), and a post-consumption area (117). Currently, the RAH SCS is authorized to include injection, intranasal, and oral drug consumption (9). The RAH SCS is a clinical space, but efforts have been made to make it more inviting for patients (e.g., patient artwork decorates the walls; a television and nutrition are provided). All patients who have access to the SCS have the opportunity to receive wraparound services from the hospital's full-service, multidisciplinary addiction medicine consultation team.



Photo credit: Dong et al., 2020 (109).

Example of a SCS integrated into a housing program - Fred Victor

Fred Victor is a charitable organization that provides a variety of programs and services to support people experiencing low-income or homelessness at 20+ different sites in Toronto (118,119).

In February 2018, Fred Victor opened a SCS at the Fred Victor housing and transitional housing program site as an evidence-based response to the growing drug poisoning crisis (120) to "save lives, connect people to other health services and to support the local community through this crisis" (120) (p.4). The SCS is currently authorized to include injection, intranasal, and oral drug consumption (9). This location also offers a variety of other services such as mental health and justice support; a restaurant and clothing room; gardening, arts and open house drop-in; and drug and alcohol withdrawal management (119,120). Fred victor clients already accessing the site's services and new clients access the SCS (119).

Example of a SCS integrated into a health centre – South Riverdale Community Health Centre

The South Riverdale SCS is integrated into the South Riverdale Community Health Centre (SRCHC) in Toronto. This integrated facility offers additional community services such as senior's wellness, women's health screening, social work programs, primary health care, and other harm reduction programming in addition to the SCS (121). This program, named the "keepSIX" SCS, opened its doors on November 27, 2017, and was Canada's first community health centre-embedded SCS (122).

keepSIX is located on the first floor of the SRCHC, beside the harm reduction drop-in office (123). The SCS contains an intake area, a consumption room with three standard booths and one large booth (to accommodate more than one person or people with mobility devices), and a post-consumption room (123). Currently, the SCS is authorized to include injection, intranasal, and oral drug consumption (9).

keepSIX mirrors the operational hours of the rest of the community health centre from Monday to Friday. In approximately its first year of operation, keepSIX reversed 8 drug poisonings in 2,800 consumption episodes from 400 unique visitors (124). keepSIX is staffed by nurses, health promoters, and employees with lived/living experience of substance use. The name of the site means "got your back" and is an homage to Raffi Balian, founder of SRCHC's COUNTERfit harm reduction program (established 20 years ago) and lifelong advocate for people who use drugs (124).

3.2.d Mobile SCS outreach model

A mobile outreach model of SCS may be useful if the local population of people who use drugs is not centralized in a particular location but rather dispersed across a large geographic area. Mobile SCS may also be desirable and complimentary in settings where stand-alone or integrated SCS programs already exist but are out of reach for some people who use drugs. Mobile SCS consist of modified vans or buses that contain consumption booths and can be moved to locations where services for people who use drugs may be limited and drug use occurs. In some jurisdictions, mobile facilities have been shown to be more socially acceptable for local stakeholders, such as police, policymakers, and neighbourhood business associations, than a fixed site (125).

Due to their smaller capacity, mobile facilities can typically see fewer SCS participants per day compared to larger fixed-site facilities. However, mobile facilities can require similar levels of staffing as larger fixed-site facilities, resulting in higher cost per participant than fixed-site facilities (126).

A study examining mobile SCS in Kelowna and Kamloops recently reported on the strengths and weaknesses of this model. While study participants were generally satisfied with access to services and physical safety of the mobile SCS, many reported being dissatisfied with the size constraints of the unit, and had concerns about weather-related events making service provision difficult or impossible (i.e., winter weather conditions causing cancelled shifts, high summer temperatures making the inside of the SCS uncomfortably warm) (127).

Operators intending to apply for a mobile SCS exemption need to include the following in their application:

- Description of the mobile unit (van, trailer, camper, or recreational vehicle/motorhome, etc.);
- Address of where the mobile SCS would be parked outside of operating hours (94);
- Route plan (i.e., neighbourhood(s) and/or specific address(es) of stop(s) and/or the geographic range of operation) (94);
- Confirmation that illegal substances will not be stored in the vehicle overnight (i.e., transferred to, and stored in, a fixed location until picked up by police, or driven to police); and

• For each stop, confirmation of support from the owner(s) of the property (i.e., municipal government if stopping on public property and/or landlord if stopping on private property).

Example of a mobile SCS - Kelowna

In July 2017, Health Canada approved the application for a mobile SCS in Kelowna. The service was housed in a retrofitted recreational vehicle (RV), which parked at two fixed locations (downtown and Rutland area) in Kelowna from Tuesday to Saturday in four-hour shifts (127). The RV contained two booths and additional space used as a waiting room (128). People who used this mobile SCS could only inject - other forms of consumption were not permitted. From June 2017 to July 2018, the service reported having over 26,000 visits and reversing 47 drug poisonings (128). In addition to supervising injections and responding to drug poisonings, staff of the SCS provided naloxone kits, nursing care, and referrals to medical and social services (128).

3.3 Other Considerations for Service Provision

There are many potential opportunities to expand the operation and scope of SCS. This includes focusing on the specific needs of key populations (e.g., people who identify as women, 2SLGBTQIA+ [2-Spirit, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer or questioning, Intersex, Asexual, plus], youth and young adults, Indigenous Peoples); accommodating non-injection drug use and injection in high-risk areas (e.g., jugular vein, groin); offering assisted consumption and splitting and sharing of drugs; and integrating drug checking services and/or safer supply programs (129,130). Each of these ideas for expansion is discussed in further detail below. See section **2.2 Practicing a harm reduction philosophy of care** for guidance on service provision using harm reduction, relational practice, and cultural safety approaches.

However, it is also important to note that the three SCS models outlined above limit services to people who can travel to the SCS, whose consumption practices are accommodated within the SCS, and who are not deterred from SCS due to the stigma associated with illegal substance use. Virtual supervised consumption services (e.g., phone or web applications which monitor substance use and are typically staffed by people with lived/living experience (131,132)) expand and address these gaps in service delivery by monitoring participants' level of responsiveness and activating local emergency services as needed. For example, the National Overdose Response Service (NORS) offers both telephone and application based drug poisoning prevention support across Canada and the United States. However, virtual supervised consumption services models are out of scope of this document. For additional reading on virtual supervised consumption services, including other virtual supervised consumption services.

• <u>The Brave Co-Op - The Brave App</u> (132)

- Bristowe et al. Virtual Overdose Response for People Who Use Opioids Alone: Protocol for a Feasibility and Clinical Trial Study (131)
- Grenfell Ministries et al. National Overdose Response Service (NORS) (133)
- Lifeguard Digital Health Lifeguard Digital Health (134)

3.3.a Considerations for key populations

We use the term 'key populations' to refer to groups who—due to specific social and structural inequities—are more likely to experience substance-related harm. A growing body of literature (135–138) documents the importance of accounting for diverse and unique needs of key populations in supervised consumption service planning and implementation as one way to reduce access barriers and promote health equity for various subpopulations of people who use drugs. Below we outline emerging evidence and practice related to the inclusion of key populations within SCS models of care.

People who identify as women

People who identify as women and use drugs face unique and intersecting sets of challenges and dangers resulting from gendered power relations, criminalization, and violence. In Vancouver's Downtown Eastside, people who identify as women and inject drugs who are under the age of 30 are 54 times more likely to die prematurely when compared to the Canadian non-drug-injecting population of the same age, most frequently via homicide (139,140). Compounding these health inequities, people who identify as women and use drugs experience high rates of homelessness, everyday violence (e.g., victimization and sexual abuse), criminalization, and barriers to accessing harm reduction, health, and social services (141–143).

People who identify as women are more likely than men to seek assistance from another person when injecting, which places them at an increased risk for HIV, HCV, drug poisoning, and other drug-related harms (144–146). Research suggests that this tendency to seek assistance with obtaining, preparing, and injecting results from unequal power relationships, a lack of knowledge of how to inject, and gendered power-relations with substance-using male sexual partners (142,147,148). Reliance on a male sexual partner for drug injection can expose people who identify as women to intimate partner violence, including physical, sexual, emotional, and financial abuse, as well as elevated risk for HIV infection (142,144,149). However, prohibiting assisted consumption in SCS does not stop these dynamics. Accommodation of assisted consumption is critical to increasing SCS access among women who use drugs who would otherwise avoid SCS (150). It is imperative that people who identify as women and need help with administering their drugs be allowed to receive that help, either from SCS staff or their own helper to avoid gendered power relations. See **3.3.c Assisted consumption** for more information.

Healthcare access barriers and stigma are especially amplified for people who identify as women and are pregnant and/or parenting (151,152). For example, fear and the possibility of child apprehension (e.g., Canadian child welfare system involvement) discourage pregnant or parenting women who use drugs from openly seeking support for substance use, including accessing SCS (153–155). This is concerning, as consuming drugs alone and in public spaces can expose people who identify as women to violent victimization, and often interferes with their ability to protect their health (142). This may be especially true in the context of illegal drug markets that are saturated with illegal fentanyl and analogues which can produce rapid onset of severe intoxication (150). People who identify as women and use drugs in public spaces also report being subject to hassling or "grinding" by men for money and drugs (149).

Despite the unique vulnerabilities experienced by people who identify as women and use drugs in Canada and internationally, most substance use services are tailored to target and serve men who use drugs (156). Consistent with this, SCS tend to be male-dominated spaces. While mixed-gender supervised consumption services allow people who identify as women to avoid risks associated with using drugs in public (149), the ongoing presence of gendered violence and power dynamics in these spaces discourages women from accessing these services (150,157–160). As such, mixedgender supervised consumption services can perpetuate gender disparities in substance use related risks and everyday violence (150,160). People who identify as women and access women-only supervised consumption services have reported feeling more comfortable, relaxed, and safe in comparison to experiences at mixed-gender SCS (157). People who identify as women also cite high levels of trust in staff, allowing them to speak openly. As a result, women report being more willing to accept offers of help in women-only supervised consumption services (7). SCS only for people who identify as women available overnight were identified as particularly beneficial for people who identify as women and use drugs and engage in sex work as there are limited safe spaces available during those times (160). To our knowledge, there are currently only two supervised consumption services serving only people who identify as women worldwide: Ragazza located in Germany, and SisterSpace in Vancouver (161). Two other supervised consumption services, one in Switzerland (7) and one in Toronto (162) also offer women-only consumption services for limited hours each week. A model serving only people who identify as women was also opened for a brief period in Mexico (163).

Beyond implementing SCS models for people who identify as women, SCS operators can also support people who identify as women and consume illegal drugs by:

• Offering space/hours at the facility dedicated to people who identify as women (however, this is less ideal than a dedicated women-only SCS, as staff would have to deny access to men during these hours which would increase their risks of harm, and men may still be around the SCS during the women-only hours);

- Providing accommodations within the SCS to help maintain privacy of people who identify as women and are unable to inject themselves, want to inject in intimate areas, and/or are pregnant;
- Providing safer consumption and other targeted harm reduction education for people who identify as women;
- Providing women's health services, such as reproductive and sexual health services, and referrals to women specific health and support services in the area;
- Establishing gender equity and gendered violence policies in the facility (e.g., explicit rules on, and consequences for, discrimination and violence against people who identify as women within SCS), including staff training and codes of conduct for SCS participants;
- Offering tools and resources for violence prevention (e.g., bad date sheets); and
- Providing harm reduction and support services run by people who identify as women.

2SLGBTQIA+

2SLGBTQIA+ are at greater risk for earlier substance use initiation and have higher rates of substance use compared to their heterosexual counterparts (164–167). 2SLGBTQIA+ individuals experience extreme stigmatization and discrimination across their life spans and are often targets of violence (e.g., sexual and physical assault, harassment, hate crimes) (168,169). As a result, 2SLGBTQIA+ Canadians are more than twice as likely than heterosexual Canadians to use drugs to cope with emotional, physical, and sexual abuse (170). However, 2SLGBTQIA+ people also use substances as part of social and community life (171). Substance use patterns by 2SLGBTQIA+ people can vary from those observed in the general population. For example, drug use, particularly methamphetamine use, within sexualized contexts may be more common amongst 2SLGBTQIA+ people (167,172). 2SLGBTQIA+ people may also use drugs more frequently through non-injection routes of consumption (173,174).

Despite the high prevalence of substance use among 2SLGBTQIA+ individuals, few access supervised consumption services or feel confident that they can access supervised consumption services if they need to (167). Safe spaces for 2SLGBTQIA+ remain an ongoing challenge in harm reduction and there are currently no known SCS tailored specifically towards this group of people who use drugs.

SCS operators can better support 2SLGBTQIA+ people who use drugs by:

- Providing tailored harm reduction education and interventions for using drugs in sexual contexts;
- Providing tailored harm reduction education and interventions for methamphetamine use;
- Ensuring access to inhalation and intranasal drug use supplies; and
- Employing 2SLGBTQIA+ staff.

Youth and young adults

In Canada and around the world, youth who are below the age of majority (<18 or 19) or age of consent for healthcare (as stipulated by each province and territory (175)) are often excluded from SCS and other harm reduction services due to age restrictions and parent/guardian consent requirements (176,177). This is concerning, because SCS facilities have the potential to reduce the harms of ongoing drug use among youth and provide connections to health and social support. Several expert bodies in Canada have recommended including underage youth in supervised consumption services and other harm reduction services, including the BCCSU, the British Columbia representative for Children and Youth, and the Office of the Child and Youth Advocate Alberta (177–179). Similarly, the World Health Organization and Harm Reduction International recommend removing age restrictions and parent/guardian consent requirements for harm reduction services to increase accessibility (6,180). Other calls to action include opposing abstinence based approaches, ensuring confidentiality (e.g., communicating with participants on what information - if any - can be shared with family members, caregivers, other staff, etc.) and implementing harm reduction services requirements for people accessing an SCS.

In general, we recommend avoiding policies that prevent SCS access among youth because they may exclude a population that is highly vulnerable to substance use-related harms. Such harms are elevated among structurally vulnerable youth, such as those who have left their family due to conflict, who live in poverty, who are unstably housed, or who live and work in the streets (182). These social-structural conditions can lead to an array of risk behaviors among youth, including injection drug use, risky sexual practices, survival sex work, syringe sharing, and consumption of drugs in public spaces such as parks or alleyways (183,184). Consequently, structurally vulnerable youth experience an elevated risk of HIV or HCV infection (185–188), drug poisoning (189), and premature mortality (139,190).

Additionally, prior research has consistently shown that youth and young adults (aged 18-30) are more likely to engage in riskier injection practices compared to older, more experienced people who inject drugs (180,183,191–193). Given their relative inexperience with injecting, young people often lack knowledge of safe injection practices (193–195). They are also more likely to receive assistance with injection from close friends, peers, or sexual partners, which may involve sharing of injection equipment (196). As a result, young people experience a disproportionate burden of HIV and HCV infection compared to older people who use drugs (197–199). Young people may also lack knowledge of factors that increase drug poisoning risk, such as polysubstance use (192). SCS and other harm reduction services can reduce substance use-related harms among young people by educating them about safer consumption practices and drug poisoning prevention (196).

SCS can also help address various barriers to accessing health and social services that youth who use drugs face. These barriers include difficulty establishing and maintaining trust with authority figures and institutions (200–202). This distrust may be related to prior institutional trauma, such as government care or incarceration (203,204). Youth may have also been previously victimized or exploited by their caregivers, which can contribute to mistrust of adults in general (205). Other barriers include experiences of stigma and discrimination from service providers, fear of police or other government agency involvement, a lack of personal identification or fixed address, lack of knowledge of services, and long waitlists for programs (200,202,203,206,207).

Engaging youth through SCS can help build positive relationships with a population who may otherwise be unlikely to engage in health and social services (177). Ethnographic work with structurally vulnerable young people (aged 14-26) has demonstrated how harm reduction-oriented services can facilitate establishing meaningful relationships with service staff, which can be a valued source of social support (177). Additionally, previous research with youth (aged 14-26) in Vancouver found that SCS uptake was greatest among youth with high risk of drug poisoning and infection of HIV or HCV, such as those who injected drugs daily, injected in public, and who lived or spent time in the Downtown Eastside neighborhood surrounding the SCS (208). A similar study found youth who inject drugs who were homeless, injected in public, had loaned needles or experienced a drug poisoning in the last six months were more likely to access SCS (24). These results suggest that SCS can provide an important point of contact with vulnerable youth who may otherwise be hard to reach with conventional public health efforts and addiction treatment services (208).

While SCS have the potential to reach populations of marginalized young people, several obstacles have been identified that contribute to lower use of harm reduction services among youth compared to older adults (180,191,193,209). Young people who use drugs are often uncomfortable accessing harm reduction services that are primarily used by older individuals (184,202,209–211). Some may also be reluctant to access harm reduction services given the stigma attached to these interventions (183,184). Additionally, there are several developmental issues that can make engaging young people in harm reduction services challenging, including negative experiences with authority, general suspicion of those in helper roles, and high valuing of self-reliance and protection of autonomy (209). Structural barriers include the location of most programs in urban centers, which are often far from neighborhoods in which many young people reside and use drugs (184). As well, often inexperienced drug users have few social networks of people who use drugs and are poorly connected to harm reduction in their communities (184).

These obstacles to harm reduction service uptake have spurred calls to develop more youthoriented services, including SCS (177,180,184,209). The development of such services needs to meaningfully involve young people who use drugs in the planning, design, implementation, and evaluation of services (180,209). In previous consultations, youth have called for youth-oriented SCS to be integrated within other services where youth congregate, such as drop-in centers, shelters, and youth community centers (177). Additionally, youth have indicated that having young peers in harm reduction roles can increase engagement and offer valued guidance and mentorship (177,180,209). Youth-oriented SCS models are a promising intervention that may help increase uptake in the future. However, given the potential for SCS to help mitigate some of the risks associated with drug use, it is important to have policies in place to include youth within current SCS models such as:

- Conditions for access to the SCS for minors. SCS facilities are appropriate for youth who have a history of drug use. Provide SCS access to youth who report drug use and intend to consume pre-obtained drugs. For youth who do not meet the above criteria, provide access to resources that more appropriately meet their level of need (e.g., developing safety plans, promoting the use of monitoring services such as NORS);
- *Youth intake protocols if granted access to the SCS*. As indicated by their assessment, provide expedited referrals to primary health care, addiction medicine services, shelter, and mental health services;
- Protocols consistent with provincial/territorial guidelines for suspicion of youth in need of protection. For youth under 18 who are at immediate risk of harm other than substance use, a report to children's services may be appropriate.
 - For more information on provincial and territorial child protection regulations see (212);
- Confidentiality. For youth under 18, ensure that SCS participants are aware of their rights to confidentiality and that any limits of confidentiality due to mandatory reporting responsibilities are made clear (180). Low-barrier registration processes (e.g., anonymous, not asking for ID; see 8.1.a Government issued identification and personal health numbers) may also support youth accessing SCS;
- Safer consumption education for inexperienced youth. Offer to teach young SCS participants safer consumption techniques and provide information on drug poisoning prevention and response (192,213); and
- *Involving young peers where possible.* Youth have also indicated that having peers with lived experience involved in harm reduction and support services may improve engagement and offer valued mentorship and support (177,180,209).

Indigenous Peoples

In Canada, Indigenous Peoples (First Nations, Inuit, or Métis) experience disproportionate rates of substance use disorders, substance-related harm and criminalization, unstable housing, and homelessness (214). The increased structural vulnerability of Indigenous Peoples directly reflects the legacy of colonization and intergenerational trauma inflicted by the residential school system, as well as contemporary systemic and systematic discrimination and socioeconomic marginalization (215,216). There is an urgent need for the core involvement of Indigenous Peoples in the

development and implementation of substance use services and programs (217). To this end, it is imperative that Indigenous Peoples are at the forefront of decisions on implementing SCS and determining whether SCS are valuable to their communities, to avoid perpetuating colonial practices of setting up services that these communities may not want or need. Outlined below are overarching principles to consider when designing and operating SCS with and for Indigenous Peoples. (Note that this list has been adapted from the *BC First Nations and Aboriginal People's Mental Wellness and Substance Use 10 Year Plan* (218)).

- Recognize that culture, traditions, and language are the foundation to healthy individuals, families, and communities;
- Support approaches that ensure Indigenous Peoples receive safe and effective care from health providers;
- Find ways to address travel and funding barriers that make it hard for Indigenous Peoples to access substance use programs and services;
- Build and strengthen capacity among Indigenous communities;
- Make sure that services and programs are kept local, when possible;
- Support broad, collaborative multi-system approaches that consider social and economic determinants of health;
- Build and strengthen partnerships among Indigenous communities, the regional, provincial, and federal systems and non-governmental organizations, including improved coordination and leveraging of innovations and resources;
- Make sure that health and human service providers work in a manner that is culturally safe and respects individual customs, values, and beliefs;
- Recognize that the social determinants of health have a key role in mental wellness and empower communities and leadership to address these determinants through inter-sectoral collaboration and action;
- Encourage approaches that are based in and build on individual, family, community, and cultural strengths;
- Reduce stigma against Indigenous Peoples who use substances; and
- Recognize that responses to addiction and substance use can be gender specific. This includes men and women, and 2SLGBTQIA+ individuals. Programs and supports may need to be modified to support this population.

In the context of harm reduction service provision, it is imperative that culturally appropriate care is available (219). Indigenous harm reduction services aim to address a broader range of harms by including harms associated with colonization (220,221), and are underpinned by the following principles (219):

• Decolonizing services (e.g., providing trauma-informed care in SCS);

- Indigenizing services (e.g., supporting Indigenous-led development of cultural services for SCS participants);
- Providing holistic services (e.g., working with SCS participants to address poverty);
- Providing inclusive services (e.g., ensuring everyone is comfortable using the SCS, regardless of their ethnicity, age, gender, or sexual orientation); and
- Providing innovative and evidence-based services (e.g., integrating Indigenous healing practices into SCS).

For more information on Indigenous harm reduction, please see the following:

• First Nations Health Authority - Fact Sheet: Indigenous Harm Reduction Principles and Practices (222)

Indigenous harm reduction practice within existing SCS is often limited to referrals to external organizations (223). However, integrating culturally safe care has been associated with improvements in health outcomes in other health and social service settings (221,224). Therefore, it is important to integrate Indigenous harm reduction practices within SCS as much as possible.

3.3.b Considerations for non-injection drug use

Internationally, a recent scoping review identified 48 supervised consumption services that reported accommodating people who use drugs by non-injection routes of administration, most of which were in Germany (225). Most SCS in Canada have received federal approval to monitor the consumption of drugs via intranasal, oral, and inhalation routes of administration. When possible, it is important to plan, implement, and evaluate SCS catering to non-injection routes of administration.

Drug consumption by inhalation or smoking

While the majority of SCS in Canada have exemptions that support intranasal and oral routes of consumption, as of April 12, 2022, only two federally exempted SCS have ever been able to offer supervised inhalation services (9) (one in Lethbridge, which closed in August 2020 due to funding challenges - see example below - (136), and one in Saskatoon, which began operating on October 1, 2020). Several OPS, however, do offer inhalation services outside the purview of the federal government. Barriers to offering inhalation services may include physical space and adequate ventilation (225), which may require costly installation or retrofits. Utilizing outdoor areas for inhalation has also been practiced in the absence of ventilated rooms (225). However, local non-smoking laws may be an additional barrier to implementing supervised inhalation services. For example, operators of a Toronto SCS are unable to open their inhalation booth due to Ontario's

smoke-free laws, despite the fact that a large portion of their participants would prefer to consume via inhalation over injection (226).

People who use drugs via inhalation are at risk of experiencing drug poisonings and other drug related harms. A recent report on drug poisoning deaths in Alberta in 2017 indicated that amongst 653 opioid-related poisoning deaths, 23% were related to either inhalation or intranasal use (smoking and snorting, respectively) (227). In Ontario, at least 33.7% of opioid-related poisoning deaths were due to inhalation between March 16 and December 31, 2020 (228). In addition, data from populations of people who smoke drugs indicate high rates of pipe-sharing (229), which is associated with an increased risk of HCV transmission (230,231). Compared to people who only inject drugs, injecting and inhaling drugs is associated with increased risk of HIV seroconversion (232).

Feasibility and needs assessment studies on non-injection routes of consumption support the potential public health impacts of inhalation rooms (46,233–237). Participants who attended an unsanctioned supervised consumption service for inhalation in Vancouver indicated that it minimized structural and drug-related violence among people who smoke drugs and helped address stigma related to smoking drugs in public areas (238). In addition to providing harm reduction services for people who smoke drugs, modelling studies suggest supervised inhalation services may be cost-effective for preventing substance-related harm (29). There is also evidence to suggest that supervised consumption services can help reduce public drug use and pipe sharing (239), and provision of sterile inhalation supplies (i.e., glass pipes, rubber tubing, foil) within these services can help promote smoking over injecting (240). While many European jurisdictions have implemented supervised inhalation services, these facilities have not yet been well-studied to date (237). More research is needed to establish the effectiveness of supervised inhalation programs for reducing substance-related harm (237). The current lack of supervised inhalation spaces presents a barrier to the successful evaluation of these services, and challenges service providers' abilities to offer the full scope of harm reduction and substance use treatment and other supports to all people who use drugs. When designing and implementing supervised consumption services, integrating supervised inhalation services, including the provision of sterile inhalation supplies, is particularly important in settings where a significant portion of people who use drugs do so via inhalation (241–243).

Example of a SCS offering supervised inhalation/smoking: Lethbridge's AIDS Outreach Community Harm Reduction Education Support

The first Canadian SCS to allow four modes of consumption (inhalation, injection, intranasal, and oral) operated in Lethbridge (136) between February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2020. Lethbridge is a mid-sized city (population of approximately 100,000 people), and is the fourth largest city in Alberta (244). In order to operate, the AIDS Outreach Community Harm Reduction Education Support (ARCHES) SCS needed to comply with federal, provincial, and municipal smoking legislation (136). In

addition, the SCS operators worked with Alberta Labour and followed Canada's occupational health and safety regulations to ensure their operations were up to code (e.g., ensuring proper ventilation) (136).

The ARCHES SCS was located in a large building offering many other health and social services, and was open 24 hours each day (245). The consumption room contained 13 injection booths and two inhalation rooms (246). Each room could accommodate multiple people inhaling their drugs at once, and were separated to allow the consumption of different drugs without cross-contamination (136). Each SCS participant was permitted to spend up to 45 minutes in the consumption area (246). The SCS also included a space for post-use monitoring, as well as education, nursing care, and referrals to other services.

In the event of a drug poisoning, observing staff pressed a button near the observation station, and the air inside the inhalation room was rapidly ventilated and replaced with fresh air. The staff member was then able to enter the room and tend to the drug poisoning as necessary (136). Between January 1 and March 31 2020, the facility had 60,098 visits, an average of 439 unique participants per month, and reported attending to 320 drug poisonings requiring medical attention (e.g., oxygen, naloxone) (247). The high number of visits led many to claim ARCHES as Canada's busiest SCS, and possibly even one of the busiest supervised consumption services in North America (248,249).

For more examples and information on supervised consumption services supervising inhalation/smoking see the following resources:

- <u>Gehring et al. The State of Science on Including Inhalation within Supervised Consumption</u> <u>Services: A Scoping Review of Academic and Grey Literature</u> (237)
- Lem et al. Inhalation Room Prototype Design (250)
- Speed et al. To What Extent do Supervised Drug Consumption Services Incorporate Non-Injection Routes of Administration? A Systematic Scoping Review Documenting Existing Facilities (225)

Rectal drug consumption

Rectal drug consumption is another route of consumption used by people who use drugs which generally involves instilling dissolved drugs into the rectum to experience psychoactive effects (251,252). This practice is not currently permitted in SCS under Health Canada exemptions; however, Health Canada assesses each application on a case-by-case basis, and interested SCS may want to include rectal drug consumption in their exemption applications for consideration as some SCS participants may be interested in, or currently engaged in this practice. Offering rectal consumption harm reduction education and supplies to participants as needed will help SCS

operators reach participants who are interested in this practice if it is not permitted within their SCS.

Specific considerations for rectal consumption in SCS include:

- Maintaining privacy of participants;
- Provision of supplies such as needleless syringes and lube; and
- Providing specific harm reduction education.

Further resources on rectal drug consumption:

- <u>ACToronto Booty Bumping</u> (251)
- MAX Ottawa Do the Bump. The Booty Bump That Is (252)

3.3.c Assisted consumption

Until 2020, peer- (clients/participants who use drugs) assistance (i.e., assisted drug consumption) was not permitted in federally exempted SCS, and provider- (nurse or other staff members) assistance was not permitted at the time of this publication. Health Canada cites two reasons for this omission: 1) lack of legal protection for the person helping if harm were to come to the person being assisted, and 2) lack of professional guidance for nurses to administer illegal drugs (137). However, banning peer- or provider-assisted consumption creates a barrier to SCS access for people requiring assistance consuming drugs (144); requiring assistance, particularly with injection, is associated with increased substance-related harm (68,135,137) that is exacerbated when excluded from SCS. Increased risk behaviours (e.g., being forced to inject themselves, seeking assistance outside the SCS) are unable to be monitored or mitigated when people requiring assistance are excluded from SCS (253). Specifically, repeated unsuccessful self-injection attempts can lead to vein damage, and bacteria from the skin or other surfaces may be deposited in a person's blood and tissue. As a result, abscesses, sepsis, endocarditis, and other severe bacterial infections may occur (254), which can lead to lengthy treatment with intravenous antibiotics, disability, and death. Other harms experienced by people requiring assistance include increased vulnerability to theft of drugs, missed injections, and drug poisoning (255), as well as increased risk of syringe-sharing, street or partner-related violence, physical, economic, and emotional abuse, and exploitation (137,256). People who require but are unable to access assisted consumption often leave SCS to seek assistance elsewhere, and therefore do not access the health and social supports provided by SCS (258). This especially disadvantages vulnerable subpopulations of people who use drugs, including women reliant on men to inject them (68), people with disabilities who cannot inject themselves (137), people who do not know how to inject safely, and people who are in active withdrawal (258).

Peer-assistance

In 2018, Health Canada implemented a peer-assistance pilot study of select SCS. Participating SCS were required to apply specifically for an updated exemption to participate in the pilot study, and submitted monthly reports to Health Canada indicating data elements such as the frequency of visits in which peer assistance was requested, the reason cited for requesting assistance, basic demographic information of SCS participants requesting assistance, and referrals to health, social, or treatment services. In 2020, peer-assistance was added to the list of authorized services that prospective SCS operators can include in their applications, and as of April 12, 2022, 25 SCS in Canada are actively offering this service (9). Supervised consumption services in Canada offering peer-assistance have successfully engaged and reduced harms among structurally vulnerable higher-risk subpopulations of people who use drugs (e.g., women, those experiencing structural violence and/or unstable or lack of housing) (68,135,253,259).

Health Canada states that SCS applications intending to include peer-assistance must include and adhere to the following policies and procedures (94):

- Staff cannot administer illegal substances to participants while on shift (including staff peer support workers);
- Participants wanting to receive peer-assistance must be given harm reduction education about routes of consumption other than injection (e.g., inhalation, oral, intranasal) permitted in the SCS prior to allowing peer-assistance;
- If lack of knowledge is the barrier to self-consumption, staff must give guidance on how to self-consume, whereas if the barrier to self-consumption is a physical disability, limitation, or other condition (permanent or temporary), staff should provide physical supports to allow the participant to self-consume;
- If staff cannot support self-consumption, informed consent and a liability disclaimer need to be discussed with the participant requiring assistance and their designated peer (including potential criminal liability associated with peer-assistance);
- Staff must discuss the basics of safer consumption (e.g., sterile supplies, hand-washing, angle of needle insertion, bevel up, etc.) with the designated peer and;
- If the designated peer plans to self-consume at the SCS within the same visit, they must assist the other participant first.

SCS operators intending to offer this service might also consider developing additional policies or documents, similar to those used in the pilot study (253), which address the following:

- Specialized data collection tools to ensure timely reporting on this practice (e.g., age, gender, reason for assistance, successful/unsuccessful assistance); and
- Staff protocols that clarify:

- the process for identifying and accommodating requests for peer-assistance,
- procedures for preventing syringe sharing between the designated injector and person being injected, and
- procedures to prevent exploitation or coercion of vulnerable individuals who cannot self-inject.

Provider-assistance

Despite recent success in allowing peer-assistance in SCS, provider-assistance has yet to be approved. While providers are able to indirectly assist participants to self-consume (e.g., helping find a vein, stabilizing syringe while the participant inserts the needle, removing the tourniquet, adjusting the angle of the syringe, removing the syringe in cases of drug poisonings), SCS providers, including peer support workers, cannot: 1) administer illegal drugs directly into SCS participants; 2) insert needles into participants' skin; and 3) depress the needle plunger.

In Vancouver, a peer-run, non-exempted OPS allowed trained volunteers to inject OPS participants who requested support. While these volunteers potentially faced legal risks involved in injecting others, including criminal charges (68,260), they still elected to help participants in need. In a qualitative study of this service, participants reported that volunteer-assistance within the OPS helped minimize common health risks associated with self-injection or peer-assistance occurring outside the service (e.g., blood-borne disease transmission by minimizing receptive syringe sharing and unhygienic conditions), and helped people who need help injecting to avoid drug scene violence (68).

Nurse-assistance has been implemented in some European supervised consumption services (137). However, there remains a number of legal and regulatory hurdles preventing nurse- or providerassistance within federally-regulated SCS in Canada. Legislative reform and/or regulation and policy change is required to facilitate formal implementation and evaluation of this practice within SCS in Canada (137).

While people with lived or living experience of substance use employed as SCS staff cannot provide peer-assistance while on shift, they can provide peer-assistance off-shift when they are using the SCS as a registered participant or as a designated "peer". See **3.3.c Assisted consumption** for more information.

3.3.d Splitting and sharing drugs

Splitting and sharing of drugs (i.e., "dividing a portion of illegal substances between clients, before or after drugs are prepared for consumption") (94) (p.12) has historically not been permitted in federally exempted SCS as it was considered "trafficking" (261). This restriction has been

documented as a barrier to accessing supervised consumption services for people who use drugs (262,263), and disproportionately impacts women and youth (198).

In July 2020, Health Canada began consultations with supervised consumption service operators to prioritize changes to policies related to splitting and sharing. A national working group formed through the Canadian Association of People who Use Drugs (CAPUD) and the SCS/OPS Service Providers UPHNS Community of Practice to highlight the impact of excluding splitting and sharing and suggest pathways towards policy change (264). The first initiative this group undertook was the development and distribution of a survey for individuals who work at or access supervised consumption services for personal drug use. The survey demonstrated that 92% of respondents were in favour of allowing splitting and sharing, with 61% believing there should be no limitations around amounts shared (265).

The survey results also highlighted harms generated through restrictions to splitting and sharing, with 62% of (n=140) respondents who have worked in a supervised consumption service reporting negative impacts as a direct result of restrictions. Among the top three reported impacts, 87% reported clients needing to exchange substances outside the supervised consumption service (potentially increasing vulnerability to violence or arrest), 68% reported clients needing to prepare their doses outside the supervised consumption service (potentially under unsafe or unsterile conditions), and 64% reported participants leaving the supervised consumption service and not returning.

Through the efforts and findings of the national working group, Health Canada updated the policy regarding drug splitting and sharing within SCS in July 2021. Applicants are now eligible to apply for drug splitting and sharing as an exempted service offered at SCS. Current federally exempted SCS can submit an amendment application to include this service (see reference (266) for a protocol template).

The new Health Canada policy (94) (p.12) states that:

- Staff cannot split or share drugs for SCS participants while on shift;
- Splitting and sharing can only involve SCS participants;
- Each SCS participant participating in splitting or sharing drugs must be consuming the drugs at the SCS during their visit;
- Splitting and sharing must take place under staff supervision in the consumption area;
- Splitting and sharing must not include exchanges for goods, services, or financial compensation; and
- Drug dealing remains prohibited.

For SCS who already have an exemption and would like to be authorized to add splitting and sharing to their available services, it is important to reflect this change in other relevant policies and procedures (e.g., in the Code of Conduct: "clients must remain in possession of their own drugs at all times, except if engaging in drug splitting/sharing [and assisted consumption, if applicable] as per the applicable policies and procedures").

For a protocol template to incorporate splitting and sharing in SCS, please see the following:

• Ranger et al. - Splitting & Sharing in OPS/SCS Protocol Template (266)

3.3.e Drug checking

Drug checking is a service that employs various technologies (e.g., testing strips, spectrometry) to provide information about the composition and/or purity of illegal drugs. Depending on the method employed, drug checking can detect the presence of various psychoactive substances (e.g., fentanyl, benzodiazepine) and cutting agents in a sample (267). Drug checking can provide people who use drugs with information about potential drug poisoning risk and what substances are circulating in the local illegal drug supply, improve the ability to respond to drug poisonings, and increase awareness about drug poisoning risk (267–269).

Emerging evidence suggests that use of drug checking technologies may promote safer drug use practices. For example, one study from the United States found that 43% of survey participants who used fentanyl test strips on their own (outside the context of supervised consumption services) reported changes in drug use behaviour (270). The most commonly reported behaviour changes were using less drugs than usual and performing a test shot (i.e., injecting a small amount at first to gauge potency) (270). A recent study (268) conducted at Vancouver's Insite showed that SCS participants accessed drug checking services in 1% of visits to the facility during the study period, and fentanyl was detected in drug samples in 80% of these 1121 visits. Furthermore, following a fentanyl-positive pre-consumption drug check, this study reported that 36% of participants indicated they planned to reduce their dose and 11% said they planned to dispose of their drugs. However, recent qualitative research from Vancouver examined perspectives of people who use drugs on a variety of drug checking technologies. Participants reported low willingness to use drug checking services due to not wanting to give up a portion of their drugs for testing, the time it takes to get results, the low accuracy of the tests, and their limited recourse if their sample came back positive for fentanyl (269).

Before implementing drug checking into a SCS, the benefits and limitations of drug checking technologies should be considered. Spectrometry is considered the gold standard due to its accuracy and precision, however equipment and operational costs associated with this technology

are high (271). Test strips may be a more cost-effective and lower-barrier option, but provide less information about the content of drugs and are less valid in detecting synthetic opioids (271). It is also important to consult with people who use drugs to assess the acceptability and feasibility of implementing this innovation in SCS settings. For example, a feasibility study in a Canadian setting found that people who use drugs prioritized confidentiality, accuracy, and usefulness of information (e.g., amount of contamination and effects of contaminants) when considering drug checking services (272). As of July 2023, 29 SCS in Canada provide drug checking as part of their service models (9).

3.3.f Integrating substance use treatment and safer supply programs within SCS

SCS have been shown to increase uptake of substance use treatment, including withdrawal management services and addiction treatment, among people who use drugs who access the SCS facilities (31,32).

Service providers at SCS should be able to inform SCS participants about available substance use treatment options and assess SCS participants for willingness to access treatment. Importantly, honouring the needs and priorities of SCS participants is required to ensure person-centered care. SCS could either provide on-site treatment programs for substance use or establish strong referral pathways in their local area (where available) that SCS participants can access if they choose to, including:

- Addiction medicine specialist consultation;
- OAT;
- Addiction counselling;
- Ambulatory or outpatient substance use treatment programs;
- Inpatient and residential treatment programs;
- Recovery-oriented services including peer-support programs and other resources;
- Where indicated, withdrawal management programs that provide linkages to substance use treatment;
- Where relevant:
 - Youth-focused ambulatory and residential substance use treatment services,
 - Women-only ambulatory and residential substance use treatment services,
 - Indigenous ambulatory and residential substance use treatment services; and
- Housing (both harm reduction and abstinence-oriented models).

Additionally, link SCS participants to a family physician or integrated primary health care teams whenever possible. It is critical that conversations regarding substance use treatment with SCS

participants follow culturally safe and trauma-informed principles (see 2.2.b Relational practice, cultural safety, and trauma-informed care).

Treatment - oral and injectable OAT

OAT is medication-based treatment for people with opioid use disorder. OAT involves taking oral opioid agonists such as methadone, buprenorphine/naloxone (Suboxone), or slow-release morphine (Kadian) (273). In Canada, methadone or buprenorphine/naloxone are the most commonly available forms of OAT (274) and evidence suggests that both medications are equally effective (275,276). However, current Canadian clinical guidance recommends buprenorphine/naloxone as the first-line treatment given its advantages over methadone (e.g., reduced risk of fatal drug poisoning, less adverse reactions and drug-drug interactions, flexible takehome dosing) (274). Methadone is recommended to be considered for individuals responding poorly to buprenorphine/naloxone or with a preference for methadone are ineffective or contraindicated (274). However, concerns regarding limited effectiveness of OAT within the current toxic illegal drug supply (e.g., fentanyl) have some prescribers calling for induction protocol updates to achieve therapeutic doses more quickly in order to increase engagement and retention in OAT (277).

Injectable opioid agonist treatment (iOAT) is an evidence-based, cost-effective medical treatment for people with opioid use disorder who do not adequately benefit from oral OAT (278). In Canada, iOAT programs dispense injectable liquid hydromorphone or liquid diacetylmorphine. Both drugs have effectively the same clinical benefits (279,280); however, hydromorphone has been shown to have fewer side effects (oversedation or seizures) and is currently more readily available in Canada than diacetylmorphine. In a clinical trial comparing iOAT and methadone among a cohort of patients who had not previously benefited from methadone, those receiving iOAT showed higher treatment retention (88% vs 54% on methadone), reduced criminal activity and illegal drug use, and improved health and social functioning (279,281). Current Canadian clinical guidance recommends individuals self-administer iOAT medications via intravenous, intramuscular, or subcutaneous injection under the supervision of qualified health professionals (278).

In Canada, the integration of OAT within SCS is relatively common (282,283) and a few SCS have begun integrating iOAT programs within their service models. For example, Ottawa Inner City Health's managed opioid program has integrated iOAT within the context of supportive housing and a SCS (284), the RAH in Edmonton and the Dr. Peter Centre in Vancouver have also initiated participants on iOAT within their SCS (109,285). These facilities demonstrate that integrating iOAT within a SCS is feasible. However, there are a number of factors related to physical space, pharmacy access, and staffing that need to be considered (285). If interested in integrating oral or injectable OAT within your own facility, consult the CRISM iOAT clinical guidelines (278) and operational guidance document of opioid use disorder (273) for detailed information on implementing these services.

Example of an iOAT program embedded within a SCS – Royal Alexandra Hospital

The RAH's SCS in Edmonton supports an iOAT program for inpatients to access during their hospital stay, which began in-hospital in October 2018. Patients are evaluated for eligibility for iOAT by the hospital's addiction medicine consultation service. If eligible, patients attend the SCS at a predetermined appointment time (up to 3 times a day) and are provided pre-filled syringes of hydromorphone according to their individualized treatment plan. Patients inject under observation by a nurse in the SCS, which is required to reduce potential for diversion. Injection into the groin or neck is prohibited, and the patient must be able to self-inject. Patients remain in the site for 15-30 minutes post-injection for monitoring for drug poisoning or other adverse events. The SCS communicates with the community iOAT program to ensure successful bridging of patients, post-discharge.

The Albertan government announced that all provincial iOAT programs would close in March 2020 as they were ceasing funding for the programs (286). This prompted a legal battle (287) and the suspension of iOAT at the RAH SCS for both new and existing patients. In March 2021, the government announced it would continue to fund iOAT (288), and the RAH SCS resumed their iOAT program, but only to existing clients.

Safer supply

In Canada, efforts to address the national drug poisoning emergency – which is largely being driven by an increasingly toxic illegal drug supply – have led to the development of 'safer supply' programs in some jurisdictions. Safer supply programs aim to provide people who use drugs with pharmaceutical-grade alternatives in known doses in an effort to reduce drug poisoning risk and other negative health outcomes (284). Safer supply programs were also developed as a potential strategy to address some of the current limitations of traditional agonist treatment programs, such as: high drug costs and limited availability of injectable formulations, rigid dosing requirements and missed dose protocol, urine drug screens, titration and home doses ('carries') limitations, and patient preference for preparing and injecting tablets (e.g., oral hydromorphone) rather than receiving pre-compounded syringes or oral medications (289–291). However, hydromorphone tablets have not been approved for injection use in Canada (292). In addition, while evidence supports the benefits of safer supply programs, some research indicates potential unintended harms, particularly when supplying oral tablets that people later crush up and inject (284). For example, this research suggests that injecting oral medications can increase the risk of skin and soft tissue injuries, circulatory problems, and infections compared to pharmaceutical-grade liquid formulations (284).

It is also worth noting that safer supply programs are not considered treatment, and they allow participants to determine when (and often where) they consume drugs (293). Pilots of a variety of safer supply programs (involving various medications and both observed and unobserved dosing) are ongoing in Canada.

People with lived/living experience should be consulted when designing and implementing safer supply programs. There are many potential strategies for implementing access to pharmaceutical alternatives to illegal drugs within and outside of SCS settings. However, it is important that safer supply programs within SCS do not take away from requirements for participants using drugs from the illegal drug supply (e.g., ensure adequate room to respond to drug poisonings), who are at higher risk of drug poisoning and other harms associated with using drugs of unknown quality and toxicity.

Operators interested in theoretical and emerging safer supply models may wish to consult the following resources for more information:

- <u>BCCSU Heroin Compassion Clubs</u> (294)
- <u>BCCSU Risk Mitigation in the Context of Dual Public Health Emergencies</u> (295)
- <u>CAPUD Safe Supply Concept Document</u> (296)
- <u>CRISM Injectable Opioid Agonist Treatment National Clinical Guidance</u> (278)
- <u>CRISM Injectable Opioid Agonist Treatment National Operational Guidance</u> (297)
- <u>CRISM Medications and Other Clinical Approaches to Support Physical Distancing for</u> <u>People who use Substances During the COVID-19 Pandemic: National Rapid Guidance</u> (298)
- Hales et al. Safer Opioid Supply Programs (SOS): A Harm Reduction Informed Guiding
 Document for Primary Care Teams-April 2020 update (299)
- Health Canada Toolkit for Substance Use and Addictions Programs Applicants (284)
- Young et al. Characterizing Safer Supply Prescribing of Immediate Release Hydromorphone for Individuals with Opioid Use Disorder Across Ontario, Canada (300)

Example of a safer supply program embedded within a supervised consumption service -Molson Overdose Prevention Site

The Portland Hotel Community Services Society is piloting a hydromorphone tablet dispensing safer supply program at the Molson Overdose Prevention Site (MOPS) in Vancouver. In the MOPS program, people are dispensed 8 mg crushed hydromorphone tablets which they consume under the supervision of MOPS staff up to five times per day, with one hour minimum between doses (284,290,291,301). Participants prepare and consume the dispensed medication by their preferred

route of administration (of those allowed within MOPS). While outcomes research on the MOPS safer supply program is currently ongoing, preliminary qualitative research has documented a high willingness to access the program among structurally vulnerable people who use drugs (291), as well as self-reported decreases in the use of illegal opioids and engagement in criminalized income generating activities (291).

Treatment and safer supply for stimulant use

Stimulant use and its associated harms have risen drastically in North America in recent years, yet have received significantly less attention than opioid-related harms (302). Unlike opioid use disorder, there is a lack of medication treatments available for stimulant use disorder (303). However, there is some evidence to suggest that the psychostimulants methylphenidate and dextroamphetamine may be appropriate treatments for methamphetamine use disorder (304,305). For people who use stimulants and opioids, iOAT programs have been able to help participants self-manage their stimulant use and promote improvements in their health and social wellbeing (306), and SCS offering iOAT programs therefore present an opportunity to engage with individuals using stimulants. Safer supply for stimulant use disorder is also limited (305).

Treatment and safer supply for inhaled drug use

There is also an increasing drug poisoning risk for people who use drugs through inhalation (307), however available OAT and safer supply options cannot be smoked. In SCS where safer supply programs are provided, be mindful of the dynamics between participants who are and are not able to access a safer, more stable supply of substances and continue to advocate for the availability of safer alternatives that meet the needs of people who use drugs. It is important to provide appropriate services and supports to meet the needs of participants using stimulants (e.g., evidence-based psychosocial interventions) and/or inhalation (e.g., integrating inhalation into SCS, safer use education, sterile smoking supplies; see **3.3.b Considerations for non-injection drug use**).

3.3.g People who inject into high-risk areas on the body

Injecting into the neck, armpit, hand, and groin present higher risk of harm than injecting into the arm. These areas are harder to see and veins in these areas are often larger, increasing risk of damage, serious circulatory problems, and life-threatening infections (308). Despite these risks, people who inject drugs use these alternative injecting sites for many reasons. For example, some people inject into the groin or neck because all other viable veins have been exhausted or choose to inject in the groin because it is convenient or considered a 'sure shot' (309,310). While some SCS have internal policies restricting what areas of the body injection is permitted, feasibility studies show that people who use drugs oppose rules prohibiting neck and groin injections (311,312) and Health Canada does not have specific rules on what areas of the body injection is permitted. It is

therefore important for SCS to be inclusive of participants who wish to inject into these high-risk areas. Tailored SCS services or resources for this group of people who inject drugs should include:

- Assisting groin and neck injectors to find other viable injecting locations, if they choose;
- Providing safer use education on high-risk injecting sites;
- Determine clear protocols when permitting assisted consumption (see **3.3.c Assisted consumption**); and
- Accommodations to help maintain privacy of participants injecting in intimate areas.

3.4 Security and the Safety of SCS Participants and Workers

As with any health service, it is important to ensure the safety and security of all participants, staff, and the service itself.

Drug poisonings can occur anywhere in a SCS (e.g., bathrooms, waiting rooms, consumption room). Therefore, proper visibility and monitoring of SCS participants at all times is critical to preventing drug poisoning deaths. Further, occasionally untreated mental health issues, adverse reactions to stimulants, withdrawal, or chaotic circumstances may lead to behavioural concerns for some participants. Such behaviours may place staff and other SCS participants at risk. While ensuring that services are as accessible as possible, the facility layout, staffing, training, and protocols need to minimize potential security issues and maximize safety.

Health Canada requires that the main doors of the SCS lock, site policies and procedures clearly indicate who is responsible for the distribution of security access control (e.g., keys, fobs), and a system is in place for recording entry and exit of SCS participants and visitors from the consumption area (313). While there are no other required physical or security specifications, consideration of the following features could be included in the planning process of SCS:

- Secure entrances and exits that ensure the ability to manage SCS participant flow (i.e., ideally all rooms would have two potential exits);
- Adequate lighting in all areas;
- Open layout for the drug consumption area with open sight lines so that all SCS participants and staff are always visible, and there is adequate space for drug poisoning response. If a person requires a privacy screen for injections in sensitive areas, preserve a sight line as much as possible;
- Video monitoring of entrances, exits, and drug consumption area (or a private/closed off consumption area) if appropriate (e.g., security, pandemic responses [e.g., to support physical distancing]) and in accordance with local privacy legislation/guidelines and the local community of people who use drugs;

- Use of mirrors in any areas not directly visible, including drug consumption booths, to monitor SCS participant activity and level of consciousness;
- Adequate ventilation to prevent second hand exposure to drugs that are heated prior to consumption and/or inhaled drugs if applicable;
- Personal protective equipment and infection control measures, such as gloves, aprons, gowns, masks, eye goggles, and sharps containers (please see your regional Occupational Health and Safety policies and procedures);
- Maintaining a minimum staff-to-client ratio to accommodate medically and physically safe environments, and SCS participant load;
- Ability to access back-up staff or security personnel, as necessary;
- Contingency plans in circumstances where SCS participants are refused service (see **5.6 Refusal of service)**;
- Clear protocols outlining in what circumstances police are or are not allowed on site (e.g., when de-escalation procedures are unable to remove the threat of violence); and
- Clear protocols outlining the recording of serious incidents (e.g., serious occurrence and serious adverse events reporting), and how to monitor actions taken in response to incidents to prevent and/or mitigate further incidents.

Make SCS participants aware of the security features and any codes of conduct during their initial screening intake and emphasize that these features help to ensure the safety of both SCS participants and staff. Demonstration of adequate site security may also help to increase the confidence and buy-in of local stakeholders, such as police, policy makers, and community groups and partners.

Early consideration of insurance and liability matters are also important. Some new SCS operators have identified securing appropriate liability insurance as being a barrier to opening a site. SCS that are hosted by an organization or have support from the provincial/territorial government may be able to secure insurance through these channels, but the extent of liability insurance needs to be determined in consultation with the host organization. Some sites require a waiver of release from liability to be signed by SCS participants before using the site.

3.4.a Safer washrooms

Even when implementing SCS, it is imperative that operators acknowledge that drug use may occur in washrooms (314). Making SCS washrooms safer to prevent drug poisonings or other substance use related harms within the washroom stalls or area is required (314). Below, we outline staff actions and physical components of the washrooms for consideration when designing safer washrooms.

Staff actions to create safer washrooms

- Always being aware of when the washroom is in use, and knowing how to gain entry to a locked washroom in the event of an emergency;
- Develop protocols for regular washroom check-ins, including how frequently staff should check in with a participant in the washroom and at what point should staff enter the washroom (to maintain participant privacy, check-ins should only include knocking on the door/speaking through the door and staff should not enter the washroom unless an emergency is suspected);
- Develop protocols for responding to an emergency in the washroom;
- Ensure SCS participants are aware of safer washroom protocols and practices (e.g., by posting the protocols in the washroom); and
- Be mindful of where sharps may be placed or discarded and be careful of these areas when cleaning the washroom.

Physical components of a safer washroom

- Install accessible and tamper-proof sharps containers inside the washroom;
- Ensure washrooms have adequate lighting;
- Maintain emergency response supplies (e.g., naloxone, oxygen, etc.) in or near washrooms;
- Ensure staff are able to open washrooms doors in the event they need to respond to an emergency (e.g., installing doors which unlock after a fixed period of time) and that staff are always aware when washrooms are in use (e.g., installing washroom doors that leave a space between the bottom of the door and floor that is small enough to not compromise participants' privacy but large enough that staff can tell if the washroom is in use or if a participant has fallen (315));
- Ensure all washroom doors are outward facing (in the event someone falls down, they cannot block staff from entering and responding);
- Install anti-motion sensors (e.g., sensors which sound an alarm or other signal upon detection of no motion for a period of time) (316);
- Install an intercom system to allow communication between participants and staff (315);
- Provide a flat space (e.g., counter space, table) for people to place their belongings;
- Install an emergency call bell that is accessible from the ground in the event the participant has fallen (e.g., attached to a string) (315);
- Ensure there is sufficient space between the walls and toilet (e.g., to prevent someone from falling and getting stuck in the event they lose consciousness); and
- Consider the advantages and disadvantages of designing single occupant or multi-stall washrooms (e.g., single occupant washrooms offer more privacy for SCS participants but

may lead to a delayed response during a check-in if no one is around to immediately witness the emergency) (315).

Operators wishing for more information on safer washrooms can consult the following resources:

- Buchheit et al. "Opening the door to somebody who has a chance." The experiences and perceptions of public safety personnel towards a public restroom overdose prevention alarm system (317)
- <u>Migliardi Safer Washroom Evaluation</u> (314)
- University of Victoria The Safer Bathroom Toolkit (318)
- <u>Vancouver Coastal Health Overdose Prevention & Response in Washrooms:</u> <u>Recommendations for Service Providers (315)</u>

4.0 Description of Local Conditions

4.1 Determining Need

Health Canada requires prospective operators requesting a SCS exemption to share information on local conditions in the community that can be used to identify unmet health needs. Therefore, prior to planning or designing a SCS, it is important to assess and understand the local context of drug use and services for people who use drugs. As part of this process, operators should consider the following questions (in addition to the other factors discussed in the document):

- Who is the target SCS participant population? How large is this group?
- What are the needs of local people who use drugs?
 - What are the drug use trends of the target SCS participant population (e.g., type of substances, frequency of substances, mode of consumption)?
 - What is the current rate of drug poisoning deaths? What is the current rate of Emergency Medical Services (EMS) calls for drug poisonings? What is the quality of the current illegal drug supply?
 - Is there evidence of under-addressed drug-related harms (e.g., injection-related infections, rates of HIV or HCV)?
 - Are many local people who use drugs consuming drugs in public or semi-public spaces (e.g., restrooms)? Is there a concern about improperly disposed syringes or other drug use equipment in the area?
 - Are there specific (sub) groups of people who use drugs who do not access existing services or referrals? What are the barriers/challenges that these program participants face in accessing these services or referrals?
- Are local people who use drugs willing to use a SCS?
- What is the optimal design and distribution of SCS to meet local needs?
- What other key stakeholders need to be consulted to ensure the program's success?

All kinds of data are acceptable but when available, quantitative descriptions are considered to be higher quality than qualitative for the purposes of securing a SCS exemption. The Local Conditions section in Health Canada's application is also where prospective operators may elaborate on local crime rates or trends, and the expected impact of a SCS on community or neighbourhood crime. When indicated, applicants are expected to identify mitigation strategies to address possible negative impacts of SCS on public safety, such as measures to ensure the appropriate disposal of used drug use equipment outside the SCS premises. These measures could be related to the physical building or property (e.g., sharps disposal boxes), the neighbourhood (e.g., public contact information dispersed to community associations, outreach staff connecting with participants), or municipal services (e.g., outreach or syringe disposal teams in the community).

SCS feasibility assessments in the local context may be useful to answer these questions. It is possible to conduct a small-scale assessment on limited budget and time. To ensure adequate engagement of people with lived/living experience of drug use, involve local people who use drugs in the planning and execution of such feasibility work, as has been done successfully in the past (46,319). A feasibility assessment can help strengthen operators' rationale for opening a SCS and past research has shown that expressed willingness to use a SCS predicts future use of a SCS (320). Such work may also shed light on issues that operators have not anticipated. For instance, the operators may discover that local people who use drugs are not interested in consuming drugs under the supervision of trained staff, but are open to carrying naloxone (medication used to reverse an opioid poisoning). This finding can help operators better channel their resources into developing and/or expanding community-based naloxone training programs or other services. If there is a local drug users' group, it may be an excellent community partner for designing and conducting this feasibility assessment. Please see **2.1 Centering the perspectives of people who use drugs** for details on best practices for involving people who use substances in the SCS feasibility assessments.

4.1.a Community consultation and engagement best practices

Community consultation requirements may challenge efforts to establish SCS (125). However, Health Canada requires evidence of consultation as part of the SCS exemption application process, but does not provide any specific requirements regarding what the required community consultation and engagement must entail (i.e., it can consist of anything prospective operators deem meaningful for capturing opinions regarding the proposed site). Health Canada typically expects that consultation and engagement be broader than engaging only with prospective SCS participants, and include unbiased reporting of the feedback received, and for all feedback to be treated equally. Relevant stakeholders will vary according to local context and the SCS model proposed, but could include community partners and other health and social service providers, nearby businesses, police, neighbourhood associations, and residents. During consultation, it is imperative to communicate the public health benefits of SCS and that the goal is to identify potential issues or concerns and strategies to mitigate them.

Common issues identified by stakeholders that could be addressed during community consultation include the goals and functions of SCS (e.g., drug poisoning prevention, safety, reduction of public drug consumption, provision of harm reduction education); concerns regarding the location, rules and regulations of the SCS; and suggestions for change (321). The following are examples of

community engagement and consultation actions that can be undertaken to meet Health Canada's requirements and successfully integrate the SCS into public health and health care services as well as the broader community:

- Create a Community Advisory/Liaison Committee (CAC) to provide an opportunity for
 ongoing communication and collaborative problem-solving on issues or misunderstandings
 that may arise related to SCS operations. The CAC could consist of key stakeholders, which
 may include representatives of key staff at proposed location, local Business Improvement
 Association or Chamber of Commerce, local police department, local health and social
 service organizations, local hospitals, local businesses, local housing complexes, local
 Indigenous organizations, communities, and nations, local residents, advocacy groups for
 people who use drugs, and/or groups of people who use drugs, as appropriate. Which
 stakeholders to include depends on the unique context and goals of the proposed SCS. It is
 important to recognize that who is invited to participate in the CAC will affect the quality of
 trust people who use drugs invest in the SCS.
- Develop a tour plan for the proposed location, including a walkthrough of proposed service locations, such as the waiting area, consumption area, and post-consumption area. May also consider developing a sketch of the location's proposed SCS space (if area bears some additional description). Invite key stakeholders and media to tour the space.
- Develop Frequently Asked Questions sheets and other informational resources, which may include background information on SCS, the demonstrated need for SCS in the area, the proposed SCS model, the timeline for the SCS, the anticipated benefits of implementing the SCS and how they meet the vision for the neighbourhood, and common myths associated with SCS. Provide resources in a variety of different mediums (e.g., hard copies, websites, mailed flyers, telephone hotline) to ensure diverse and equitable distribution and access to the information.
- Prevent the development of anticipated issues such as discarded needles and syringes by organizing the distribution of sharps containers and cleaning up of drug use supplies in the neighbourhood. This can be aided through risk and needs assessments.
- Offer harm reduction education sessions with neighbouring agencies, residents, and interested groups in the community.
- Start small (e.g., one-on-one meetings, focus groups) and increase efforts and capacity (e.g., community workshops, open houses, education forums, online surveys, information sessions, door-to-door canvassing) to ensure concerns can be addressed before wider dissemination.
- Keep engagement with the community open after the SCS is implemented (e.g., including a telephone number, email, and/or comment box on the SCS website for feedback).

The consultation report submitted to Health Canada needs to describe all activities undertaken, all comments and feedback received, and measures taken or in progress to address any concerns.

Note that letters of opinion from a provincial or territorial Minister of Health are considered but not required for SCS exemption applications to Health Canada. While community concerns may not change even with ample consultation, it is important that service access and health benefits are prioritized throughout the design, implementation, and operation of SCS (322).

According to Health Canada, the exemption application can be submitted for review prior to the completion of the community consultation and the police record check for the RPIC. Considering the length of time the approvals can take, it is advised to submit the application prior to completing and submitting the community consultations and police record check, as these tasks can require a large amount of time.

4.2 Defining Overall SCS Goals

Once the local context is understood, define the overall goals, targets, and outcomes for implementing a SCS. The goals and outcomes need to be in line with local service needs (with the input of people who use drugs in the area and communities affected by drug use), as well as achievable with available resources. Undertaking this conceptual work can help operators clearly establish a rationale for the facility, map the range, scope and scale of services they will offer, and more effectively channel their resources.

In relation to their target SCS participant population, operators may consider any number of the following potential goals:

- To reduce rates of drug poisoning-related harms (e.g., ambulance calls, hospitalizations, deaths);
- To reduce rates of drug-related transmission of blood-borne infections among people who use drugs (i.e., HIV and HCV);
- To decrease the rates of acute health complications that are related to injection drug use (e.g., soft tissue infections, infective endocarditis or myocarditis);
- To improve uptake of, and access to, health and social services among people who use drugs;
- To improve knowledge and uptake of, and access to, harm reduction practices and services amongst people who use drugs;
- To improve knowledge and uptake of, and access to, drug treatment services, including a range of OAT programs (including iOAT) and recovery-oriented programs amongst people who use drugs;
- To reduce drug use in public or semi-public spaces, including inappropriately discarded drug use equipment and related litter;
- To facilitate social inclusion and connection among people who use drugs; and

• To combat stigma.

Keep in mind that the goals and aims of their facility may change over time, in accordance with funding and staffing, as well as changes in the needs of the SCS participants, local service networks, and local drug scene.

5.0 Policies and Procedures

5.1 General Policy Documents to Consider

It is important for operators to establish clear procedural protocols and policies regarding SCS, as well as the role of each staff member who is authorized to provide supervision and/or clinical support in these spaces. Health Canada's SCS website provides further guidance to support prospective operators in the drafting of their site-specific policies and procedures. Health Canada requires the following policies to be included with SCS applications:

- Roles and responsibilities of staff members, including training requirements (e.g., RPIC, alternate-RPIC, training logs, etc.);
- Response to unidentified substances left behind on premises (i.e., methods of containment, storage, record keeping, preventing their loss or theft, and notification of local police department for removal), including record-keeping and reporting forms;
- Security measures to minimize risks to health, safety, and security of all persons at the site (e.g., entry/exit log; Code of Conduct; floor plan showing physical security features, exits, etc.); and
- Procedures for drug checking, assisted consumption, and splitting/sharing of drugs (if applicable).

The following policies and procedures are not required for application submission but attestation that they exist and are operational is required on the form:

- Disposal of sharps and biohazardous materials (including how it is removed from the premises); and
- Consideration of provincial or territorial government guidance on establishing a SCS, if any.

Typically, protocols and policies also address the following:

- Participant inclusion criteria, intake, registration, and assessment for acute toxicity and specific health care needs, such as vein care, abscess management, sepsis from soft tissue injuries, and other symptoms;
- Drug consumption room(s) procedures, including provision of equipment;
- Needlestick injury protocol;
- Safer consumption and harm reduction education;
- Provision of naloxone and associated training;

- Post-consumption care procedures (e.g., assessment for signs/symptoms of soft tissue injury and medical emergencies);
- Treatment/clinical room procedures for abscesses, cellulitis, vein care, infection, and other healthcare needs;
- Drug poisoning response;
- Responding to pregnant, breastfeeding, under-age, overtly aggressive or intoxicated participants, and SCS participants who are on OAT or consuming alcohol concurrent to drug use;
- Cleaning protocols and infection prevention and control measures;
- Staff use of SCS to consume illegal substances on or off shift; and
- How to respond to emergency situations (e.g., weapons, bomb threats, emergency evacuation plans).

The protocols and policies may involve step-by-step procedures, documentation (e.g., charts, or electronic records), and referral pathways within the facility or outside the facility if the service is in another organization.

5.1.a Notifying Health Canada of changes to procedures and policies

SCS operators are required to notify Health Canada (by emailing <u>exemption@hc-sc.gc.ca</u>) if:

- There is a death at the SCS related to activities involving illegal substances (notification must occur within 24 hours of the death);
- The SCS was closed for longer than 24 hours (notification must occur within 48 hours of closure);
- The SCS no longer provides drug checking services, or allows peer assistance or drug splitting/sharing, as applicable (notification must occur within 48 hours of this change); and
- There are any changes to security measures or procedures or policies that could lead to an increased risk of public safety and security (notification must occur within 10 working days of the effective date of the changes, and include a description of the revised security measures and a copy of the revised procedures and policies).

5.2 Code of Conduct/Rights and Responsibilities

In order to ensure safety of SCS participants and staff, establish a code of conduct or "house rules" that outline the rights and responsibilities of SCS participants and staff. It is recommended that operators develop the code/rights and responsibilities in consultation with SCS participants to ensure that people who use drugs are active participants in their own harm reduction practices and to build rapport between the facility and local people who use drugs. Developing these policies with

people who use drugs may also help to avoid potential harms, such as being banned from the service, and helps ensure that such policies do not seem external or arbitrary. Codes/rules need to be clearly communicated to SCS participants; common methods of communication include verbal or written acknowledgement during the registration process and posters clearly posted in the SCS. Codes/rules that are required by federal exemption guidelines include:

- Restricting drug consumption to specifically designated areas of the SCS;
- Specifying which routes of administration are and are not allowed at the SCS (e.g., injection, oral, inhalation, intranasal, rectal);
- Prohibiting selling or trading drugs on site;
- Requiring participants to maintain possession of their own drugs at all times, unless engaging in assisted consumption and/or drug splitting and sharing (if either are applicable to the SCS);
- Prohibiting staff from providing illegal drugs to SCS participants; and
- Prohibiting staff from taking control or possession of illegal drugs at any time, other than in instances of drug checking conducted by staff or drugs left behind (where drugs must be stored in a locked cabinet and local police department to be notified and asked to remove the substance).

In addition to those required by federal exemption guidelines, the following code/rules may be useful:

- Prohibiting staff from providing SCS participants information on where or how to obtain illegal drugs;
- Depending on the individual context and capacity of the SCS, as well as SCS participant needs, the amount of time SCS participants can use drug consumption rooms/booths in one sitting may be applied (e.g., 30-45 minutes);
- Prohibiting loud or offensive language and threatening or intimidating staff and other SCS participants;
- Requiring SCS participants to clean up their consumption area after using in the consumption space and to dispose of used materials in designated disposal receptacles;
- Encouraging SCS participants to help keep the facility clean;
- Reminding SCS participants and staff that SCS participants are entitled to non-judgmental service from staff and a clean, peaceful environment in which to consume drugs; and
- Reminding SCS participants and staff that staff reserve the right to refuse service if the SCS participant does not meet the eligibility criteria (see **5.6 Refusal of service**) or does not adhere to house code/rules.
5.3 Eligibility and User Agreement

The first interaction with new SCS participants is an opportunity to establish rapport and trust with SCS participants within a welcoming environment. Appropriate forms and written protocols (e.g., user agreements and consent forms) for intake procedures for first time participants to an SCS could include:

- Screening for eligibility (according to site policies);
- Informing the SCS participant about services offered and hours of operation, and introducing the SCS participant to SCS staff (as appropriate);
- Informing the SCS participant about expectations, rules, and protocols for using SCS (see **5.2 Code of conduct/rights and responsibilities** for examples);
- Informing the SCS participant about their rights and responsibilities when using SCS (see **5.2 Code of conduct/rights and responsibilities** for examples);
- Informing the SCS participant about any data collection for monitoring, evaluation or research purposes, as well as appropriate ethical considerations; and
- Assessing the SCS participant for any need for specific physical care, their knowledge of harm reduction techniques and ability to apply these to drug use, as well as their knowledge of harm reduction services

5.4 Pre and Post-Consumption Procedures

Clearly map out the SCS participant's footpath when accessing the SCS. For each of the steps listed below, it is important to consider where the step will take place in the facility, which (and how many) staff members will be involved, what the staff's responsibilities and roles are, and what the appropriate procedures and protocols (including documentation) are:

- Intake/assessment and waiting area;
- Drug consumption room(s);
- Harm reduction/safer consumption education;
- Disposal of drug consumption equipment;
- Treatment room (for basic nursing/medical care and responding to drug poisoning); and
- Post-consumption area.

In addition to consumption-specific procedures, consider the appropriate staff member to provide ancillary services, such as counselling, peer support, and referrals, and the number of hours they will be available, based on the needs of SCS participants

5.5 Conflict Management

There may be instances where SCS staff are required to respond to a crisis situation and/or aggressive behaviour by a SCS participant. Each situation will be unique and all facility staff need to be trained in crisis management and de-escalation techniques, as well as relational practice, cultural safety, and trauma-informed care (see **2.2.b Relational practice, cultural safety, and trauma-informed care** the safety of all SCS participants and staff.

5.6 Refusal of Service

SCS are often a safe space for people who use drugs and conflict is typically resolved without incident; however, SCS may reserve the right and obligation to refuse service if the staff deems that drug consumption will potentially put the SCS participant in danger to themselves or others, if the SCS participant does not adhere to the code of conduct or house rules, if the facility is full, or for other reasons pre-determined by the facility operators. Only refuse services in exceptional circumstances and prioritize the prevention of invoking this policy as much as possible. The intent of refusal of service should be used to balance the rights, safety, and wellbeing of the individual being refused service with other SCS participants, staff, and the community at large. If a SCS must refuse service, ensure that this is done in a low barrier manner. This means instituting a refusal of service process that is uncomplicated (e.g., minimizing the need for paperwork) and is non-punitive. Refused participants should be made aware of other options for safer drug consumption.

Take a culturally-safe and trauma-informed approach to harm reduction to ensure that structures (e.g., policies and laws) that inform drug-related harms are not being upheld (88) (see **2.2.b Relational practice, cultural safety, and trauma-informed care**). Developing a trusting relationship with the participant may mitigate the need to refuse service due to behaviour.

When designing SCS facilities, be mindful of the demand for services in the local area to minimize refusal due to operational constraints (88) (i.e., site capacity, mode of consumption). Ensure policies support access of the most structurally vulnerable SCS participants (e.g., those who need assisted consumption, youth, women) rather than limit access due to their unique needs (see **3.3.a Considerations for key populations**).

Refusal of service policies should:

- Be established in partnership with people with lived/living experience;
- Be applied consistently for all SCS participants, across all SCS staff;
- Employ a culturally-safe and trauma-informed approach to refusing service;

- Outline a clear procedure that indicates why, when, and how a participant would be asked to leave, as well as the steps to regaining access;
 - Facilities may wish to pre-develop an individual behaviour plan mutually with some participants as a form of shared decision making, which may include identified positive behaviours, challenging behaviours, specific date of return, participant feedback, overview of the participant's needs, and options to increase their safety while away from the facility. Clearly communicate this plan to all staff;
- Determine the length of refusal through shared-decision making with the SCS participant;
- Give participants the ability to appeal their refusal of services and the length of time they are being refused the service;
- Be clearly outlined and communicated to all participants and staff (see **5.2 Code of conduct/rights and responsibilities**); and
- Include tracking and analyzing data on refusal of services (e.g., monitoring rates, shifts, times of the month) to understand, monitor, and tailor refusal of service policies to minimize the impact of these policies.

5.7 Drug Poisonings

Given the unregulated drug supply, SCS operators must have clear, predetermined protocols and policies to deal with potential drug poisonings. These protocols and policies will need to meet local legal or regulatory requirements, and therefore may differ between jurisdictions. The protocols and policies should be living documents and developed by individuals well versed on SCS operations. These could address:

- Staff education and training including,
 - Keeping up to date with current local drug trends,
 - Complex drug poisoning response training such as in the case of combined benzodiazepine and opioid use, or medical complications (e.g., fentanyl-induced muscle rigidity, cocaine-induced psychosis);
- Drug poisoning response equipment (e.g., personal protective equipment, bag-valve-mask, oxygen tank and tubing) and equipment maintenance (e.g., checking for expiry dates, filling oxygen tank);
- Drug poisoning intervention procedures;
- Assessment procedures;
- Manual ventilation;
- Drug poisoning reversal and medication administration policies, and medical directives (i.e., oxygen, naloxone hydrochloride);
- Responding to cardiac and/or respiratory arrest;
- Responding to a stimulant poisoning;

- Procedures for transferring care to paramedics and emergency departments, including when to call EMS or police services, what specific information to provide to dispatchers, and how to prepare for their arrival on site; and
- Be trauma-informed, and acknowledge and minimize the effects of opioid withdrawal.

Ensure that all staff members are sufficiently trained to provide responses to drug poisonings. Protocols and policies should also be developed for other medical emergencies (e.g., seizures, strokes, heart attacks).

6.0 Personnel

6.1 Staffing Models

Operators will need to consider the number and type of staff who are involved in providing SCS, in accordance with the services offered, the facility's budget and capacity (i.e., the number of consumption booths and the number of people attending at one time), and scope of practice and regulations outlined by professional bodies. Although many SCS employ nurses or other healthcare professionals, there is no requirement to include healthcare workers in the SCS staffing model. For all staff, outline the roles and responsibilities, workplace safety protocols, policies, and procedures regarding the following:

- Minimum staffing levels, skill-sets, competencies, and training required to carry out duties while maintaining a safe environment, supporting job satisfaction, and preventing burn-out;
- Clear guidance on principles, resources, and structures for delivering evidence-based SCS;
- Clear guidance for health professionals regarding scope of practice and competence to be used as part of the SCS from appropriate professional regulatory bodies/colleges for physicians, social workers, nurses and other regulated health professionals,
 - Operators may also consult the International Consensus Statement on the Role of Nurses in Supervised Consumption Sites (73). This 2019 statement included input from 17 experts from 10 countries with SCS. The document was created with the intention that it would inform decision-makers and employers about the role of nurses in SCS;
- Adherence to relevant legislation and regulations as applicable (e.g., provincial Health Professions Acts, Hospital Acts, Public Health Acts, etc.);
- Health and safety for SCS participants and staff (e.g., non-violent crisis intervention, universal precautions for blood-borne pathogens, needle stick injuries);
- Compliance with regional Occupational Health and Safety policies and procedures and emergency and/or disaster (e.g., fire, bomb threat, earthquake) preparedness and response;
- Compliance with other relevant regional, provincial, federal policies and/or legislation;
- Cultural safety (78,101), attention to social determinants of health, and reduction of stigma; and
- When designing the staffing model for a SCS, balance budgetary concerns with SCS participant safety and risk management, particularly in relation to possible drug poisoning events and other emergencies.

Though staffing models will change based on objectives and target population, typically people involved in the operation of a SCS may include some combination of nurses (e.g., registered nurse, licensed practical nurse), social workers, paramedics, harm reduction/outreach or peer support workers, mental health workers, counsellors, physicians, and volunteers.

Hiring people with lived/living experience of substance use into these staffing roles is standard. Employees with lived/living experience have specifically been identified as important within SCS, with past feasibility work indicating that most people who use drugs prefer having employees with lived/living experience present within supervised consumption services (319), and that their involvement increases feelings of comfort among people who use drugs (59). Employees with lived/living experience can engage with SCS participants to provide education, relationship building, and support, and other health and social services depending on their training. Though some staff may have lived/living experience, position titles should be reflective of their duties and not solely their lived/living experience to avoid class distinction between 'professional' and 'peer' role. In addition, it is important to provide an opportunity for staff with lived/living experience to shape their own title, as some may prefer a 'peer' title while others may not. It is also important to ensure equitable working conditions and equitable compensation for employees with lived/living experience, including providing equivalent pay and benefits (including physical and mental health supports), full-time equivalent positions, and advancement opportunities as provided for 'professional' employees.

Federal policies do not require the presence of licensed healthcare professionals to operate a SCS. If the employees supervising consumption are not regulated health professionals, such as harm reduction or outreach workers, Health Canada requires details outlining extra training that will be provided to these personnel, including drug poisoning response training. Nurses or other healthcare professionals may also staff the site to provide emergency care, injection-related skin and wound care, conduct pre-and post-consumption assessments, and initiate referrals to other health and social services where appropriate. Also, where appropriate, engage Indigenous Elders, traditional healers, and liaisons at various levels of service and care delivery, including the design of the SCS. All providers in the SCS site should receive training in basic health and safety for SCS participants and staff.

There is a large variety in staffing models in existing SCS, depending on community needs, and the size and resources of the SCS. Determine your staffing model based on what works best for the local context (e.g., the size of the SCS and the operators' goals and desired outcomes), including number of staff, staff hours, and staffing mix.

6.2 Staff Training, Retention, and Safety

Like other healthcare settings, SCS can be challenging environments to work in and it is important to pay special attention to staff training, retention, and safety. Also, at times, the demanding nature of SCS work and ongoing precarious funding can contribute to difficulties with staff retention.

Staff training can be resource intensive; however, it is important to implement a thorough training program and staff supports to ensure the wellbeing and safety of staff and increase retention. Further, operators may consider the following supports (note that this list has been adapted from a document developed by the Dr. Peter AIDS Foundation (323)):

- 1) Implementing processes and protocols to support the emotional wellbeing of SCS staff:
 - a. Regular debriefing and individual meetings to help support resiliency, especially after emergency or stressful situations,
 - b. Use emergency situations as learning and education tools for staff,
 - c. Having counselors on site as needed;
- 2) Providing capacity building opportunities to support staff skill sets:
 - a. Employing people with lived/living experience of substance use can help to destigmatize staff-SCS participant interactions and conversations around drug use as well as ease staff responsibilities,
 - i. Support and training are particularly important for medical staff who may not have as much experience working in community-based settings; and
- 3) Additional training/capacity building for staff with lived/living experience:
 - a. Clearly communicate the roles, responsibilities and expectations of all staff,
 - b. Ensure support is available (e.g., regular meetings and check-ins), and
 - c. Have additional conversations about boundary setting and confidentiality with staff with living experience who may have a dual role of SCS staff and SCS participant, and/or may have existing relationships with SCS participants, particularly those staff who do not have experience working in formal organizations or services.

7.0 Funding Sources

Although the Federal Government is responsible for exempting SCS under the CDSA, it does not currently provide funding to support implementation or ongoing operations. In Canada, SCS operators are required to secure their own funding, typically from provincial/territorial governments, municipal governments, health authorities and/or from private sources (e.g., private donations). The government will not approve a SCS without a description of the financial plan and funding that will be in place. Suggested attachments include:

- Financial statements or audits for the organization(s) applying;
- Documentation confirming sources of funds (private and/or public);
- Confirmation of funding commitments; and
- Budget proposals, including proof of financial support.

8.0 Reporting and Evaluating

8.1 Collecting Data to Fulfill Health Canada and Funder Reporting Requirements

Reporting aggregate demographic and SCS program statistics may be required by Health Canada, provincial/territorial governments, and/or funders. Health Canada requires that all data be maintained on site for the duration of the exemption and be available upon request. Internally, SCS operators may choose to use these reports for monitoring and quality improvement; operators can assess these trends to modify their services to meet the needs of SCS participants. However, the usefulness of these reports depends on the resources available for data collection and analysis, and will vary between different sites. It is, however, important to collect the least possible amount of personal information from SCS participants.

Health Canada and funders will identify their data reporting requirements, which may be standard to a given jurisdiction or unique to each SCS. Common data elements currently collected and typically reported monthly by existing SCS include:

Visit Level Data	
Data Element	Notes
Date of visit	
Time of visit	
SCS participant identifier	Identifiers are anonymous and may be constructed by using participant initials or handle and date of birth. Using these may help SCS participants remember their identifier more easily (see 8.1.a Government issued identification and personal health numbers).
SCS participant's first name or handle	This is the name that the SCS participant prefers to be called by staff in the SCS.
Drug(s) consumed during visit	SCS participants may consume more than one drug per visit.

Route(s) of consumption	Current options include intranasal, oral, inhalation, and/or injection, depending on the routes included in the section 56.1 exemption. SCS participants may use more than one method per visit.
Reason why SCS participant did not consume	Include reasoning why the SCS participant did not consume drugs during the visit if applicable (e.g., could not find a vein, wait time too long, etc.)
Drug poisonings	Include information about the event and response: drug poisoning type (e.g., opioid, stimulant); drug that precipitated the poisoning; typical or atypical presentation of the drug poisoning; poisoning response (e.g., oxygen or naloxone (including amount) provided, other treatment); whether EMS was called, if they responded, and whether they transferred the SCS participant to the hospital; whether the drug poisoning was fatal or non-fatal; whether any other medical emergencies occurred.
Non-drug poisoning intervention	Include what drug(s) the participant consumed; whether the SCS participant required monitoring or oxygen administration (without experiencing a drug poisoning); whether any other interventions were provided to the SCS participant.
Other medical emergency	Include what medical emergency occurred; what interventions were provided to the SCS participant (e.g., oxygen); whether EMS was called; whether EMS responded to the emergency; whether EMS transferred the SCS participant to the hospital.
Services provided to SCS participant	Include what staff provided to the SCS participant (e.g., harm reduction education, addiction counselling, snacks, first aid, etc.)
Internal and external referrals provided to SCS participant	Include any connections to other service providers that staff provided to the SCS participant (e.g., iOAT, addiction counselling, community physician, etc.). These service providers can be within the SCS, in the same building as the SCS (if integrated), or off-site.

Law enforcement	Include whether police were called to address a
	situation.

* NOTE: For each of these data elements, classify nonresponses or missing data as Unknown or Other. Also, Health Canada or a funder may request that the data be categorized by day, week, month, or unique SCS participant (e.g., How many first-time participants attended the SCS this past month?).

|--|

Other Visit Level Data	
Data Element	Notes
Peer assistance	At the minimum, report peer-assisted consumption as a subset of the total number of consumption episodes. SCS may also choose to separately report all data elements for peer-assisted consumption vs. non-peer- assisted consumption.
Drug checking	Capture: i) the number of drug checks performed, ii) the results of the drug check (was the drug what the SCS participant thought it was?), and iii) did the check influence the SCS participant's behaviour (did they change anything about their consumption?)
Splitting and sharing	At the minimum, report splitting and sharing as a subset of the total number of consumption episodes. SCS may also choose to separately report all data elements for splitting and sharing vs. no splitting and sharing.

* NOTE: For each of these data elements, classify nonresponses or missing data as Unknown or Other.

The following SCS participant-level data could be collected upon first visit and updated as necessary to ensure that the space is welcoming and culturally safe for those who use it:

SCS Participant Level Data	
Data Element	Notes
Age	Age upon first visit will suffice, there is no need to track change in age.
Gender	e.g., "Do you identify as male, female, or other?" or "Do you identify with the 2SLGBTQIA+ community?"
Ethnicity (see the Canadian Institute for Health Information's guidance document on standards for ethnicity- based data collection (325))	e.g., "Do you identify as Indigenous, white, etc.?"

* NOTE: For each of these data elements, classify nonresponses or missing data as Unknown or Other. Some of these questions may be sensitive and may need to be modified as appropriate.

8.1.a Government issued identification and personal health numbers

Many people who use drugs prefer to use supervised consumption services anonymously and oppose registration policies (47,325–328). Participants are not required by Health Canada to verify their identity as a condition of accessing SCS under a section 56.1 exemption. In order to protect participant anonymity and privacy, use non-identifiable participant user names and pseudonyms (e.g., participant handles). Asking for, or requiring, government-issued identification or personal health numbers (PHNs) is widely-recognized as a major barrier to care for people who use drugs (312). People who use drugs are often skeptical of the legal protection provided by supervised consumption services and report fears that accessing supervised consumption services will lead to interdiction from police (102,329–332). This causes apprehension about sharing identifiable information with SCS service providers out of fear that this information may be disclosed to police or other officials without their knowledge or consent. Under provincial law, hospitals in Alberta can only deliver clinical care to registered patients. As a result, the RAH SCS records PHNs to confirm patient registration. However, hospital patients in this setting cite this requirement as a major barrier that deters a subset of patients from accessing the SCS (329).

In September 2021, the government of Alberta stipulated that SCS be required to collect PHNs at all SCS, arguing that collecting PHNs is standard practice for health services (333). While this prompted an emergency injunction application to be filed and the regulation delayed until January 2022, the

Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta (334) and later the Alberta Court of Appeal (335) upheld the decision to collect PHNs. In February 2022, the government of Alberta delayed the requirement again until April 2022 to be in compliance with the Health Information Act (333). Plans to continue challenging the policy in court are ongoing (325).

The new regulation and legal proceedings in Alberta have raised human rights concerns and calls for SCS not to require government issued identification or PHNs. It is crucial that SCS do not require government issued identification or PHNs, unless legally required to under their respective jurisdictions. Even if refusal to provide PHN or other identification does not result in exclusion from SCS, simply asking for PHNs is likely to heighten concerns that SCS staff are collaborating with police or that police are accessing SCS records, and will likely deter people who use drugs from accessing these services. Prior research has documented that many people who use drugs are unwilling to engage in other life-saving health services due to fears that it could potentially lead to their arrest and incarceration (326,327).

8.2 Data to Collect to Facilitate the Provision of SCS Services

Operators may consider collecting additional program data that Health Canada or funders will not routinely ask to be included in their reports. This information can be helpful for ensuring the safety of SCS participants and facilitate staff in providing personalized care for each participant. Potential data elements that may be useful for SCS provision include:

Visit Level Data (<u>NOT</u> for reporting)		
Data Element	Notes	
When was the last time you used?	Ask at the beginning of each visit.	
What did you use?	Ask at the beginning of each visit.	
What drugs do you plan to use today?	Ask at the beginning of each visit.	
Have you experienced drug poisoning since you last visited?	e.g., "Have you experienced drug poisoning in the last 24 hours?"	
Have you recently had a break in use?	e.g., "Have you recently gotten out of jail or been in detox or the hospital?"	

Other data elements that may facilitate staff in identifying potential resources that may be useful to the SCS participant include:

Visit or SCS Participant Level Data (<u>NOT</u> for reporting)	
Data Element	Notes
Housing status	Is the SCS participant unstably housed, couch- surfing, etc.?
Health history and current health issues	
Indigenous status	Is the SCS participant eligible for certain services for those who identify as Indigenous or registered Indigenous Peoples?
Treatment history	Has the SCS participant ever accessed detox, treatment, support groups, etc.?
Goals of attendance	Does the SCS participant have any particular goals staff can help them achieve? (iOAT, detox, inpatient treatment, outpatient treatment, etc.)

8.3 Data Collection Platforms and Systems

Various data collection systems are used within SCS across Canada. Specialized data collection platforms allow staff to record and save SCS data to a database in real time. These platforms can be developed in-house by the SCS operators or purchased from an external vendor. Host data on a secure server within Canada to protect SCS participant privacy. If electronic data capture platforms are not feasible, Excel, MS Access, and other database software may serve as a lower cost, if less functional, alternative. If data is recorded on paper, consider entering that data into a secure computer or online database as soon as possible.

When exploring which data collection system to use, there are several issues to consider. If the SCS has several separate rooms and staff throughout the space, recording data for a SCS participant at different times throughout the visit, operators may consider using a computer platform that can be accessed by multiple people at the same time. However, if the SCS space is small and there is only

one location where data is recorded, an Excel sheet on one computer or a paper document may be sufficient.

It is also important to consider how the data will be used and who will require access to it. If the data are to be used internally, identify the program's needs and use them to decide on a data collection system that aligns with the delivery of the program. For example, consider whether the data will be used for government reporting, operational communication between staff, case management or to track client outcomes. If the data are to be used for external comparison to other areas (e.g., sites, cities, provinces), it is important to clearly define medical terms and interventions for comparisons, and to ensure the data collection system being used aligns with the data collection system being used by other SCS.

8.4 Program Evaluation

While Health Canada has specific reporting requirements for SCS, they do not mandate that sites carry out or report evaluation activities. However, for SCS operators with the resources to undertake a program evaluation, it can help ensure that operational goals are being met, that the service is client-centered, and provide opportunities for the development of best practices and optimization of the service. Further, program evaluations often yield useful information for communicating with various stakeholders about the SCS and its impacts on participants and communities.

Evaluation activities can be conducted internally, in partnership with academics, or through third party credentialed evaluators. Decide as soon as possible who will be conducting the evaluation based on available resources, including financial and human resources. Some existing SCS have made their evaluation frameworks publicly available (328) which may facilitate internal evaluations. Other SCS operators may wish to connect with their nearest post-secondary institution or with existing academic partners to develop an evaluation plan. Consult with professional associations such as the Canadian Evaluation Society (336) if you are interested in working with a third-party credentialed evaluator or looking to develop in-house expertise.

SCS are being implemented in many different settings and contexts across Canada, and a service model that is effective in one location or setting may or may not produce the same positive outcomes in another. Ongoing evaluation allows service providers to continue to tailor SCS to meet the needs of people who use drugs in their local communities. Given the rapid scale up of SCS in Canada, program evaluations are also helpful for documenting the evolution of novel service models and practice innovations, and for sharing this information with others providing services for people who use drugs. Further, some provincial governments and other SCS funders may require SCS operators to engage in evaluation activities as a condition of receiving financial support.

There are many potential methods and approaches for evaluating SCS. Two types of program evaluation designs that may be helpful are outcome evaluations and process evaluations. Each design type serves a distinct purpose, although a combination of these designs is beneficial whenever feasible. Outcome evaluations assess the extent to which a program is achieving its aims by measuring its effects on participants' short, medium, and/or long-term outcomes. Some outcome evaluations may also seek to measure whether SCS are having any impact on the broader community. Some examples of commonly measured outcomes in SCS evaluations include:

- Changes to SCS participants' substance use behaviours (e.g., syringe sharing and reuse, improper syringe disposal);
- Changes to SCS participants' drug poisoning death rates;
- Changes to referrals and/or connections to health and social services, and SCS participants' uptake or utilization of these services;
- Changes in public consumption surrounding the site; and
- Changes in prevalence of improperly discarded drug-related litter surrounding the site.

Some outcomes evaluations also seek to measure whether observed benefits justify the costs of implementation to assess whether SCS are cost-effective.

Process evaluations aim to understand if a program has been implemented as designed, how it operates, and who used the program. Understanding how a program operates is crucial to interpreting outcome evaluation results (e.g., How were specific outcomes achieved? Why were other outcomes not achieved?). Process evaluations can assist with monitoring and adjusting implementation as needed to ensure program fidelity and quality; capturing and incorporating SCS participants' and other stakeholders' feedback into program modifications and enhancements; ensuring that the target population is being reached and that there are no undue barriers to access; and monitoring and mitigating contextual factors which may impact program effectiveness. Some examples of what might be examined in a SCS process evaluation are provided below:

- SCS participants' perspectives on the service;
- Staff perspectives on the service;
- Service outputs (e.g., number of visits, unique visitors, drug poisoning reversals, referrals, episodes of care); and
- How closely the service being provided matches with the model of care that was initially proposed.

Findings from process evaluations can help SCS operators understand what components of their SCS helped or hindered achieving certain participant or community outcomes, and identify potential areas for quality improvement or further service expansion.

Regardless of the type of evaluation, PHNs are not required to meaningfully evaluate SCS (see **8.1.a Government issued identification and personal health numbers**). For evaluations where administrative data linkage to health records would be helpful (e.g., for measuring uptake into other health services that collect PHN), it is both feasible and ethical to make participant enrollment (and requisite collection of PHN) voluntary through an opt-in process that does not ask all SCS participants for identification upfront.

For more information on supervised consumption service program evaluations see:

- <u>Belackova et al. Drug Consumption Rooms: A Systematic Review of Evaluation</u> <u>Methodologies</u> (337)
- Ontario HIV Treatment Network A Review of Structural, Process, and Outcome Measures for Supervised Consumption Services (338)

It is important to note that most of the outcome and process evaluation examples provided above are primarily driven by supervised consumption service stakeholders (e.g., funders) and operators, and/or the public. Involving SCS program participants in the design, implementation, and interpretation of program evaluations is required to ensure SCS are client-centered (62,339).

9.0 Other Supervised Consumption Service Types

9.1 Urgent Public Health Need Sites

UPHNS are designed to be temporary and operate within a limited time horizon and scope (341). There are two mechanisms to apply for an exemption to operate a UPHNS under subsection 56(1) of the CDSA: 1) site-specific exemption directly through Health Canada; and 2) class exemption through provinces and territories. Health Canada (as of this writing) has issued class exemptions to provinces and territories to authorize UPHNS directly (or delegate this authority to municipalities within their jurisdiction) until September 30, 2025 (341). The decision to implement this class exemption and/or approve UPHNS applications under a provincial/territorial class exemption is at the discretion of that province or territory's Minister of Health or a delegated municipality. For more information on operating UPHNS, contact the UPHNS Community of Practice (342).

9.1.a Determining whether to apply for SCS or UPHNS exemption

When deciding whether to operate an SCS or UPHNS, important considerations include the urgency, timeline, and long-term plans for the site. Applicants intending to operate an SCS at a specific location for multiple years or indefinitely are generally expected to seek a regular SCS exemption through Health Canada. A UPHNS is better suited to address emergent public health needs, is less expensive to run, and takes less time to implement than an SCS (343,344). Additionally, Health Canada has indicated that applications for site-specific UPHNS exemptions will typically be approved faster than for SCS due to the urgent nature of community needs and that applications for UPHNS require less information than SCS exemption applications. An organization could initially apply to operate a UPHNS (whether applying directly to Health Canada for a site-specific UPHNS exemption or requesting approval from their provincial/territorial Minister of Health for a class exemption) in order to establish an operational site quickly, after which the organization could apply to Health Canada for an SCS exemption to transition the service from a UPHNS into a SCS. This option allows for faster approval of operational service provision compared to applying for a SCS exemption first. Alternatively, Health Canada will also consider granting applicants an interim exemption to operate a temporary SCS while an authorized permanent SCS is undergoing construction or renovations (e.g., operating a SCS within a trailer or other temporary structure, while a permanent fixed site is being constructed).

It is important to consider if a SCS or a UPHNS exemption would most effectively serve the needs of the community in which it is to be located, by assessing the following factors:

- 1) Are you intending to respond to an emergent public health need (i.e., recent spike in drug poisoning deaths or HIV incidence) or a longer standing issue?
- 2) What is already known about the local population, their preferences, and needs?
- 3) What is known about the feasibility of implementing a SCS compared to a UPHNS (i.e., community and political opposition or support)?
- 4) What are the financial resources that are available to implement and operate a SCS or a UPHNS?
- 5) What is the proposed timeline of the project?

Some differences in applying for a site-specific UPHNS exemption *vs* a SCS through Health Canada are provided below:

- UPHNS exemption applications do not require a submitted site floor plan;
- UPHNS exemption applications only require attestation of policies and procedures and do not require applicants to supply written documentation as part of their application materials;
- UPHNS exemption applications do not require a criminal record check for the RPIC; and
- UPHNS exemption applications do not require community consultation.

For more information about the exemption process and to receive an application form, visit the Health Canada webpage: <u>Subsection 56(1) class exemption in relation to urgent public health need</u> <u>sites in the provinces and territories</u>. If a particular provincial/territorial Minister of Health is not using their class exemption to set up UPHNS, an organization may apply directly to Health Canada by contacting <u>exemption@hc-sc.gc.ca</u> and requesting a copy of the UPHNS application form.

9.2 Overdose Prevention Sites

OPS operate without federal exemption, either: 1) under provincial ministerial order in response to a public health emergency (262); or 2) in the absence of official approval from any level of government (345). For example, the province of British Columbia, through a provincial ministerial order, directed its health authorities to establish OPS as an emergency response to the drug poisoning emergency and operators in that province have not sought formal federal exemptions for most of these OPS.

Qualitative research suggests that non-exempted OPS are lower-barrier or easier-to-access than more formal SCS or UPHNS (346). Non-exempted OPS were originally developed as a community-based initiative in response to rising drug poisoning deaths and bureaucratic barriers securing a

federal exemption (346). As a result, non-exempted OPS have been successful in preventing drug poisoning-related deaths, especially among people who use drugs whose needs and preferences cannot be accommodated within the current federal regulatory structure (59,135,346).

Please see **Figure 1**. **SCS**, **UPHNS**, **and OPS service types according to their exemption status** and the **Definitions** section of this document for more information. For guidance on how to open a UPHNS/OPS or general information about these service models, see the following resources:

- <u>CAPUD This Tent Saves Lives</u> (48)
- Irvine et al. Modelling the Combined Impact of Interventions in Averting Deaths During a Synthetic-Opioid Overdose Epidemic (347)
- Pauly et al. Impact of Overdose Prevention Sites During a Public Health Emergency in Victoria, Canada (344)
- <u>PIVOT Legal Society SCS and OPS in Canada Map</u> (348)
- <u>Wallace, Pagan, and Pauly The Implementation of Overdose Prevention Sites as a Novel</u> and Nimble Response During an Illegal Drug Overdose Public Health Emergency (262)

10.0 Further Reading and Resources

- <u>BCCSU Supervised Consumption Services: Operational Guidance</u> (4)
- <u>Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction Supervised Consumption Sites –</u> <u>Injection Drug Use: A Bibliography</u> (349)
- <u>Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network Overdue for a Change: Scaling Up Supervised</u> <u>Consumption Services in Canada</u> (346)
- <u>Canadian Nurses Association Harm Reduction & Illicit Substance Use: Implications for</u> <u>Nursing</u> (350)
- Dr. Peter AIDS Foundation Community of Practice Programs (351)
- <u>European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction Perspectives on Drugs: Drug</u> <u>Consumption Rooms: An Overview of Provision and Evidence</u> (98)
- <u>Gagnon et al. International Consensus Statement on the Role of Nurses in Supervised</u>
 <u>Consumption Sites</u> (352)
- <u>Giacomazzo et al. Lessons Learned from Supervised Consumption and Overdose</u>
 <u>Prevention Sites in Canada (353)</u>
- Hedrich European Report on Drug Consumption Rooms (354)
- HIV Legal Network Gendering the Scene: Women, Gender-Diverse People, and Harm <u>Reduction in Canada</u> (355)
- <u>Rudzinski et al Twelve Characteristics of Client-Centred Supervised Consumption Services</u> (SCS): A Toolkit for Service Design, Delivery and Evaluation (356)
- International Network of Drug Consumption Rooms Map of Locations (357)
- <u>Registered Nurses Association of Ontario Implementing Supervised Injection Services</u> (88)
- <u>Schaffer, Stover, and Weichert Drug Consumption Rooms in Europe: Models, Best Practice</u> <u>and Challenges</u> (358)
- <u>Toronto Drug Strategy's Supervised Injection Services Working Group Supervised Injection</u> <u>Services Toolkit</u> (359)
- <u>Woods Drug Consumption Rooms in Europe: Organisational Overview</u> (360)

11.0 References

- Branch LS. Consolidated federal laws of Canada, Controlled Drugs and Substances Act [Internet]. Ottawa (CA): Government of Canada; 1996 [updated 2022]. Available from: https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/c-38.8/fulltext.html
- Hyshka E, Dong K, Meador K, Speed K, Abele B, Leblanc S, et al. Supporting people who use substances in shelter settings during the COVID-19 pandemic: National Rapid Guidance. Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse and Canadian Institutes of Health Research [Internet]. 2022. p. 1–94. Version 2. Available from: https://crism.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2023/01/CRISM-COVID-19-Shelter-Doc_V2-1.pdf
- Elton-Marshall T, Ali F, Hyshka E, Shahin R, Hopkins S, Imtiaz S, et al. Harm reduction worker safety during the COVID-19 global pandemic: National Rapid Guidance [Internet]. Toronto (ON): 2020. Available from: https://crism.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/CRISM-Guidance-Worker-Safety-FINALVersion-2.pdf
- 4. British Columbia Centre on Substance Use. Supervised consumption services: Operational guidance [Internet]. Vancouver, BC: BCCSU; 2017. Available from: https://www.bccsu.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/BC-SCS-Operational-Guidance.pdf
- Potier C, Laprévote V, Dubois-Arber F, Cottencin O, Rolland B. Supervised injection services: What has been demonstrated? A systematic literature review. Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet]. 2014;145:48–68. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25456324/
- 6. Harm Reduction International. Global State of Harm Reduction [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://www.hri.global/files/2020/10/27/Global_State_of_Harm_Reduction_2020.pdf
- Dirk S, Heino S, Leon W. Drug consumption rooms in Europe: Models, best practices and challenges [Internet]. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Regenboog Groep; 2014. Available from: https://idhdp.com/media/399959/drug-consumption-in-europe-final-2014-1.pdf
- Kerr T, Mitra S, Kennedy MC, McNeil R. Supervised injection facilities in Canada: Past, present, and future. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2017 Dec;14(1). Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-017-0154-1

- 9. Health Canada. Supervised consumption sites: Status of applications. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/services/substance-use/supervised-consumption-sites/status-application.html
- Bouvier BA, Elston B, Hadland SE, Green TC, Marshall BDL. Willingness to use a supervised injection facility among young adults who use prescription opioids non-medically: A crosssectional study. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2017;14(1). Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-017-0139-0
- Kral AH, Wenger L, Carpenter L, Wood E, Kerr T, Bourgois P. Acceptability of a safer injection facility among injection drug users in San Francisco. Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet].
 2010;110(1–2):160–3. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2885552/
- Park JN, Sherman SG, Rouhani S, Morales KB, McKenzie M, Allen ST, et al. Willingness to use safe consumption spaces among opioid users at high risk of fentanyl overdose in Baltimore, Providence, and Boston. J Urban Health [Internet]. 2019;96(3):353–66. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31168735/
- Mitra S, Rachlis B, Krysowaty B, Marshall Z, Olsen C, Rourke S, et al. Potential use of supervised injection services among people who inject drugs in a remote and mid-size Canadian setting. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2019;19(1):284. Available from: https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-019-6606-7
- Wood E, Tyndall MW, Li K, Lloyd-Smith E, Small W, Montaner JSG, et al. Do supervised injecting facilities attract higher-risk injection drug users? Am J Prev Med [Internet]. 2005;29(2):126–30. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16005809/
- Wood E, Tyndall MW, Lai C, Montaner JSG, Kerr T. Impact of a medically supervised safer injecting facility on drug dealing and other drug-related crime. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy [Internet]. 2006;1:13–4. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1471778/
- 16. Kimber J, MacDonald M, van Beek I, Kaldor J, Weatherburn D, Lapsley H, et al. The Sydney Medically Supervised Injecting Centre: Client characteristics and predictors of frequent attendance during the first 12 months of operation. J Drug Issues [Internet]. 2003 Jul;33(3):639–48. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/002204260303300306

- Fast D, Small W, Wood E, Kerr T. The perspectives of injection drug users regarding safer injecting education delivered through a supervised injecting facility. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2008;5(1):32. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2605439/
- Salmon AM, Dwyer R, Jauncey M, van Beek I, Topp L, Maher L. Injecting-related injury and disease among clients of a supervised injecting facility. Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet]. 2009;101(1–2):132–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19167171/
- Kappel N. A qualitative study of how Danish drug consumption rooms influence health and well-being among people who use drugs. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2016;13(20):1–12. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-016-0109-y
- Kennedy MC, Karamouzian M, Kerr T. Public health and public order outcomes associated with supervised drug consumption facilities: A systematic review. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep [Internet]. 2017;14(5):161–83. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28875422/
- 21. Poschadel S, Hger R, Schnitzler J, Schreckenberger J. Evaluation of the work of drug consumption rooms in the Federal Republic of Germany: Abridged version of the final report on behalf of the Federal Ministry of Health [Internet]. Baden-Baden: Nomos-Verlags-Gesellschaft; 2003. Available from: https://www.tni.org/en/publication/evaluation-of-the-work-of-drug-consumption-rooms-in-the-federal-republic-of-germany
- 22. Marshall BD, Milloy MJ, Wood E, Montaner JSG, Kerr T. Reduction in overdose mortality after the opening of North America's first medically supervised safer injecting facility: A retrospective population-based study. Lancet Lond Engl [Internet]. 2011;377(9775):1429–37. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21497898/
- Wood RA, Wood E, Lai C, Tyndall MW, Montaner JSG, Kerr T. Nurse-delivered safer injection education among a cohort of injection drug users: Evidence from the evaluation of Vancouver's supervised injection facility. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2008;19(3):183–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18367389/
- 24. Stoltz JA, Wood E, Small W, Li K, Tyndall M, Montaner J, et al. Changes in injecting practices associated with the use of a medically supervised safer injection facility. J Public Health [Internet]. 2007;29(1):35–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17229788/
- 25. Wood E, Kerr T, Small W, Li K, Marsh DC, Montaner JSG, et al. Changes in public order after the opening of a medically supervised safer injecting facility for illicit injection drug users. Can

Med Assoc J [Internet]. 2004;171(7):731–4. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC517857/

- Kerr T, Tyndall M, Li K, Montaner J, Wood E. Safer injection facility use and syringe sharing in injection drug users. Lancet [Internet]. 2005;366(9482):316–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16039335/
- Bayoumi AM, Zaric GS. The cost-effectiveness of Vancouver's supervised injection facility. Can Med Assoc J [Internet]. 2008;179(11):1143–51. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2582765/
- 28. Pinkerton SD. How many HIV infections are prevented by Vancouver Canada's supervised injection facility? Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2011;22(3):179–83. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0955395911000296
- Jozaghi E. A cost-benefit/cost-effectiveness analysis of an unsanctioned supervised smoking facility in the Downtown Eastside of Vancouver, (BC). Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2014;11(1):1– 16. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1477-7517-11-30
- Andresen MA, Boyd N. A cost-benefit and cost-effectiveness analysis of Vancouver's supervised injection facility. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2010 Jan;21(1):70–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19423324/
- Wood E, Tyndall MW, Zhang R, Montaner JSG, Kerr T. Rate of detoxification service use and its impact among a cohort of supervised injecting facility users. Addiction [Internet]. 2007;102(6):916–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17523986/
- DeBeck K, Kerr T, Bird L, Zhang R, Marsh D, Tyndall M, et al. Injection drug use cessation and use of North America's first medically supervised safer injecting facility. Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet]. 2011;113(2–3):172–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20800976/
- 33. Milloy MJS, Kerr T, Zhang R, Tyndall M, Montaner J, Wood E. Inability to access addiction treatment and risk of HIV infection among injection drug users recruited from a supervised injection facility. J Public Health [Internet]. 2010;32(3):342–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19776079/
- 34. Kimber J, Mattick R, Kaldor J, van Beek I, Gilmour S, Rance J. Process and predictors of drug treatment referral and referral uptake at the Sydney medically supervised injecting centre.

Drug Alcohol Rev [Internet]. 2008;27(6):602–12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19378444/

- Wood E, Tyndall MW, Montaner JS, Kerr T. Summary of findings from the evaluation of a pilot medically supervised safer injecting facility. Can Med Assoc J [Internet]. 2006 Nov 21;175(11):1399–404. Available from: https://www.cmaj.ca/content/175/11/1399
- Krüsi A, Small W, Wood E, Kerr T. An integrated supervised injecting program within a care facility for HIV-positive individuals: A qualitative evaluation. AIDS Care [Internet].
 2009;21(5):638–44. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19444673/
- 37. Ti L, Buxton J, Harrison S, Dobrer S, Montaner J, Wood E, et al. Willingness to access an inhospital supervised injection facility among hospitalized people who use illicit drugs: Inhospital SIF. J Hosp Med [Internet]. 2015;10(5):301–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25754871/
- Folch C, Lorente N, Majó X, Parés-Badell O, Roca X, Brugal T, et al. Drug consumption rooms in Catalonia: A comprehensive evaluation of social, health and harm reduction benefits. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2018;62:24–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30352331/
- National Centre in HIV Epidemiology and Clinical Research. Sydney medically supervised injecting centre evaluation: Evaluation of service operation and overdose-related events [Internet]. NSW (AU): National Centre in HIV Epidemiology and Clinical Research, University of New South Whales; 2007. Available from: https://kirby.unsw.edu.au/sites/default/files/kirby/report/EvalRep4SMSIC.pdf
- 40. Petrar S, Kerr T, Tyndall MW, Zhang R, Montaner JSG, Wood E. Injection drug users' perceptions regarding use of a medically supervised safer injecting facility. Addict Behav [Internet]. 2007;32(5):1088–93. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16930849/
- 41. Salmon AM, Thein HH, Kimber J, Kaldor JM, Maher L. Five years on: What are the community perceptions of drug-related public amenity following the establishment of the Sydney medically supervised injecting centre? Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2007;18(1):46–53. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17689343/
- 42. Vecino C, Vaillalbi J, Guitart A, Bartroli M, Castellano C, Brugal M. Apertura de espacios de consumo higiénico y actuaciones policiales en zonas con fuerte tráfico de drogas. Evaluación mediante el recuento de las jeringas abandonadas en el espacio público. Addiciones

[Internet]. 2013;25(4):333–8. Available from: https://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=289128726007

- 43. Myer AJ, Belisle L. Highs and lows: An interrupted time-series evaluation of the impact of North America's only supervised injection facility on crime. J Drug Issues [Internet].
 2018;48(1):36–49. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0022042617727513?journalCode=joda
- Kerr T, Tyndall MW, Zhang R, Lai C, Montaner JSG, Wood E. Circumstances of first injection among illicit drug users accessing a medically supervised safer injection facility. Am J Public Health 1971 [Internet]. 2007;(7):1228. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1913080/
- 45. Davidson PJ, Lopez AM, Kral AH. Using drugs in un/safe spaces: Impact of perceived illegality on an underground supervised injecting facility in the United States. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2018;53:37–44. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29278831/
- 46. Hyshka E, Anderson J, Wong ZW, Wild TC. Risk behaviours and service needs of marginalized people who use drugs in Edmonton's Inner City [Internet]. 2016. p. 123. Available from: https://crismprairies.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Edmonton-Drug-Use-and-Health-Survey-Dr.-Elaine-Hyshka-January-2016.pdf
- Bayoumi AM, Strike C, Brandeau M, Degani N, Fischer B, Glazier R, et al. Report of the Toronto and Ottawa Supervised Consumption Assessment Study 2012 [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Toronto and Ottawa Supervised Consumption Assessment; 2012. p. 325. Available from: https://www.catie.ca/sites/default/files/TOSCA%20report%202012.pdf
- Canadian Association of People who Use Drugs. This tent saves lives: How to open an overdose prevention site [Internet]. Dartmouth (NS); 2017. Available from: http://www.capud.ca/sites/default/files/2018-09/This%20tent%20saves%20lives_CAPUD_20170831.pdf
- Andresen MA, Jozaghi E. The point of diminishing returns: An examination of expanding Vancouver's Insite. Urban Stud [Internet]. 2012;49(16):3531–44. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0042098012443865
- 50. Pinkerton SD. Is Vancouver Canada's supervised injection facility cost-saving?: Insite supervised injection facility. Addiction [Internet]. 2010;105(8):1429–36. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20653622/

- Enns EA, Zaric GS, Strike CJ, Jairam JA, Kolla G, Bayoumi AM. Potential cost-effectiveness of supervised injection facilities in Toronto and Ottawa, Canada. Addiction [Internet].
 2016;111(3):475–89. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26616368/
- Jozaghi E, Jackson A. Examining the potential role of a supervised injection facility in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, to avert HIV among people who inject drugs. Int J Health Policy Manag [Internet]. 2015;4(6):373–9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4450732/
- Jozaghi E, Reid AA. The potential role for supervised injection facilities in Canada's largest city, Toronto. Int Crim Justice Rev [Internet]. 2015;25(3):233–46. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1057567715583516
- Jozaghi E, Reid AA, Andresen MA. A cost-benefit/cost-effectiveness analysis of proposed supervised injection facilities in Montreal, Canada. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy [Internet]. 2013;8(1):25. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23837814/
- 55. Jozaghi E, Reid AA, Andresen MA, Juneau A. A cost-benefit/cost-effectiveness analysis of proposed supervised injection facilities in Ottawa, Canada. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy [Internet]. 2014;9(1):31. Available from: https://substanceabusepolicy.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1747-597X-9-31
- 56. British Columbia Centre on Substance Use. Housing Overdose Prevention Sites: Exploring the efficacy of HOPS and peer witnessing services [Internet]. British Columbia (CA): British Columbia Centre on Substance Use; 2020. Available from: https://uphns-hub.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/HOPS-Presentation.pdf
- Jozaghi E, Greer AM, Lampkin H, Buxton JA. Activism and scientific research: 20 years of community action by the Vancouver area network of drug users. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy [Internet]. 2018;13(1):18. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5964704/
- 58. Ti L, Tzemis D, Buxton JA. Engaging people who use drugs in policy and program development: A review of the literature. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy [Internet]. 2012;7(1):47. Available from: https://substanceabusepolicy.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1747-597X-7-47
- 59. Kennedy MC, Boyd J, Mayer S, Collins A, Kerr T, McNeil R. Peer worker involvement in lowthreshold supervised consumption facilities in the context of an overdose epidemic in

Vancouver, Canada. Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 2019;225:60–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30798157/

- 60. Kimber J, Dolan K, Wodak A. Survey of drug consumption rooms: service delivery and perceived public health and amenity impact. Drug Alcohol Rev [Internet]. 2005;24(1):21–4. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16191717/
- CRISM PWLE National Working Group, Working Group. "Having a voice and saving lives": A survey by and for people who use drugs and work in harm reduction [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://crismprairies.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Report-CRISM-Peer-Study-Finalupdate.pdf
- 62. Baker D, Belle-Isle L, Crichlow F, Stella A, Lacroix K, Murphy D, et al. Peerology: A guide by and for people who use drugs on how to get involved [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian AIDS Society; 2015. Available from: https://www.cdnaids.ca/wp-content/uploads/Peerology-Final-PDF-with-Image.pdf
- BC Centre for Disease Control. Peer payment standards for short-term engagements [Internet]. Vancouver (BC); BC Centre for Disease Control; 2018. Available from: http://www.bccdc.ca/resourcegallery/Documents/Educational%20Materials/Epid/Other/peer_payment-guide_2018.pdf
- 64. Canadian Association of People Who Use Drugs. Hear us, see us, respect us: Respecting the expertise of people who use drugs [Internet]. Canada; Canadian Association of People Who Use Drugs; 2021. Available from: https://zenodo.org/record/5514066/preview/CAPUD-best-practices-v3.pdf
- Rhodes T, Kimber J, Small W, Fitzgerald J, Kerr T, Hickman M, et al. Public injecting and the need for 'safer environment interventions' in the reduction of drug-related harm. Addiction [Internet]. 2006;101(10):1384–93. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16968336/
- 66. Kerr T, Tyndall MW, Lai C, Montaner JSG, Wood E. Drug-related overdoses within a medically supervised safer injection facility. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2006;17(5):436–41. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0955395906001368
- 67. Dyck I, Kearns R. Transforming the relations of research: towards culturally safe geographies of health and healing. Health Place [Internet]. 1995;1(3):137–47. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/135382929500020M

- McNeil R, Small W, Lampkin H, Shannon K, Kerr T. "People knew they could come here to get help": An ethnographic study of assisted injection practices at a peer-run 'unsanctioned' supervised drug consumption room in a Canadian setting. AIDS Behav [Internet]. 2014;18(3):473–85. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3815969/
- 69. Collins AB, Boyd J, Hayashi K, Cooper HLF, Goldenberg S, McNeil R. Women's utilization of housing-based overdose prevention sites in Vancouver, Canada: An ethnographic study. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2020;76:102641. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31887644/
- 70. Hyshka E, Morris H, Anderson-Baron J, Nixon L, Dong K, Salvalaggio G. Patient perspectives on a harm reduction-oriented addiction medicine consultation team implemented in a large acute care hospital. Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet]. 2019;204:107523. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31541875/
- 71. Knight KR, Lopez AM, Comfort M, Shumway M, Cohen J, Riley ED. Single room occupancy (SRO) hotels as mental health risk environments among impoverished women: The intersection of policy, drug use, trauma, and urban space. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2014;25(3):556–61. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4014526/
- Ramsden I, Spoonley P. The cultural safety debate in nursing education in Aotearoa. N Z Annu Rev Educ [Internet]. 1994;3:161–74. Available from: https://ojs.victoria.ac.nz/nzaroe/article/download/1075/881/1172
- 73. Hembree C, Galea S, Ahern J, Tracy M, Markham Piper T, Miller J, et al. The urban built environment and overdose mortality in New York City neighborhoods. Health Place [Internet]. 2005;11(2):147–56. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15629682/
- 74. Harm Reduction International. What is harm reduction? [Internet]. Harm Reduction International. 2020. Available from: https://www.hri.global/what-is-harm-reduction
- 75. McCall J, Pauly B. Sowing a seed of safety: providing culturally safe care in acute care settings for people who use drugs. J Ment Health Addict Nurs [Internet]. 2019;3(1):e1–7. Available from: https://www.jmhan.org/index.php/JMHAN/article/view/33
- 76. CATIE. Harm Reduction Fundamentals: A toolkit for service providers [Internet]. CATIE; 2022 . Available from: https://www.catie.ca/harmreduction

- Pauly B, Parker J, McLaren C, Browne J. Creating culturally safe care in hospital settings for people who use(d) illicit drugs [Internet]. Victoria (BC): University of Victoria, Centre for Addictions Research of BC; 2013. Available from: https://www.uvic.ca/research/centres/cisur/assets/docs/bulletin11-creating-culturally-safe-care.pdf
- Pauly B (Bernie), McCall J, Browne AJ, Parker J, Mollison A. Toward cultural safety: Nurse and patient perceptions of illicit substance use in a hospitalized setting. Adv Nurs Sci [Internet].
 2015 Jun;38(2):121–35. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25932819/
- Papps E, Ramsden I. Cultural safety in nursing: The New Zealand experience. Int J Qual Health Care [Internet]. 1996;8(5):491–7. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/intqhc/article/8/5/491/1843006
- Hole RD, Evans M, Berg LD, Bottorff JL, Dingwall C, Alexis C, et al. Visibility and voice: Aboriginal People experience culturally safe and unsafe health care. Qual Health Res [Internet]. 2015;25(12):1662–74. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25583958/
- McCall J, Pauly B. Offrir un lieu sûr : l'adoption d'une perspective de sécurisation culturelle dans les soins prodigués aux femmes autochtones vivant avec le VIH-sida [Internet]. Semantic Scholar. 2012;44(2):16. Available from: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/8609a22b6ec1f2475eefebcb9e4be61d3a169ef2?p2 df
- 82. Baba L. Cultural safety in First Nations, Inuit and Métis public health: Environmental scan of cultural competency and safety in education, training and health services [Internet]. Prince George (BC): National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health; 2013. Available from: https://www.ccnsa-nccah.ca/docs/emerging/RPT-CulturalSafetyPublicHealth-Baba-EN.pdf
- 83. Northern Health Indigenous Health. Cultural safety [Internet]. Available from: https://www.indigenoushealthnh.ca/cultural-safety
- 84. Smye V, Browne AJ. "Cultural safety" and the analysis of health policy affecting aboriginal people. Nurse Res [Internet]. 2002;9(3):42–56. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11985147/
- Whelan J, Lyons K. Community engagement or community action: Choosing not to play the game. Environ Polit [Internet]. 2005;14(5):596–610. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09644010500257888

- 86. Bernstein SE, Bennett D. Zoned Out: "NIMBYism", addiction services and municipal governance in British Columbia. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2013;24(6):e61-65. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23680227/
- Davidson PJ, Howe M. Beyond NIMBYism: Understanding community antipathy toward needle distribution services. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2014;25(3):624–32. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24309432/
- Registered Nurses Association of Ontario. Implementing supervised injection services
 [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario; 2018. Available from: https://rnao.ca/sites/rnao-ca/files/bpg/Implementing_supervised_injection_services.pdf
- 89. Arthur E, Seymour A, Dartnall M, Beltgens P, Poole N, Smylie D, et al. Trauma informed practice guide [Internet]. Centre of Excellence for Women's Health; 2013. Available from: https://bccewh.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/2013_TIP-Guide.pdf
- 90. Canadian Public Health Association. Do you ensure programs and services are culturally relevant and culturally safe? [Internet]. No date. Available from: https://www.cpha.ca/do-you-ensure-programs-and-services-are-culturally-relevant-and-culturally-safe
- 91. EQUIP Health Care. EQUIP health care [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): EQUIP Health Care; 2021. Available from: https://equiphealthcare.ca/
- 92. National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health. Cultural safety collection [Internet]. Prince George (BC): National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health; 2021. Available from: https://www.nccih.ca/1673/Cultural_Safety_Collection.nccih?Collectionid=3
- 93. Health Canada. Supervised consumption sites: Guidance for application form [Internet]. aem. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada; 2020. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/services/substance-use/supervised-consumption-sites/guidance-document.html
- 94. Health Canada. Application form: Section 56.1 Exemption for medical purposes under the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act for activities at a supervised consumption site [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Controlled Substances and Cannabis Branch, Office of Controlled Substances; 2021. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/documents/services/substance-abuse/supervised-consumption-sites/apply/how-to-apply.pdf

- 95. Bourgois P, Holmes SM, Sue K, Quesada J. Structural vulnerability: Operationalizing the concept to address health disparities in clinical care. J Assoc Am Med Coll [Internet].
 2017;92(3):299–307. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5233668/
- 96. Galea S, Vlahov D. Social determinants and the health of drug users: Socioeconomic status, homelessness, and incarceration. Public Health Rep Wash DC 1974 [Internet]. 2002;117 Suppl 1:S135-145. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1913691/
- Small W, Van Borek N, Fairbairn N, Wood E, Kerr T. Access to health and social services for IDU: The impact of a medically supervised injection facility. Drug Alcohol Rev [Internet]. 2009;28(4):341–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19594786/
- 98. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Drug consumption rooms: An overview of provision and evidence. Perspectives on drugs [Internet]. Lisbo (PT): European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction; 2017. Available from: http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/topics/pods/drug-consumption-rooms_en
- 99. Collins AB, Parashar S, Hogg RS, Fernando S, Worthington C, McDougall P, et al. Integrated HIV care and service engagement among people living with HIV who use drugs in a setting with a community-wide treatment as prevention initiative: A qualitative study in Vancouver, Canada. J Int AIDS Soc [Internet]. 2017;20(1):21407. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28426185/
- 100. Rapid Response Service. Rapid Response: What is the effectiveness of supervised injection services? [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Ontario HIV Treatment Network; 2014. Available from: https://www.ohtn.on.ca/Pages/Knowledge-Exchange/Rapid-Responses/Documents/RR83-Supervised-Injection-Effectiveness.pdf
- 101. McNeil R, Kerr T, Pauly B, Wood E, Small W. Advancing patient-centered care for structurally vulnerable drug-using populations: a qualitative study of the perspectives of people who use drugs regarding the potential integration of harm reduction interventions into hospitals: Hospital-based harm reduction. Addiction [Internet]. 2016;111(4):685–94. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26498577/
- 102. Bardwell G, Strike C, Altenberg J, Barnaby L, Kerr T. Implementation contexts and the impact of policing on access to supervised consumption services in Toronto, Canada: a qualitative comparative analysis. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2019;16(1):30. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-019-0302-x

- 103. Wolf J, Linssen L, Graaf I de. Drug consumption facilities in the Netherlands. J Drug Issues
 [Internet]. 2016; 33(3). Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/002204260303300307?journalCode=joda
- 104. Health Canada. Vancouver's INSITE service and other supervised injection sites: What has been learned from research? - Final report of the Expert Advisory Committee on Supervised Injection Site Research [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; 2008. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/corporate/about-health-canada/reportspublications/vancouver-insite-service-other-supervised-injection-sites-what-been-learnedresearch.html#ref
- 105. PHS Community Services Society. Harm Reduction Programs [Internet]. PHS. Vancouver (BC): PHS; 2022. Available from: https://www.phs.ca/programs/
- 106. Tyndall MW, Kerr T, Zhang R, King E, Montaner JG, Wood E. Attendance, drug use patterns, and referrals made from North America's first supervised injection facility. Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet]. 2006;83(3):193–8. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0376871605003492
- 107. Vancouver Coastal Health. Insite user statistics [Internet]. Vancouver (BC); Vancouver Coastal Health; 2020. Available from: http://www.vch.ca/public-health/harm-reduction/supervised-consumption-sites/insite-user-statistics
- Kennedy MC, Hayashi K, Milloy MJ, Compton M, Kerr T. Health impacts of a scale-up of supervised injection services in a Canadian setting: an interrupted time series analysis. Addiction [Internet]. 2022;117(4):986–97. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34854162/
- 109. Dong KA, Brouwer J, Johnston C, Hyshka E. Supervised consumption services for acute care hospital patients. CMAJ [Internet]. 2020;192(18):E476–9. Available from: https://www.cmaj.ca/content/192/18/E476
- 110. South Riverdale Community Health Centre. Consumption and treatment service keepSIX SRCHC [Internet]. Toronto (ON): South Riverdale Community Health Centre; 2022. Available from: https://www.srchc.ca/programs/community-health/consumption-treatment-service/
- 111. Nassau T, Kolla G, Mason K, Hopkins S, Tookey P, McLean E, et al. Service utilization patterns and characteristics among clients of integrated supervised consumption sites in Toronto, Canada. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2022;19(1):33. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-022-00610-y

- 112. Bardwell G, Strike C, Mitra S, Scheim A, Barnaby L, Altenberg J, et al. "That's a double-edged sword": Exploring the integration of supervised consumption services within community health centres in Toronto, Canada. Health Place [Internet]. 2019;102245. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353829219304253
- 113. Grewal HK, Ti L, Hayashi K, Dobrer S, Wood E, Kerr T. Illicit drug use in acute care settings. Drug Alcohol Rev [Internet]. 2015;34(5):499–502. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4636467/
- 114. Government of Alberta. Alberta opioid response survelliance report: Q2 2019 [Internet]. Alberta (CA): Government of Alberta; 2019. Available from: https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/f4b74c38-88cb-41ed-aa6f-32db93c7c391/resource/c23b895d-1922-4d73-86dc-ce170d0a07b3/download/healthalberta-opioid-response-surveillance-report-2019-q2.pdf
- 115. Belzak L, Halverson J. Evidence synthesis The opioid crisis in Canada: a national perspective. Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can Res Policy Pract [Internet]. 2018;38(6):224–33. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/reports-publications/healthpromotion-chronic-disease-prevention-canada-research-policy-practice/vol-38-no-6-2018/evidence-synthesis-opioid-crisis-canada-national-perspective.html
- 116. Gerein K. Royal Alex supervised consumption site to open Easter Monday. [Internet].
 Edmonton (AB): Edmonton Journal; 2018; Available from: https://edmontonjournal.com/news/local-news/supervised-consumption-site-at-royal-alex-hospital-set-to-open
- 117. Willsey S. Royal Alex debuts supervised consumption service [Internet]. Alberta Health Services. Alberta (CA): Alberta Health Services; 2018; Available from: https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/news/Page14358.aspx
- 118. Fred Victor. Locations and contact information [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Fred Victor; 2022. Available from: https://www.fredvictor.org/location-information/
- 119. Fred Victor Expertise and Solutions to Homelessness [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Fred Victor; 2022. Available from: https://www.fredvictor.org/about-us/
- 120. Fred Victor. Leading change to meet new realities [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Fred Victor; 2018. Available from: https://www.fredvictor.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/fv-ar-2018-full-web.pdf

- 121. CATIE. keepSIX supervised consumption service: South Riverdale community health centre [Internet]. Toronto (ON): CATIE; 2019. Available from: https://www.catie.ca/en/pc/program/keepsix
- 122. South Riverdale Community Health Centre. Program category: Harm reduction: Supervised consumption service [Internet]. Toronto (ON): South Riverdale Community Health Centre; 2019. Available from: https://www.srchc.ca/program-category/harm-reduction/
- 123. Maranta A. Test [Internet]. HepCInfo.ca. Available from: http://www.hepcinfo.ca/test/
- 124. South Riverdale Community Health Centre. Consumption treatment services at SRCHC: Frequently asked questions [Internet]. Toronto (ON): South Riverdale Community Health Centre; 2019. Available from: https://www.srchc.ca/news/consumption-treatment-servicesat-srchc-frequently-asked-questions/
- 125. Strike C, Watson TM, Kolla G, Penn R, Bayoumi AM. Ambivalence about supervised injection facilities among community stakeholders [Internet]. BioMed Central; 2015. p. 26. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-015-0060-3
- 126. Dietze P, Winter R, Pedrana A, Leicht A, Majó I Roca X, Brugal MT. Mobile safe injecting facilities in Barcelona and Berlin. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2012;23(4):257–60. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/223993263_Mobile_safe_injecting_facilities_in_B arcelona_and_Berlin
- Mema SC, Frosst G, Bridgeman J, Drake H, Dolman C, Lappalainen L, et al. Mobile supervised consumption services in Rural British Columbia: lessons learned. Harm Reduct J [Internet].
 2019;16(1):4. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-018-0273-3
- 128. Dimoff A. Kelowna mobile supervised consumption unit used by over 26,000 people [Internet]. BC (CA): CBC News British Columbia; 2018; Available from: https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/kelowna-mobile-supervisedconsumption-unit-used-by-over-26-000-people-1.4830801
- 129. Bonn M, Palayew A, Bartlett S, Brothers TD, Touesnard N, Tyndall M. Addressing the syndemic of HIV, Hepatitis C, overdose, and COVID-19 among people who use drugs: The potential roles for decriminalization and safe supply. J Stud Alcohol Drugs [Internet]. 2020;81(5):556–60. Available from: https://www.jsad.com/doi/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.556
- 130. Tyndall M. A safer drug supply: a pragmatic and ethical response to the overdose crisis. CMAJ [Internet]. 2020;192(34):E986–7. Available from: https://www.cmaj.ca/content/192/34/E986
- 131. Bristowe SK, Ghosh SM, Trew M, Canadian Mental Health Association Calgary Region, Rittenbach K. Virtual overdose response for people who use opioids alone: Protocol for a feasibility and clinical trial study. JMIR Res Protoc [Internet]. 2021;10(5):e20183. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33978598/
- 132. Brave Co-Op. The Brave App [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://www.brave.coop/overdose-detection-app
- 133. Grenfell Ministries. Overdose prevention line [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://www.nors.ca/
- 134. Lifeguard Digital Health. Lifeguard Digital Health [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://lifeguarddh.com/
- 135. Kolla G, Kenny KS, Bannerman M, Boyce N, Chapman L, Dodd Z, et al. Help me fix: The provision of injection assistance at an unsanctioned overdose prevention site in Toronto, Canada. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2020;76:102617. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31838246/
- 136. Bourque S, Pijl EM, Mason E, Manning J, Motz T. Supervised inhalation is an important part of supervised consumption services. Can J Public Health [Internet]. 2019;110(2):210–5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30725386/
- 137. Gagnon M. It's time to allow assisted injection in supervised injection sites. Can Med Assoc J [Internet]. 2017;189(34):E1083–4. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5573542/
- Bravo MJ, Royuela L, De la Fuente L, Brugal MT, Barrio G, Domingo-Salvany A, et al. Use of supervised injection facilities and injection risk behaviours among young drug injectors. Addict Abingdon Engl [Internet]. 2009;104(4):614–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19215603/
- 139. Miller CL, Kerr T, Strathdee SA, Li K, Wood E. Factors associated with premature mortality among young injection drug users in Vancouver. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2007;4(1):1. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1769365/

- Spittal PM, Hogg RS, Li K, Craib KJ, Recsky M, Johnston C, et al. Drastic elevations in mortality among female injection drug users in a Canadian setting. AIDS Care [Internet].
 2006;18(2):101–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16338767/
- 141. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Committee on Health Care for Underserved Women, American Society of Addiction Medicine. ACOG Committee Opinion No. 524: Opioid abuse, dependence, and addiction in pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. 2012;119(5):1070–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22525931/
- 142. Bourgois P, Prince B, Moss A. The everyday violence of hepatitis C among young women who inject drugs in San Francisco. Hum Organ [Internet]. 2004;63(3):253–64. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1458969/
- 143. Pauly B. Harm reduction through a social justice lens. Int J Drug Policy [Internet].2008;19(1):4–10. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18226520/
- 144. O'Connell JM, Kerr T, Li K, Tyndall MW, Hogg RS, Montaner JS, et al. Requiring help injecting independently predicts incident HIV infection among injection drug users. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999 [Internet]. 2005;40(1):83–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16123687/
- 145. Wood E, Spittal PM, Kerr T, Small W, Tyndall MW, O'Shaughnessy MV, et al. Requiring help injecting as a risk factor for HIV infection in the Vancouver epidemic: implications for HIV prevention. Can J Public Health Rev Can Sante Publique [Internet]. 2003;94(5):355–9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6979944/
- 146. Meyer JP, Springer SA, Altice FL. Substance abuse, violence, and HIV in women: a literature review of the syndemic. J Womens Health 2002 [Internet]. 2011;20(7):991–1006. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3130513/
- MacRae R, Aalto E. Gendered power dynamics and HIV risk in drug-using sexual relationships.
 AIDS Care [Internet]. 2000;12(4):505–16. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11091783/
- 148. Shannon K, Rusch M, Morgan R, Oleson M, Kerr T, Tyndall MW. HIV and HCV prevalence and gender-specific risk profiles of crack cocaine smokers and dual users of injection drugs. Subst Use Misuse [Internet]. 2008;43(3–4):521–34. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18365948/
- 149. Fairbairn N, Small W, Shannon K, Wood E, Kerr T. Seeking refuge from violence in streetbased drug scenes: women's experiences in North America's first supervised injection facility.

Soc Sci Med 1982 [Internet]. 2008;67(5):817–23. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18562065/

- 150. Boyd J, Collins AB, Mayer S, Maher L, Kerr T, McNeil R. Gendered violence & overdose prevention sites: A rapid ethnographic study during an overdose epidemic in Vancouver, Canada. Addict Abingdon Engl [Internet]. 2018;113(12):2261–70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30211453/
- 151. Krans EE, Cochran G, Bogen DL. Caring for opioid-dependent pregnant women: Prenatal and postpartum care considerations. Clin Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. 2015;58(2):370–9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4607033/
- 152. Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse and Addiction. Girls, women and substance use
 [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse and Addiction; 2005. p. 16.
 Available from: https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-05/ccsa-011142-2005.pdf
- 153. Gopman S. Prenatal and postpartum care of women with substance use disorders. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am [Internet]. 2014;41(2):213–28. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24845486/
- 154. Poole N, Urquhart C, Talbot C. Women-centred harm reduction, gendering the national framework series (Vol. 4) [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): British Columbia Centre of Excellence for Women's Health; 2010. Available from: http://bccewh.bc.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2012/05/2010_GenderingNatFrameworkWomencentredHarmReduction.pdf
- 155. Stone R. Pregnant women and substance use: Fear, stigma, and barriers to care. Health Justice [Internet]. 2015;3(1):2. Available from: https://healthandjusticejournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s40352-015-0015-5
- 156. Greenfield SF, Back SE, Lawson K, Brady KT. Substance abuse in women. Psychiatr Clin North Am [Internet]. 2010;33(2):339–55. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20385341/
- 157. Thulien M, Nathoo T, Worrall J. SisterSpace, shared using rooms women-only overdose prevention site: Three-month developmental evaluation August 2017 [Internet]. BC (CA): Atira Women's Resource Society; 2017. Available from: https://www.atira.bc.ca/sites/default/files/SisterSpace_Report_May2017.pdf
- 158. Boyd J, Lavalley J, Czechaczek S, Mayer S, Kerr T, Maher L, et al. "Bed Bugs and Beyond": An ethnographic analysis of North America's first women-only supervised drug consumption site.

Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2020;78:102733. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0955395920300748

- 159. Kennedy MC, Hayashi K, Milloy MJ, Boyd J, Wood E, Kerr T. Supervised injection facility use and exposure to violence among a cohort of people who inject drugs: A gender-based analysis. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2020;78:102692. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32200269/
- 160. Xavier J, Lowe L, Rodrigues S. Access to and Safety for Women at Supervised Consumption Services [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Canadian Mental Health Association; 2021. Available from: https://cmha.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Women-and-SCS-Report_FINAL-April-2021.pdf
- 161. Atira Women's Housing Society. Sisterspace [Internet]. BC (CA); Atira Women's Housing Society; 2019. Available from: https://atira.bc.ca/what-we-do/program/sisterspace/
- 162. Toronto Central Local Health Integration Network. Consumption treatment service [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Toronto Central Local Health Integration Network; 2019. Available from: https://www.torontocentralhealthline.ca/displayservice.aspx?id=186647
- 163. Gutman A. What to expect when your city is expecting a supervised injection site: Lessons from around the globe | Perspective [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://www.inquirer.com/opinion/commentary/safe-injection-sites-philadelphia-dublinottawa-toronto-mexicali-20190629.html
- Mereish EH, Bradford JB. Intersecting identities and substance use problems: sexual orientation, gender, race, and lifetime substance use problems. J Stud Alcohol Drugs [Internet]. 2014;75(1):179–88. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3893631/
- 165. Kann L, Olsen EO, McManus T, Kinchen S, Chyen D, Harris WA, et al. Sexual identity, sex of sexual contacts, and health-risk behaviors among students in grades 9-12--youth risk behavior surveillance, selected sites, United States, 2001-2009. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep Surveill Summ Wash DC 2002 [Internet]. 2011;60(7):1–133. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21659985/
- 166. Mistry R, Heinze JE, Cordova D, Heish HF, Goldstick JE, Ayer SM, et al. Transitions in current substance use from adolescence to early-adulthood. J Youth Adolesc [Internet].
 2015;44(10):1871–83. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10964-015-0309-x

- 167. The Community-Based Research Centre (CBRC). Evidence brief: Substance use and supervised consumption services [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): CBRC; 2021. Available from: https://www.cbrc.net/evidence_brief_substance_use_and_supervised_consumption_service s
- 168. Newcomb ME, Hill R, Buehler K, Ryan DT, Whitton SW, Mustanski B. High burden of mental health problems, substance use, violence, and related psychosocial factors in transgender, non-Binary, and gender diverse youth and young adults. Arch Sex Behav [Internet]. 2020;49(2):645–59. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31485801/
- Brennan J, Kuhns LM, Johnson AK, Belzer M, Wilson EC, Garofalo R, et al. Syndemic theory and HIV-related risk among young transgender women: the role of multiple, co-occurring health problems and social marginalization. Am J Public Health [Internet]. 2012;102(9):1751–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22873480/
- 170. Statistics Canada. Experiences of violent victimization and unwanted sexual behaviours among gay, lesbian, bisexual and other sexual minority people, and the transgender population, in Canada, 2018 [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2020001/article/00009-eng.htm#r13
- 171. Green KE, Feinstein BA. Substance Use in Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Populations: An update on empirical research and implications for treatment. Psychol Addict Behav [Internet].
 2012;26(2):265–78. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3288601/
- 172. Goodyear T, Mniszak C, Jenkins E, Fast D, Knight R. "Am I gonna get in trouble for acknowledging my will to be safe?": Identifying the experiences of young sexual minority men and substance use in the context of an opioid overdose crisis. Harm Reduct J [Internet].
 2020;17(1):23. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-020-00365-4
- 173. Robbins T, Wejnert C, Balaji AB, Hoots B, Paz-Bailey G, Bradley H. Binge drinking, noninjection drug use, and sexual risk behaviors among adolescent sexual minority males, 3 US cities, 2015. J Urban Health Bull N Y Acad Med [Internet]. 2020;97(5):739–48. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7560636/
- 174. Heinsbroek E, Glass R, Edmundson C, Hope V, Desai M. Patterns of injecting and non-injecting drug use by sexual behaviour in people who inject drugs attending services in England, Wales

and Northern Ireland, 2013–2016. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2018;55:215–21. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29523484/

- 175. Society CP. Medical decision-making in paediatrics: Infancy to adolescence [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Paediatric Society; 2018. Available from: https://cps.ca/en/documents//position//medical-decision-making-in-paediatrics-infancy-toadolescence/
- 176. Flethcher A, Krug A. Excluding Youth? A global review of harm reduction services for young people [Internet]. Harm Reduction International; 2012. Available from: https://www.hri.global/files/2012/07/24/GlobalState2012_Web.pdf
- Representative for Children and Youth. Time to listen: Youth voices on substance use [Internet]. 2018. Available from: https://youthrex.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Timeto-Listen-Youth-Voices-on-Substance-Use-2018.pdf
- 178. British Columbia Centre on Substance Use, B.C. Ministry of Health, B.C. Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions. A guideline for the clinical management of opioid use disorder - Youth Supplement [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): British Columbia Centre on Substance USe; 2018. Available from: http://www.bccsu.ca/care-guidance-publications/
- 179. Office of the Child and Youth Advocate Alberta. Into focus: Calling attention to youth opioid use in Alberta [Internet]. Alberta (CA): Office of the Child and Youth Advocate Alberta; 2018. Available from: https://open.alberta.ca/publications/9781460141397
- 180. World Health Organization. Technical brief, HIV and young people who inject drugs [Internet].
 Geneva (CH): World Health Organization; 2015. Available from: https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/2015_young_people_drugs_en.pdf
- 181. Canêdo J, Sedgemore K olt, Ebbert K, Anderson H, Dykeman R, Kincaid K, et al. Harm reduction calls to action from young people who use drugs on the streets of Vancouver and Lisbon. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2022;19(1):43. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-022-00607-7
- 182. Public Health Agency of Canada. Street youth in Canada: Findings from enhanced surveillance of Canadian street youth, 1999-2003 [Internet]. 2006. Available from: https://www.phacaspc.gc.ca/std-mts/reports_06/pdf/street_youth_e.pdf
- 183. Bozinoff N, Wood E, Dong H, Richardson L, Kerr T, DeBeck K. Syringe sharing among a prospective cohort of street-involved youth: Implications for needle distribution programs.

AIDS Behav [Internet]. 2017;21(9):2717–25. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28409267/

- Marshall BDL, Green TC, Yedinak JL, Hadland SE. Harm reduction for young people who use prescription opioids extra-medically: Obstacles and opportunities. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2016;31:25–31. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26919826/
- 185. Gleghorn AA, Marx R, Vittinghoff E, Katz MH. Association between drug use patterns and HIV risks among homeless, runaway, and street youth in northern California. Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet]. 1998;51(3):219–27. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9787995/
- 186. Miller CL, Tyndall M, Spittal P, Li K, LaLiberte N, Schechter MT. HIV incidence and associated risk factors among young injection drug users. AIDS Lond Engl [Internet]. 2002;16(3):491–3. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11834965/
- 187. Miller CL, Johnston C, Spittal PM, Li K, Laliberté N, Montaner JSG, et al. Opportunities for prevention: Hepatitis C prevalence and incidence in a cohort of young injection drug users. Hepatol Baltim Md [Internet]. 2002;36(3):737–42. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12198668/
- 188. Nyamathi AM, Christiani A, Windokun F, Jones T, Strehlow A, Shoptaw S. Hepatitis C virus infection, substance use and mental illness among homeless youth: A review. AIDS Lond Engl [Internet]. 2005;19 Suppl 3:S34-40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16251826/
- 189. Werb D, Kerr T, Lai C, Montaner J, Wood E. Nonfatal overdose among a cohort of streetinvolved youth. J Adolesc Health Off Publ Soc Adolesc Med [Internet]. 2008;42(3):303–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18295139/
- 190. Roy E, Haley N, Leclerc P, Lemire N, Boivin JF, Frappier JY, et al. Prevalence of HIV infection and risk behaviours among Montreal street youth. Int J STD AIDS [Internet]. 2000;11(4):241–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10772087/
- Cedarbaum ER, Banta-Green CJ. Health behaviors of young adult heroin injectors in the Seattle area. Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet]. 2016;158(ebs, 7513587):102–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26651427/
- 192. Frank D, Mateu-Gelabert P, Guarino H, Bennett A, Wendel T, Jessell L, et al. High risk and little knowledge: overdose experiences and knowledge among young adult nonmedical

prescription opioid users. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2015;26(1):84–91. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4277710/

- 193. Mateu-Gelabert P, Guarino H, Jessell L, Teper A. Injection and sexual HIV/HCV risk behaviors associated with nonmedical use of prescription opioids among young adults in New York City. J Subst Abuse Treat [Internet]. 2015;48(1):13–20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25124258/
- 194. Kral AH, Lorvick J, Edlin BR. Sex- and drug-related risk among populations of younger and older injection drug users in adjacent neighborhoods in San Francisco. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999 [Internet]. 2000;24(2):162–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10935692/
- 195. Krug A, Hildebrand M, Sun N. "We don't need services. We have no problems": exploring the experiences of young people who inject drugs in accessing harm reduction services. J Int AIDS Soc [Internet]. 2015;18(2 Suppl 1):19442. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4344543/
- 196. Cheng T, Kerr T, Small W, Dong H, Montaner J, Wood E, et al. High prevalence of assisted injection among street-involved youth in a Canadian setting. AIDS Behav [Internet].
 2016;20(2):377–84. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10461-015-1101-3
- 197. Broz D, Zibbell J, Foote C, Roseberry JC, Patel MR, Conrad C, et al. Multiple injections per injection episode: High-risk injection practice among people who injected pills during the 2015 HIV outbreak in Indiana. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2018;52:97–101. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29278838/
- 198. Fennema JS, Van Ameijden EJ, Van Den Hoek A, Coutinho RA. Young and recent-onset injecting drug users are at higher risk for HIV. Addict Abingdon Engl [Internet]. 1997;92(11):1457–65. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9519489/
- 199. Holtzman D, Barry V, Ouellet LJ, Des Jarlais DC, Vlahov D, Golub ET, et al. The influence of needle exchange programs on injection risk behaviors and infection with hepatitis C virus among young injection drug users in select cities in the United States, 1994-2004. Prev Med [Internet]. 2009;49(1):68–73. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19410600/
- 200. Hudson AL, Nyamathi A, Greengold B, Slagle A, Koniak-Griffin D, Khalilifard F, et al. Healthseeking challenges among homeless youth. Nurs Res [Internet]. 2010;59(3):212–8. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2949422/

- 201. Slesnick N, Glassman M, Garren R, Toviessi P, Bantchevska D, Dashora P. How to open and sustain a drop-in center for homeless youth. Child Youth Serv Rev [Internet]. 2008;30(7):727–34. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2440711/
- 202. Krüsi A, Fast D, Small W, Wood E, Kerr T. Social and structural barriers to housing among street-involved youth who use illicit drugs. Health Soc Care Community [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): BC Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS; 2010. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2009.00901.x
- 203. Barker B, Kerr T, Alfred GT, Fortin M, Nguyen P, Wood E, et al. High prevalence of exposure to the child welfare system among street-involved youth in a Canadian setting: implications for policy and practice. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2014;14(1):194. Available from: https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2458-14-197
- 204. Omura JD, Wood E, Nguyen P, Kerr T, DeBeck K. Incarceration among street-involved youth in a Canadian study: Implications for health and policy interventions. Int J Drug Policy [Internet].
 2014;25(2):291–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24405564/
- 205. Feldmann J, Middleman AB. Homeless adolescents: Common clinical concerns. Semin Pediatr Infect Dis [Internet]. 2003;14(1):6–11. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1045187003700041
- 206. Haley N, Roy É. Canadian street youth: Who are they? What are their needs? Paediatr Child Health [Internet]. 1999;4(6):381–3. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2827735/
- 207. Reid P, Klee H. Young homeless people and service provision. Health Soc Care Community [Internet]. 1999;7(1):17–24. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/11786612_Young_homeless_people_and_service _provision
- 208. Hadland SE, DeBeck K, Kerr T, Nguyen P, Simo A, Montaner JS, et al. Use of a medically supervised injection facility among street youth. J Adolesc Health [Internet]. 2014;55(5):684–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24925493/
- 209. Kimmel SD, Gaeta JM, Hadland SE, Hallett E, Marshall BDL. Principles of harm reduction for young people who use drugs. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2021;147(Suppl 2):S240–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33386326/

- 210. Barker B, Kerr T, Nguyen P, Wood E, DeBeck K. Barriers to health and social services for streetinvolved youth in a Canadian setting. J Public Health Policy [Internet]. 2015;36(3):350–63. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25811385/
- 211. Ensign J, Gittelsohn J. Health and access to care: Perspectives of homeless youth in Baltimore City, U.S.A. Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 1998;47(12):2087–99. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10075249/
- 212. Government of Canada. Provincial and territorial child protection legislation and policy 2018
 [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; 2018. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/health-riskssafety/provincial-territorial-child-protection-legislation-policy-2018.html#t1
- 213. Watson TM, Strike C, Kolla G, Penn R, Bayoumi AM. "Drugs don't have age limits": The challenge of setting age restrictions for supervised injection facilities. Drugs Educ Prev Policy [Internet]. 2015;22(4):370–9. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3109/09687637.2015.1034239
- 214. McKenzie HA, Dell CA, Fornssler B. Understanding addictions among Indigenous People through social determinants of health frameworks and strength-based approaches: A review of the research literature from 2013 to 2016. Curr Addict Rep [Internet]. 2016;3(4):378–86. Available from:
 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/308741781_Understanding_Addictions_among_In digenous_People_through_Social_Determinants_of_Health_Frameworks_and_Strength-Based_Approaches_a_Review_of_the_Research_Literature_from_2013_to_2016
- 215. Frohlich KL, Ross N, Richmond C. Health disparities in Canada today: Some evidence and a theoretical framework. Health Policy [Internet]. 2006;79(2–3):132–43. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16519957/
- 216. Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. Honouring the truth, reconciling for the future [Internet]. 2015. Available from: https://ehprnh2mwo3.exactdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Executive_Summary_English_Web.pdf
- 217. Firestone M, Tyndall M, Fischer B. Substance use and related harms among Aboriginal People in Canada: A comprehensive review. J Health Care Poor Underserved [Internet].
 2015;26(4):1110–31. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26548667/
- 218. First Nations Health Authority, Province of British Columbia, Government of Canada. A path forward: BC's First Nations and Aboriginal People's mental wellness and substance use 10

year plan [Internet]. British Columbia (CA): First Nations Health Authority; 2013. Available from: https://www.fnha.ca/Documents/FNHA_MWSU.pdf

- 219. Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. Harm reduction services for Indigenous people who use drugs [Internet]. 2017. Available from: http://www.aidslaw.ca/site/download/15728/
- 220. Interagency Coalition on AIDS and Development. Indigenous harm reduction = Reducing the harms of colonization [Internet]. 2019. Available from: http://www.icad-cisd.com/pdf/Publications/Indigenous-Harm-Reduction-Policy-Brief.pdf
- 221. Lavallee LF, Poole JM. Beyond recovery: Colonization, health and healing for Indigenous People in Canada. Int J Ment Health Addict [Internet]. 2010;8(2):271–81. Available from: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1190&context=aprci
- 222. First Nations Health Authority. Fact Sheet: Indigenous Harm Reduction Principles and Practices [Internet]. West Vancouver (BC): First Nations Health Authority; No date. Available from: https://www.fnha.ca/WellnessSite/WellnessDocuments/FNHA-Indigenous-Harm-Reduction-Principles-and-Practices-Fact-Sheet.pdf
- 223. DeVerteuil G, Wilson K. Reconciling Indigenous need with the urban welfare state? Evidence of culturally-appropriate services and spaces for Aboriginals in Winnipeg, Canada [Internet]. Geoforum. 2010;41(3):498–507. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0016718510000060
- 224. Allen L, Hatala A, Ijaz S, Courchene ED, Bushie EB. Indigenous-led health care partnerships in Canada. Can Med Assoc J [Internet]. 2020;192(9):E208–16. Available from: https://www.cmaj.ca/content/192/9/E208
- 225. Speed KA, Gehring ND, Launier K, O'Brien D, Campbell S, Hyshka E. To what extent do supervised drug consumption services incorporate non-injection routes of administration? A systematic scoping review documenting existing facilities. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2020 Dec;17(1):72. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-020-00414-y
- 226. Lieberman, C. Toronto hospital becomes first in Ontario to provide supervised consumption services [Internet]. Global News; 2022. Available from: https://globalnews.ca/news/8738023/toronto-hospital-first-provide-supervisedconsumption-services/

- 227. Alberta Health. Opioid-related deaths in Alberta in 2017: review of medical examiner data [Internet]. Edmonton (AB): Alberta Health; 2019. Available from: https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/f9912915-bd4f-4b57-93bf-2a963cb99038/resource/a2857fb6-6663-491c-b9df-686e348bb456/download/070519-mechart-review-final.pdf
- 228. Gomes T, Murray R, Kolla G, Leece P, Bansal S, Besharah J et al. Changing circumstances surrounding opioid-related deaths in Ontario during the COVID-19 pandemic [Internet]. Ontario (CA): Public Health Ontario; 2022. Available from: https://odprn.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2021/05/Changing-Circumstances-Surrounding-Opioid-Related-Deaths.pdf
- 229. Kerr T, Fairbairn N, Hayashi K, Suwannawong P, Kaplan K, Zhang R, et al. Difficulty accessing syringes and syringe borrowing among injection drug users in Bangkok, Thailand. Drug Alcohol Rev [Internet]. 2010;29(2):157–61. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20447223/
- 230. Fischer B, Powis J, Cruz MF, Rudzinski K, Rehm J. Hepatitis C virus transmission among oral crack users: viral detection on crack paraphernalia. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet].
 2008;20(1):29–32. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/5757901_Hepatic_C_Virus_Transmission_among_Oral_Crack_Users_Viral_Detection_on_Crack_Paraphernalia
- 231. Tortu S, McMahon JM, Pouget ER, Hamid R. Sharing of noninjection drug-use implements as a risk factor for Hepatitis C. Subst Use Misuse [Internet]. 2004;39(2):211–24. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15061559
- 232. DeBeck K, Kerr T, Li K, Fischer B, Buxton J, Montaner J, et al. Smoking of crack cocaine as a risk factor for HIV infection among people who use injection drugs. Can Med Assoc J [Internet].
 2009;181(9):585–9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2764753/
- 233. Handlovsky IE, Bungay V, Johnson J, Phillips JC. The process of safer crack use among women in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside. Qual Health Res [Internet]. 2013;23(4):450–62. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23258112/
- 234. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. The report of the independent working group on drug consumption rooms. [Internet]. York (UK): Joseph Rowntree Foundation; 2006. Available from: http://www.jrf.org.uk/bookshop/eBooks/9781859354711.pdf

- 235. Millar S. Glasgow City integration joint board: Safer drug consumption facility and heroin assisted treatment [Internet]. Glasgow (UK): Glasgow City HSCP; 2018. p. 5. Report No.: 14. Available from: https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=38604&p=0
- 236. Reynolds A, Leonard L, Germain A. What women and men who smoke crack have to say about HIV and Hepatitis C prevention: Implications for policy and program development [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): HIV & Hepatitis C Prevention Research Team; 2011. Available from: https://pqwchc.org/wp-content/uploads/What-Women-and-Men-who-Smoke-Crack-Haveto-Say-about-HIV-and-HCV-Prevention.pdf
- 237. Gehring ND, Speed KA, Launier K, O'Brien D, Campbell S, Hyshka E. The state of science on including inhalation within supervised consumption services: A scoping review of academic and grey literature. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2022;102:103589. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35101668/
- 238. McNeil R, Kerr T, Lampkin H, Small W. "We need somewhere to smoke crack": An ethnographic study of an unsanctioned safer smoking room in Vancouver, Canada. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2015;26(7):645–52. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25683138/
- 239. Jozaghi E, Lampkin H, Andresen MA. Peer-engagement and its role in reducing the risky behavior among crack and methamphetamine smokers of the Downtown Eastside community of Vancouver, Canada. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2016;13(1):19. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-016-0108-z
- Stöver H, Schäffer D. SMOKE IT! Promoting a change of opiate consumption pattern from injecting to inhaling. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2014;11(1):18. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1477-7517-11-18
- 241. Voon P, Ti L, Dong H, Milloy MJ, Wood E, Kerr T, et al. Risky and rushed public crack cocaine smoking: the potential for supervised inhalation facilities. BMC Public Health [Internet].
 2016;16(1). Available from: https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-016-3137-3
- 242. Cortina S, Kennedy MC, Dong H, Fairbairn N, Hayashi K, Milloy MJ, et al. Willingness to use an in-hospital supervised inhalation room among people who smoke crack cocaine in Vancouver, Canada: Willingness to use an in-hospital SIR. Drug Alcohol Rev [Internet]. 2018;37(5):645–52. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6094948/

- Patterson T, Bharmal A, Padhi S, Buchner C, Gibson E, Lee V. Opening Canada's first Health Canada-approved supervised consumption sites. Can J Public Health [Internet]. 2018 Aug;109(4):581–4. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30039262/
- 244. Government of Alberta. 2018 municipal affairs population list [Internet]. Edmonton (AB):
 Government of Alberta; 2018. Available from: http://www.municipalaffairs.gov.ab.ca/documents/2018_MAPL_web.pdf
- 245. ARCHES Lethbridge. Contact [Internet]. ARCHES Lethbridge. Available from: https://lethbridgearches.com/contact/
- 246. ARCHES Lethbridge. Get help: Supervised consumption services [Internet]. Lethbridge (AB): ARCHES Lethbridge; 2022. Available from: https://lethbridgearches.com/get-help-scs/
- 247. Alberta Health. Alberta opioid response surveillance report, Q1 2020 [Internet]. Edmonton (AB): Government of Alberta; 2020. Available from: https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/f4b74c38-88cb-41ed-aa6f-32db93c7c391/resource/45e03e51-0fa8-49f8-97aa-06b527f7f42c/download/health-albertaopioid-response-surveillance-report-2020-q1.pdf
- 248. Labby B. Lethbridge braces for closure of Canada's busiest supervised consumption site [Internet]. Calgary (AB): CBC News; 2020. Available from: https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/calgary/lethbridge-arches-supervised-consumption-siteclosure-1.4434070
- 249. Graveland B. No charges laid following financial investigation into Lethbridge supervised consumption site [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://globalnews.ca/news/7537637/lethbridge-supervised-consumption-site-investigationdec-2020/
- 250. Lem M, Maynard R, McEwen S, Leyland H. Inhalation room prototype design [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): British Columbia Community Action Initiative; 2019. Available from: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/60a1571731caf1612c315fdc/t/61804faec1dc746d9a7 10199/1635798970799/Inhalation+Room-November2021.pdf
- 251. ACToronto. Booty bumping [Internet]. Toronto (ON): ACT; 2021. Available from: https://www.actoronto.org/bootybumps

- 252. MAX Ottawa. Do the bump. The booty bump that is... [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): MAX; 2021. Available from: https://maxottawa.ca/do-the-bump-the-booty-bump-that-is/
- 253. Pijl EM, Oosterbroek T, Motz T, Mason E, Hamilton K, Bourque S, et al. Peer-assisted injection as a harm reduction measure in a supervised consumption service: A qualitative study of client experiences. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2021;18(5). Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-020-00455-3#citeas
- 254. Glauser W. The case for assisted drug injection [Internet]. The Walrus. 2018. Available from: https://thewalrus.ca/the-case-for-assisted-drug-injection/
- 255. Fairbairn N, Small W, Van Borek N, Wood E, Kerr T. Social structural factors that shape assisted injecting practices among injection drug users in Vancouver, Canada: A qualitative study. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2010;7(1):20. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1477-7517-7-20
- 256. Wright NMJ, Tompkins CNE, Sheard L. Is peer injecting a form of intimate partner abuse? A qualitative study of the experiences of women drug users: Peer injecting and intimate partner abuse. Health Soc Care Community [Internet]. 2007;15(5):417–25. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17685987/
- 257. Small W, Shoveller J, Moore D, Tyndall M, Wood E, Kerr T. Injection drug users' access to a supervised injection facility in Vancouver, Canada: The influence of operating policies and local drug culture. Qual Health Res [Internet]. 2011;21(6):743–56. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21378259/
- 258. Glauser W. New hope for unsanctioned safe injection site. Can Med Assoc J. 2018;190(3):E90–
 1. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5780274/
- 259. Kennedy MC, Milloy M. J, Hayashi K, Holliday E, Wood E, Kerr T. Assisted injection within supervised injection services: Uptake and client characteristics among people who require help injecting in a Canadian setting. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2020;86:102967. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33039705/
- 260. Pearshouse R, Elliott R. A helping hand: Legal issues related to assisted injection at supervised injection facilities [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network; 2007. Available from: http://www.aidslaw.ca/site/a-helping-hand-legal-issues-related-to-assisted-injection-at-supervised-injection-facilities-3/?lang=en

- 261. Bonn M, Pinch S, Swann S. Further loosen restrictions around the splitting and sharing of drugs [Internet]. Montreal (QC): Policy Options; 2022. Available from: https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/april-2022/plitting-sharing-drugs/
- 262. Wallace B, Pagan F, Pauly B (Bernie). The implementation of overdose prevention sites as a novel and nimble response during an illegal drug overdose public health emergency. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2019;66:64–72. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30708237/
- 263. Kimber JO, Dolan K, Wodak A. International survey of supervised injecting centres (1999-2000) [Internet]. South Wales (AU): University of New South Wales NDARC; 2001. Available from: https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/resource/international-survey-supervised-injecting-centres-1999-2000
- 264. Touesnard N, Kolla G. How splitting and sharing got the OK at Canada's Overdose Prevention and Supervised Consumption Sites [Internet]. New York City (NY): FilerMag; 2021. Available from: https://filtermag.org/splitting-and-sharing-canada-scs/
- 265. Ranger C. Splitting & sharing in overdose prevention and supervised consumption sites: Survey results (Version 2). Westside Harm Reduction; 2021. Available from: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5ef3cdaf47af2060a1cc594e/t/609da162138f5016e52 ea899/1620943205717/Splitting+%26+Sharing+Final+Report+V4.0.pdf
- 266. Ranger C, Touesnard N, Bonn M, Brière-Charest K, Wertheimer S, Kolla G, et al. Splitting & sharing in OPS/SCS protocol template [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): Vancouver Coastal Health; 2021; Available from: https://zenodo.org/record/5111885
- 267. Vancouver Coastal Health. Chief medical health officer report: Responding to the opioid overdose crisis in Vancouver Coastal Health [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): Vancouver Coastal Health; 2018. Available from: http://www.vch.ca/Documents/CMHO-report.pdf
- 268. Karamouzian M, Dohoo C, Forsting S, McNeil R, Kerr T, Lysyshyn M. Evaluation of a fentanyl drug checking service for clients of a supervised injection facility, Vancouver, Canada. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2018;15(1):1–8. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-018-0252-8
- 269. Bardwell G, Boyd J, Tupper KW, Kerr T. "We don't got that kind of time, man. We're trying to get high!": Exploring potential use of drug checking technologies among structurally

vulnerable people who use drugs. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2019;71:125–32. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31336258/

- 270. Peiper NC, Clarke SD, Vincent LB, Ciccarone D, Kral AH, Zibbell JE. Fentanyl test strips as an opioid overdose prevention strategy: Findings from a syringe services program in the Southeastern United States. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2019;63:122–8. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0955395918302135
- 271. Laing MK, Tupper KW, Fairbairn N. Drug checking as a potential strategic overdose response in the fentanyl era. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2018;62:59–66. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30359874/
- 272. Wallace B, van Roode T, Pagan F, Phillips P, Wagner H, Calder S, et al. What is needed for implementing drug checking services in the context of the overdose crisis? A qualitative study to explore perspectives of potential service users. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2020;17(1):29. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-020-00373-4
- 273. Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse (CRISM). National guideline for the clinical management of opioid use disorder [Internet]. 2018. Available from: https://crism.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/CRISM_NationalGuideline_OUD-ENG.pdf
- 274. Bruneau J, Ahamad K, Goyer MÈ, Poulin G, Selby P, Fischer B, et al. Management of opioid use disorders: a national clinical practice guideline. Can Med Assoc J [Internet].
 2018;190(9):E247–57. Available from: https://www.cmaj.ca/content/190/9/E247
- 275. Nielsen S, Larance B, Degenhardt L, Gowing L, Kehler C, Lintzeris N. Opioid agonist treatment for pharmaceutical opioid dependent people. Cochrane Drugs and Alcohol Group, editor. Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2016; Available from: https://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/14651858.CD011117.pub2
- 276. Nielsen S, Larance B, Lintzeris N. Opioid agonist treatment for patients with dependence on prescription opioids. JAMA [Internet]. 2017;317(9):967. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2608202
- 277. Buresh M, Nahvi S, Steiger S, Weinstein ZM. Adapting methadone inductions to the fentanyl era. J Subst Abuse Treat [Internet]. 2022;141:108832. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0740547222001143

- 278. Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse. National injectable opioid agonist treatment for opioid use disorder clinical guideline [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://crism.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/CRISM_National_IOAT_Clinical_Guideline-10Sep2019-English-FINAL.pdf
- 279. Oviedo-Joekes E, Brissette S, Marsh DC, Lauzon P, Guh D, Anis A, et al. Diacetylmorphine versus methadone for the treatment of opioid addiction. N Engl J Med [Internet].
 2009;361(8):777–86. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/nejmoa0810635
- 280. Oviedo-Joekes E, Guh D, Brissette S, Marchand K, MacDonald S, Lock K, et al. Hydromorphone compared with diacetylmorphine for long-term opioid dependence: A randomized clinical trial. JAMA Psychiatry [Internet]. 2016;73(5):447–55. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27049826/
- 281. Strang J, Metrebian N, Lintzeris N, Potts L, Carnwath T, Mayet S, et al. Supervised injectable heroin or injectable methadone versus optimised oral methadone as treatment for chronic heroin addicts in England after persistent failure in orthodox treatment (RIOTT): a randomised trial. The Lancet [Internet]. 2010;375(9729):1885–95. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(10)60349-2/fulltext
- 282. Young S, Fairbairn N. Expanding supervised injection facilities across Canada: lessons from the Vancouver experience. Can J Public Health [Internet]. 2018;109(2):227–30. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29981039/
- 283. Scheim A, Werb D. Integrating supervised consumption into a continuum of care for people who use drugs. CMAJ [Internet]. 2018;190(31):E921–2. Available from: https://www.cmaj.ca/content/190/31/E921
- 284. Penn R, Bareham J, Barnes M, Emerson B, Hackel C, Hopkins C, et al. Toolkit for substance use and addictions program applicants. Stream 2 - Increasing access to pharmaceutical-grade medications [Internet]. Report prepared for Health Canada; 2019. Available from: https://www.dropbox.com/sh/x622qndzvmydsvm/AABi888G_Ase6T0-N1Pd3uboa?dl=0&preview=SUAP+Safer+Supply+Tool+Kit+2019.pdf
- 285. Baltzer Turje R, Morgan N, Hassan D, McDougall P, Sagmoen O, Bonneau M, et al. Lessons learned from implementing injectable opioid agonist treatment in an innovative community based model [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://www.cahr-acrv.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2020/04/SS1.05-Lessons-Learned-from-Implementing-Injectable-Opioid-Agonist-Treatment-in-an-Innovative-Community-Based-Model.pdf

- 286. Omstead J. Alberta government to end funding for intensive opioid therapy program [Internet]. Edmonton (AB): CBC News; 2020. Available from: https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/injectable-opioid-treatment-alberta-1.5490566
- 287. Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta. TAM v Alberta, 2021 ABQB 156 [Internet]. Available from: https://albertacourts.ca/docs/default-source/qb/judgments/tam-v-alberta-2021-abqb-156--reasons-for-decision.pdf?sfvrsn=b4cd7e83_4
- 288. Omstead J. Alberta to continue iOAT program for existing clients under \$6M grant. [Internet]. Edmonton (AB): CBC News; 2021. Available from: https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/alberta-to-continue-ioat-program-for-existingclients-under-6m-grant-1.5934368
- 289. Ivsins A, Boyd J, Mayer S, Collins A, Sutherland C, Kerr T, et al. Barriers and facilitators to a novel low-barrier hydromorphone distribution program in Vancouver, Canada: a qualitative study. Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet]. 2020;108202. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7490624/
- 290. Ivsins A, Boyd J, Beletsky L, McNeil R. Tackling the overdose crisis: The role of safe supply. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2020;80:102769. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32446183/
- 291. Ivsins A, Boyd J, Mayer S, Collins A, Sutherland C, Kerr T, et al. "It's helped me a lot, just like to stay alive": A qualitative analysis of outcomes of a novel hydromorphone tablet distribution program in Vancouver, Canada. J Urban Health [Internet]. 2020; 59-69 (2021). Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11524-020-00489-9
- 292. Gomes T, Kitchen SA, Tailor L, Men S, Murray R, Bayoumi AM, et al. Trends in hospitalizations for serious infections among people with opioid use disorder in Ontario, Canada. J Addict Med [Internet]. 2021, 16(4):433-439; Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9365258/
- 293. Csete J, Elliott R. Consumer protection in drug policy: The human rights case for safe supply as an element of harm reduction. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2021;91:102976. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33041183/
- 294. British Columbia Centre on Substance Use. Heroin compassion clubs [Internet]. 2019 Feb. Available from: https://www.bccsu.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Report-Heroin-Compassion-Clubs.pdf

- 295. BC Centre on Substance Use. Risk mitigation in the context of dual public health emergencies [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): BC Centre on Substance Use; 2020. Available from: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/drugs-library/risk-mitigation-context-dual-public-healthemergencies-bccsu_en
- 296. Canadian Association of People who Use Drugs. Safe supply concept document [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://www.capud.ca/capud-resources/safe-supply-projects
- 297. Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse (CRISM). National injectable opioid agonist treatment for opioid use disorder operational guidance [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://crism.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2019/09/CRISM_National_IOAT_Operational_Guideline-17Sept2019-English-FINAL.pdf
- 298. Brar R, Bruneau J, Butt P, Goyer M, Lim R, Poulin G, et al. Medications and other clinical approaches to support physical distancing for people who use substances during the COVID-19 pandemic: National Rapid Guidance Version 1 Guidance Document [Internet]. 2020; p. 53. Available from: https://crism.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/CRISM-Guidance-Medicationsand-other-clinical-approaches-22062020-final.pdf
- 299. Hales J, Kolla G, Man T, O'Reilly E, Rai N, Sereda A. Safer opioid supply programs (SOS): A harm reduction informed guiding document for primary care teams [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://bit.ly/3dR3b8m
- 300. Young S, Kolla G, McCormack D, Campbell T, Leece P, Strike C, et al. Characterizing safer supply prescribing of immediate release hydromorphone for individuals with opioid use disorder across Ontario, Canada. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2022;102:103601. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0955395922000214
- 301. Olding M, Ivsins A, Mayer S, Betsos A, Boyd J, Sutherland C, et al. A low-barrier and comprehensive community-based harm-reduction site in Vancouver, Canada. Am J Public Health [Internet]. 2020 Apr 16;110(6):833–5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32298171/
- 302. Fischer B, O'Keefe-Markman C, Lee A, Daldegan-Bueno D. 'Resurgent', 'twin' or 'silent' epidemic? A select data overview and observations on increasing psycho-stimulant use and harms in North America. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy [Internet]. 2021;16(1):17. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33588896/

- 303. Ronsley C, Nolan S, Knight R, Hayashi K, Klimas J, Walley A, et al. Treatment of stimulant use disorder: A systematic review of reviews. Hashimoto K, editor. PLOS ONE [Internet].
 2020;15(6):e0234809. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7302911/
- 304. Castells X, Cunill R, Pérez-Mañá C, Vidal X, Capellà D. Psychostimulant drugs for cocaine dependence. Cochrane Drugs and Alcohol Group, editor. Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2016. Available from: https://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/14651858.CD007380.pub4
- 305. Fleming T, Barker A, Ivsins A, Vakharia S, McNeil R. Stimulant safe supply: a potential opportunity to respond to the overdose epidemic. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2020;17(1):6. Available from: https://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-019-0351-1
- 306. Palis H, Harrison S, MacDonald S, Marsh DC, Schechter MT, Oviedo-Joekes E. Self-managing illicit stimulant use: A qualitative study with patients receiving injectable opioid agonist treatment. Drug Alcohol Rev [Internet]. 2020. Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/dar.13117
- 307. British Columbia Coroners Service. Illicit drug toxicity deaths in BC knowledge update: Mode of consumption [Internet]. BC (CA): British Columbia Coroners Service; 2020. Available from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/birth-adoption-death-marriage-and-divorce/deaths/coroners-service/statistical/mode-of-consumption.pdf
- 308. Darke S, Ross J, Kaye S. Physical injecting sites among injecting drug users in Sydney, Australia.
 Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet]. 2001;62(1):77–82. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0376871600001617
- 309. Miller PG, Lintzeris N, Forzisi L. Is groin injecting an ethical boundary for harm reduction? Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2008;19(6):486–91. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18024001/
- Rhodes T, Stoneman A, Hope V, Hunt N, Martin A, Judd A. Groin injecting in the context of crack cocaine and homelessness: From 'risk boundary' to 'acceptable risk'? Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2006;17(3):164–70. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S095539590600082X
- Butler G, Chapman D, Terry P. Attitudes of intravenous drug users in London towards the provision of drug consumption rooms. Drugs Educ Prev Policy [Internet]. 2018;25(1):31–7. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09687637.2016.1252316

- Xavier J, Rudzinski K, Guta A, Carusone SC, Strike C. Rules and eligibility criteria for supervised consumption services feasibility studies A scoping review. Int J Drug Policy [Internet].
 2021;88:103040. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33220597/
- 313. Health Canada. Apply to run a supervised consumption site: What you need before you start [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; 2019. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/supervised-consumptionsites/apply/before-you-start.html
- 314. Migliardi P. Safer washroom evaluation: Healthy sexuality & harm reduction, WRHA [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://professionals.wrha.mb.ca/old/extranet/publichealth/files/HSHRSaferWashroomEvalu ation_2019.pdf
- 315. Vancouver Coastal Health. Overdose prevention & response in washrooms: Recommendations for service providers [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): Vancouver Coastal Health; 2019. Available from: http://www.vch.ca/Documents/Washroom-Checklist-Service-Settings.pdf
- Fozouni L, Buchheit B, Walley A, Testa M, Chatterjee, A. Public restrooms and the opioid epidemic [Internet]. 2019;41(2020):432-436. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/epub/10.1080/08897077.2019.1640834?needAccess=true
- 317. Buchheit BM, Crable EL, Lipson SK, Drainoni ML, Walley AY. "Opening the door to somebody who has a chance." The experiences and perceptions of public safety personnel towards a public restroom overdose prevention alarm system. Int J Drug Pol [Internet].
 2021;88(2021):103038. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0955395920303765
- 318. University of Victoria. The safer bathroom toolkit [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://www.uvic.ca/research/centres/cisur/projects/active/projects/safer-bathrooms.php
- 319. Kerr T, Wood E, Palepu A, Wilson D, Schechter MT, Tyndall MW. Responding to an explosive HIV epidemic driven by frequent cocaine injection: Is there a role for safe injecting facilities? J Drug Issues [Internet]. 2003;33(3):579–608. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/002204260303300303?journalCode=joda
- 320. DeBeck K, Kerr T, Lai C, Buxton J, Montaner J, Wood E. The validity of reporting willingness to use a supervised injecting facility on subsequent program use among people who use

injection drugs. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse [Internet]. 2012;38(1):55–62. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3730831/

- 321. Lange BCL, Bach-Mortensen AM. A systematic review of stakeholder perceptions of supervised injection facilities. Drug Alcohol Depend [Internet]. 2019;197:299–314. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30875651/
- 322. Federal Court of Canada. Chinatown Area Business Association vs. Access to Medically Supervised Injection Services Edmonton [Internet]. 2019. Report No.: 2019;FC 236. Available from: https://d3n8a8pro7vhmx.cloudfront.net/pivotlegal/pages/3318/attachments/original/15429 42860/Final Memorandum of Argument CDPC 2 Oct 2018.pdf?1542942860
- 323. Dr. Peter AIDS Foundation. SCS/OPS service providers teleconference guidebook of key Themes / Guide des thèmes clés issus des téléconférences des fournisseurs de services des SCS/SPS [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://www.drpeter.org/media/Key%20Themes%20SCS-OPS%20Service%20Providers%20Teleconference%20EN-Fr%20-%20August%202019.pdf
- 324. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Guidance on the use of standards for race-based and Indigenous identity data collection and health reporting in Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Institute for Health Information; 2022. Available from: https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/guidance-and-standards-for-race-basedand-indigenous-identity-data-en.pdf
- 325. French J. Alberta court says supervised consumption sites can ask for health ID numbers. [Internet]. Edmonton (AB): CBC News; 2022. Available from: https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/alberta-court-says-supervised-consumptionsites-can-ask-for-health-id-numbers-1.6311502
- 326. Wagner KD, Harding RW, Kelley R, Labus B, Verdugo SR, Copulsky E, et al. Post-overdose interventions triggered by calling 911: Centering the perspectives of people who use drugs (PWUDs). Brown TG, editor. PLOS ONE [Internet]. 2019;14(10):e0223823. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31622401/
- 327. Karamouzian M, Kuo M, Crabtree A, Buxton JA. Correlates of seeking emergency medical help in the event of an overdose in British Columbia, Canada: Findings from the Take Home Naloxone program. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2019;71:157–63. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0955395919300143

- 328. Wood E, Kerr T, Lloyd-Smith E, Buchner C, Marsh DC, Montaner JS, et al. Methodology for evaluating Insite: Canada's first medically supervised safer injection facility for injection drug users. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2004;1:9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC535533/
- 329. Urbanik MM, Greene C. Operational and contextual barriers to accessing supervised consumption services in two Canadian cities. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2021;88:102991. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33166847/
- 330. Kosteniuk B, Salvalaggio G, McNeil R, Brooks HL, Dong K, Twan S, et al. "You don't have to squirrel away in a staircase": Patient motivations for attending a novel supervised drug consumption service in acute care. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2021;103275. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0955395921001791
- 331. Collins AB, Boyd J, Mayer S, Fowler A, Kennedy MC, Bluthenthal RN, et al. Policing space in the overdose crisis: A rapid ethnographic study of the impact of law enforcement practices on the effectiveness of overdose prevention sites. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2019; Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0955395919302361
- 332. Watson TM, Barnaby L, Bayoumi AM, Challacombe L, Wright A, Strike C. 'This is a health service. Leave it alone': Service user and staff views on policing boundaries involving supervised consumption services. Addict Res Theory [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/16066359.2020.1730821
- 333. Junker A. Requirement for supervised consumption sites to ask for personal health numbers delayed. Edmonton Journal [Internet]. 2022; Available from: https://edmontonjournal.com/news/local-news/requirement-for-supervised-consumptionsites-to-ask-for-personal-health-numbers-delayed
- 334. Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta. Moms Stop the Harm Society v Alberta, 2022 ABQB 24 [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://www.albertacourts.ca/docs/defaultsource/qb/judgments/moms-stop-the-harm-society-v-alberta-2022-abqb-24---reasons-fordecision.pdf?sfvrsn=45d03d83_5
- 335. Kaufmann B. Court rejects bid to halt province's demand for health numbers at supervised consumption sites. Calgary Herald [Internet]. 2022; Available from: https://calgaryherald.com/news/local-news/court-rejects-bid-to-halt-provinces-demand-forhealth-numbers-at-supervised-consumption-sites

- 336. Canadian Evaluation Society. Canadian Evaluation Society [Internet]. Renfrew (ON); 2014. Available from: https://evaluationcanada.ca/
- 337. Belackova V, Salmon AM, Day CA, Ritter A, Shanahan M, Hedrich D, et al. Drug consumption rooms: A systematic review of evaluation methodologies. Drug Alcohol Rev [Internet].
 2019;38(4):406-422. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30938025/
- 338. Ontario HIV Treatment Network. A review of structural, process, and outcome measures for supervised consumption services [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://www.ohtn.on.ca/rapid-response-a-review-of-structural-process-and-outcomemeasures-for-supervised-consumption-services/
- 339. Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. "Nothing about us without us" Greater, meaningful involvement of people who use illegal drugs: A public health, ethical, and human rights imperative [Internet]. 2006. Available from: http://www.aidslaw.ca/site/wpcontent/uploads/2013/04/Greater+Involvement+-+Bklt+-+Drug+Policy+-+ENG.pdf
- 340. Health Canada. Questions and answers Provincial/Territorial class exemptions: For supervised consumption site operators [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. 2020. Available from: https://www.drugpolicy.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Qs-and-As-Class-Exemption-April-20-2020-SCS-FINAL.pdf
- 341. Health Canada. Subsection 56(1) class exemption in relation to urgent public health need sites in the provinces and territories [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada. 2022. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/healthconcerns/controlled-substances-precursor-chemicals/policy-regulations/policydocuments/subsection-56-1-class-exemption-urgent-public-health-needs-sites-provincesterritories.html
- 342. UPHNS Community of Practice Hub. Home [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://uphnshub.ca/
- 343. Wallace B, Pagan F, Pauly B (Bernie). The implementation of overdose prevention sites as a novel and nimble response during an illegal drug overdose public health emergency. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2019;66:64–72. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30708237/
- 344. Pauly B, Wallace B, Pagan F, Phillips J, Wilson M, Hobbs H, et al. Impact of overdose prevention sites during a public health emergency in Victoria, Canada. PLOS ONE [Internet].

2020;15(5):e0229208. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0229208

- 345. Foreman-Mackey A, Bayoumi AM, Miskovic M, Kolla G, Strike C. 'It's our safe sanctuary': Experiences of using an unsanctioned overdose prevention site in Toronto, Ontario. Int J Drug Policy [Internet]. 2019;73:135–40. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0955395919302622
- 346. Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. Overdue for a change: Scaling up supervised consumption services in Canada [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network; 2018. Available from: https://www.hivlegalnetwork.ca/site/overdue-for-a-change-scaling-upsupervised-consumption-services-in-canada/?lang=en
- 347. Irvine MA, Kuo M, Buxton JA, Balshaw R, Otterstatter M, Macdougall L, et al. Modelling the combined impact of interventions in averting deaths during a syntheticopioid overdose epidemic. Addiction [Internet]. 2019;114(9):1602–13. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31166621/
- 348. Pivot Legal Society. SCS and OPS Map [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): PIVOT; 2019. Available from: http://www.pivotlegal.org/scs_ops_map
- 349. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. Supervised consumption sites Injection drug use: A bibliography [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction; 2017. Available from: https://www.ccsa.ca/supervised-consumption-sites-injection-drug-use-bibliography
- 350. Canadian Nurses Association. Harm reduction and illicit substance use implications for nursing [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Nurses Association; 2017. Available from: https://ohrn.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Harm-Reduction-and-Illicit-Substance-Use-Implications-for-Nursing.pdf
- 351. Dr. Peter AIDS Foundation. Community of practice programs [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): Dr. Peter Centre; 2021. Available from: https://www.drpeter.org/community-of-practice-programs/
- 352. Gagnon M, Gauthier T, Adán E, Bänninger A, Cormier L, Gregg JK, et al. International consensus statement on the role of nurses in supervised consumption sites. J Ment Health Addict Nurs [Internet]. 2019;3(1):e22–31. Available from: https://jmhan.org/index.php/JMHAN/article/view/35

- 353. Giacomazzo A, McDougall P, Hopkins S, Barnaby L, Mercredi J, Kazatchkine C. Lessons learned from supervised consumption and overdose prevention sites in Canada [Internet]. Webinar presented at Dr. Peter Centre, Vancouver (BC); 2019. Available from: https://www.catie.ca/sites/default/files/catie-drpeter-ops-scs-11062019.pdf
- 354. Hedrich D. European report on drug consumption rooms [Internet]. Lisbon (PT): EMCDDA;
 2004;96. Available from: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/technicalreports/european-report-drug-consumption-rooms-2004_en
- 355. Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. Gendering the scene: Women, gender-diverse people, and harm reduction in Canada – Summary report — HIV Legal Network [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. 2020. Available from: http://www.hivlegalnetwork.ca/site/gendering-the-scene-women-gender-diverse-peopleand-harm-reduction-in-canada-summary-report/?lang=en
- 356. Rudzinski K., Ceranto A., Strike C., Azmila A., Baltzer Turje R., Cardow A., Guta A., Hodge L., Hyshka E., Ibáñez-Carrasco F., Kucharski E., McDougall P., McKnight I., Medina, C., Morley L., Murcia Monroy D., O'Leary W., Sipione J., Valentine D., Vose, K., and Chan Carusone S. Twelve characteristics of client-centred supervised consumption services (SCS): A toolkit for service design, delivery and evaluation [Internet]. Toronto (ON): CATIE. 2022. Available from: https://www.catie.ca/resource/twelve-characteristics-of-client-centred-supervisedconsumption-services-scs-a-toolkit
- 357. International Network of Drug Consumption Rooms. Map of locations [Internet]. INDCR; 2021. Available from: https://www.google.com/maps/d/u/0/viewer?mid=17-5DJHbW9HnUQyDYo5XQF7R8dPuyEN2A&hl=en_US&ll=43.828786303249636%2C-72.9533793141012&z=6
- 358. Schaffer D, Stover H, Weichert L. Drug consumption rooms in Europe: Models, best practice and challenges [Internet]. Amsterdam (NL): Regenboog Groep; 2014. Available from: https://idhdp.com/media/399959/drug-consumption-in-europe-final-2014-1.pdf
- 359. Toronto Drug Strategy's Supervised Injection Services Working Group. Supervised injection services toolkit [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Toronto Drug Strategy Implementation Panel; 2013. Available from: https://www.toronto.ca/legdocs/mmis/2013/hl/bgrd/backgroundfile-59914.pdf
- 360. Woods S. Drug consumption rooms in Europe: Organisational overview [Internet]. Amsterdam (NL): European Harm Reduction Network; 2014. Available from: http://www.drugconsumptionroom-international.org/images/pdf/dcr_in_europe.pdf

Operational Guidance for Supervised Consumption Services | 136